

## COMPACT MODELING OF SCHOTTKY BARRIER AND RECONFIGURABLE FIELD-EFFECT TRANSISTORS

### **Christian Römer**

**ADVERTIMENT**. L'accés als continguts d'aquesta tesi doctoral i la seva utilització ha de respectar els drets de la persona autora. Pot ser utilitzada per a consulta o estudi personal, així com en activitats o materials d'investigació i docència en els termes establerts a l'art. 32 del Text Refós de la Llei de Propietat Intel·lectual (RDL 1/1996). Per altres utilitzacions es requereix l'autorització prèvia i expressa de la persona autora. En qualsevol cas, en la utilització dels seus continguts caldrà indicar de forma clara el nom i cognoms de la persona autora i el títol de la tesi doctoral. No s'autoritza la seva reproducció o altres formes d'explotació efectuades amb finalitats de lucre ni la seva comunicació pública des d'un lloc aliè al servei TDX. Tampoc s'autoritza la presentació del seu contingut en una finestra o marc aliè a TDX (framing). Aquesta reserva de drets afecta tant als continguts de la tesi com als seus resums i índexs.

**ADVERTENCIA.** El acceso a los contenidos de esta tesis doctoral y su utilización debe respetar los derechos de la persona autora. Puede ser utilizada para consulta o estudio personal, así como en actividades o materiales de investigación y docencia en los términos establecidos en el art. 32 del Texto Refundido de la Ley de Propiedad Intelectual (RDL 1/1996). Para otros usos se requiere la autorización previa y expresa de la persona autora. En cualquier caso, en la utilización de sus contenidos se deberá indicar de forma clara el nombre y apellidos de la persona autora y el título de la tesis doctoral. No se autoriza su reproducción u otras formas de explotación efectuadas con fines lucrativos ni su comunicación pública desde un sitio ajeno al servicio TDR. Tampoco se autoriza la presentación de su contenido en una ventana o marco ajeno a TDR (framing). Esta reserva de derechos afecta tanto al contenido de la tesis como a sus resúmenes e índices.

**WARNING**. Access to the contents of this doctoral thesis and its use must respect the rights of the author. It can be used for reference or private study, as well as research and learning activities or materials in the terms established by the 32nd article of the Spanish Consolidated Copyright Act (RDL 1/1996). Express and previous authorization of the author is required for any other uses. In any case, when using its content, full name of the author and title of the thesis must be clearly indicated. Reproduction or other forms of for profit use or public communication from outside TDX service is not allowed. Presentation of its content in a window or frame external to TDX (framing) is not authorized either. These rights affect both the content of the thesis and its abstracts and indexes.

UNIVERSITAT ROVIRA I VIRGILI COMPACT





# **Compact Modeling of Schottky Barrier and Reconfigurable Field-Effect Transistors**

CHRISTIAN RÖMER



**DOCTORAL THESIS** 2024

Christian Römer

Compact Modeling of Schottky Barrier and Reconfigurable Field-Effect Transistors

# DOCTORAL THESIS

Supervised by Prof. Dr. Benjamín Iñíguez and Prof. Dr.-Ing. Alexander Kloes

Department of Electronic, Electrical and Automatic Control Engineering



# Universitat Rovira i Virgili

Tarragona 2024

Statement of Supervision



Department of Electronic, Electric and Automatic Engineering (DEEEA) Av. Paisos Catalans 26, Campus Sescelades 43007, Tarragona, Spain Phone: +34 977 558521 Mail: benjamin.iniguez@urv.cat

I STATE that the present study, entitled: "Compact Modeling of Schottky Barrier and Reconfigurable Field-Effect Transistors", presented by Christian Römer for the award of the degree of the Doctor, has been carried out under my supervision at the Department of Electronic, Electrical and Automatic Control Engineering of this university, and that it fulfills all the requirements to be eligible for the European Doctorate Award.

Tarragona, Spain, February 1, 2024

etim-the

Prof. Dr. Benjamín Iñíguez, Doctoral Thesis Supervisor

Alexander Ul

Prof. Dr.-Ing. Alexander Kloes, Doctoral Thesis Supervisor

Statement of Authorship



### Research Group Nanoelectronics / Device Modeling

Wiesenstrasse 14 35390, Giessen, Germany Phone: +49 641 309-1968 Mail: christian.roemer@ei.thm.de

I STATE that this document has been composed by myself and describes my own work, unless otherwise acknowledged in the text. Parts that are direct quotes or paraphrases are identified as such. It has not been accepted in any previous application for a degree. All sources of information have been specifically acknowledged.

Giessen, Germany, February 15, 2024

h -

Christian Römer, M. Sc.

#### Abstract

Schottky barrier field-effect transistors (SBFETs) and other devices based on Schottky barrier formation are a stable but also a niche technology in electronic applications. However, SBFETs and other devices based on this technology are still promising for a wide spectrum of future applications. While in recent research SBFETs have been proven to be a good candidate for deep cryogenic temperature applications, new type of devices like the reconfigurable field-effect transistor (RFET) which use and improve several characteristics of SBFETs are currently under investigation. In this work a physics-based and closed-form compact model is derived which is used to calculate the DC current of SBFETs. The presented compact model comes with different variations and can be used for room temperature and for deep cryogenic temperature environmental applications. The model can be applied to regular SBFETs, as well as to programmed RFETs. In addition, the DC compact model includes several second order effects like channel resistance in RFETs and the band tail effect at deep cryogenic temperatures. The model verification is done on measurements of the devices and on numerical TCAD simulations, performed with TCAD Sentaurus.

### Acknowledgments

The realization of this work as it is presented, could have never happened with the support of many people. I would like to acknowledge the help of all the people who did that support for me during my scientific work.

First and foremost, I would like to thank Prof. Dr.-Ing. Alexander Klös for the support and guidance through my entire time in our Nanoelectronics Device Modeling Research Group, as master's and as PhD student. You really helped me out with your ideas and your motivational support, even during difficult times of lockdown and home office. I appreciate that I could be part of your research group.

I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Benjamín Iñíguez for supporting me throughout my time as PhD student. I appreciate all of our meetings and the exchange of new ideas that qualitatively improved my work.

Additionally, I would like to thank Dr. Ghader Darbandy and Prof. Dr. Mike Schwarz for their professionally valuable help on my topic and for the helpful and fruitful discussions that we had. I especially acknowledge the help of Dr. Ghader Darbandy for taking the time to proofread this work.

I would also like to thank my former colleagues Dr. Atieh Farokhnejad, Dr. Aristeidis Nikolaou, Dr. Fabian Horst, Dr. Jakob Leise, Dr. Jakob Prüfer, and Dr. Kerim Yılmaz, who supported me in our group during my master's studies and the beginning of my work as PhD student.

Furthermore, I would like to thank my colleagues Dr. Elahe RastegarPashaki, Marcia Lins, Nadine Dersch, Malte Koch, and Maximilian Feiling for accompanying me during the later part of my work in our group and for all the fruitful discussions.

#### viii

This work also would have never been possible without my project partners and co-authors, supporting it with technological insights, ideas, device measurements, and their co reviewing work on our publications. I would like to thank our project partners from NaMLab gGmbH and Technische Universität Dresden (TU Dresden), namely Dr. Jens Trommer, Maik Simon, Dr.-Ing. André Heinzig, Prof. Dr.-Ing. Thomas Mikolajick, as well as Technische Universität Wien (TU Vienna), namely Prof. Dr.-Ing. Walter M. Weber, and Peter-Grünberg-Institute (PGI 9), Forschungszentrum Jülich, namely Yi Han and Prof. Dr. Qing-Tai Zhao.

I would also like to thank my family Katja, Norbert and Emily, for always supporting me apart from my scientific work.

The work on this project was funded by Technische Hochschule Mittelhessen (University of Applied Sciences) and the state of Hessen (project "Entwicklung strukturnaher Kompaktmodelle für RFETs zur Evaluierung neuartiger Schaltungskonzepte" Förderung durch den Strategischen Forschungsfonds der THM und LOMZ-Mittel).

# Contents

Lis	st of F	Publicat	ions	xv
Lis	st of S	Symbols		xix
Lis	st of A	Acronym	15	xxvii
1	Intro	duction	I Contraction of the second	1
	1.1	Metal	-Oxide–Semiconductor Field-Effect Transistor Technology	. 1
	1.2	Transi	tion from Microelectronics to Nanoelectronics	. 2
	1.3	Schott	ky Junctions and Devices Based on Them	. 3
		1.3.1	Schottky Barrier Field-Effect Transistor	. 4
		1.3.2	Reconfigurable Field-Effect Transistor	. 4
	1.4	Simula	ation and Modeling	. 5
	1.5	Comp	act Modeling	. 5
	1.6	Outlin	e of This Work	. 6
2	Phys	sical Eff	ects and Basic Models	9
	2.1	Potent	tial Model	. 9
		2.1.1	Poisson's and Laplace Equation	. 10
		2.1.2	Closed-Form Analytical 1D Potential	. 11
		2.1.3	Conformal Mapping	. 13
		2.1.4	Schwarz Christoffel Transformation	. 13
		2.1.5	Closed-Form Analytical 2D Potential	. 14
		2.1.6	Consideration of Accumulated Charges	. 19
	2.2	Charg	e-Based MOSFET Model	. 20
	2.3	Tunne	l Effect	. 21
		2.3.1	Wave Function and Schrödinger Equation	. 21
		2.3.2	Tunneling Probability	. 22
			2.3.2.1 Tunneling Through Rectangular Barriers	. 23
			2.3.2.2 Tunneling Through Triangular Barriers	. 24

;	ĸ	i	i
_	_	_	_

Contents

		2.3.3	Tunneling of Charge Carriers	26		
			2.3.3.1 Tsu-Esaki Tunnel Equation	27		
			2.3.3.2 Sze-Chang Tunnel Equation	28		
			2.3.3.3 Non-Equilibrium Green's Function Method	29		
	2.4	Physic	cal Description of Schottky Barriers	29		
		2.4.1	Band Diagram Construction	29		
		2.4.2	Charge Carrier Transport over Schottky Barriers	30		
			2.4.2.1 Thermionic Emission	30		
			2.4.2.2 Field Emission	32		
		2.4.3	Image-Force Lowering	32		
3	Devi	ce Worl	king Principles	33		
	3.1	TCAL	) Simulation Parameters	33		
	3.2	Schott	ky Barrier Field-Effect Transistor Working Principle	34		
		3.2.1	Device Structure	34		
		3.2.2	Working Principle and Characteristics	36		
			3.2.2.1 Symmetrical vs. Unsymmetrical Device Characteristics	39		
			3.2.2.2 Channel Length Impact	43		
			3.2.2.3 Temperature Dependencies	44		
	3.3	Recon	figurable Field-Effect Transistor Working Principle	45		
		3.3.1	Structure of the Dually-Gated Reconfigurable Field-Effect Transistor	45		
		3.3.2	Working Principle and Operations Modes	45		
			3.3.2.1 Device Characteristics	50		
			3.3.2.2 Gate-to-Gate Distance	50		
		3.3.3	Other RFET Structures and Concepts	53		
	3.4	State-	of-the-Art Compact Models	54		
4	Com	pact M	odeling of Schottky Barrier Field-Effect transistors	55		
	4.1	Potent	tial Model Simplification and Band Diagram Reconstruction	55		
		4.1.1	Effective Gate-Source Voltage	56		
		4.1.2	Potential Simplification	57		
	4.2	Iniecti	on Current Modeling Approach	60		
		4.2.1	Field Emission Injection Current	60		
		4.2.2	Thermionic Emission Injection Current	64		
	4.3	Currer	nt Balancing Model	65		
	4.4	Channel Resistance Model Addition				
	4.5	Model	Results	68		
	-	4.5.1	Model Results of the Injection Model	69		
		4.5.2	Model Results Including Channel Resistance	71		
			0			

Y	ī	i	i
~	•		

5	Mod	lel Addi	tions for Deep Cryogenic Temperatures	75			
	5.1	Poten	tial Model Adjustments at Absolute Zero	75			
		5.1.1	Saturation at High Gate Voltages	76			
		5.1.2	Basic Potential Model and Band Diagram Reconstruction	81			
	5.2	Inject	ion Current for SBFETs at Deep Cryogenic Temperatures	83			
		5.2.1	Tunneling Equation and Tunneling Probability	83			
		5.2.2	Supply Function Simplification	85			
	5.3	Inclus	ion of Second Order Effects	85			
		5.3.1	Empirical Model for Quantum Oscillations	86			
		5.3.2	Modeling of Band Tail States	88			
		5.3.3	Inclusion of Channel Resistance	90			
	5.4	Total	Current of the Cryogenic SBFET	91			
	5.5	Model	l Results	91			
		5.5.1	Model Results Compared to SOI SBFETs	92			
		5.5.2	Model Results Compared to Nanowire SBFETs	96			
6	Compact Modeling of Reconfigurable Field-Effect Transistors						
	6.1	Comp	act Model for Fix-Programmed Dually-Gated RFETs	101			
		6.1.1	Injection Model Extension for two Independent Gates	102			
		6.1.2	Modeling of the Ungated Channel Impact	103			
		6.1.3	Program Gate Induced Carrier Suppression	104			
		6.1.4	Model Results	105			
	6.2	Appro	baches for Further Investigation	115			
		6.2.1	Empirical Approach for two Steady Gates	115			
		6.2.2	Macro Model Approach	116			
7	Cond	clusion		119			
Bil	bliogr	aphy		123			

### List of Publications

#### Journals

 Christian Römer, Ghader Darbandy, Mike Schwarz, Jens Trommer, André Heinzig, Thomas Mikolajick, Walter M. Weber, Benjamín Iñíguez and Alexander Kloes "Physics-Based DC Compact Modeling of Schottky Barrier and Reconfigurable Field-Effect Transistors," in *IEEE Journal of the Electron Devices Society*, vol. 10, 416–423, Dec. 2021.

DOI: 10.1109/jeds.2021.3136981

 Christian Römer, Nadine Dersch, Ghader Darbandy, Mike Schwarz, Yi Han, Qing-Tai Zhao, Benjamín Iñíguez and Alexander Kloes "Compact Modeling of Schottky Barrier Field-Effect Transistors at Deep Cryogenic Temperatures," in *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 207, 108686, Jun. 2023.

DOI: 10.1016/j.sse.2023.108686

 Christian Römer, Nadine Dersch, Ghader Darbandy, Mike Schwarz, Yi Han, Qing-Tai Zhao, Benjamín Iñíguez and Alexander Kloes "Physics-Based Compact Current Model for Schottky Barrier Transistors at Deep Cryogenic Temperatures Including Band Tail Effects and Quantum Oscillations," in *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 212, 108846, Feb. 2024.

 ${\rm DOI:}\ 10.1016/j.sse.2023.108846$ 

#### List of Publications

#### Conferences

 Christian Römer, Ghader Darbandy, Mike Schwarz, Jens Trommer, André Heinzig, Thomas Mikolajick, Walter M. Weber, Benjamín Iñíguez and Alexander Kloes "Uniform DC Compact Model for Schottky Barrier and Reconfigurable Field-Effect Transistors," in 2021 IEEE Latin America Electron Devices Conference (LAEDC), pp. 1–4, Mexico, Mexico (Virtual Conference), Apr. 2021.

DOI: 10.1109/laedc51812.2021.9437954

 Christian Römer, Ghader Darbandy, Mike Schwarz, Jens Trommer, Maik Simon, André Heinzig, Thomas Mikolajick, Walter M. Weber, Benjamín Iñíguez and Alexander Kloes "Compact Modeling of Channel-Resistance Effects in Reconfigurable Field-Effect Transistors," in 2022 29th International Conference on Mixed Design of Integrated Circuits and System (MIXDES), pp. 33–39, Wrocław, Poland, Jun. 2022.

DOI: 10.23919/mixdes55591.2022.9838216

#### **Co-Authorship**

 Ghader Darbandy, Christian Römer, Jakob Leise, Jakob Pruefer, James W. Borchert, Hagen Klauk, Alexander Kloes "Characterization of the Charge-Trap Dynamics in Organic Thin-Film Transistors," in 2019 MIXDES - 26th International Conference "Mixed Design of Integrated Circuits and Systems", pp. 76–80, Rzeszow, Poland, 2019.

DOI: 10.23919/MIXDES.2019.8787105

 Ghader Darbandy, Felix Dollinger, Petr Formánek, René Hübner, Stefan Resch, Christian Römer, Axel Fischer, Karl Leo, Alexander Kloes, Hans Kleemann "Unraveling Structure and Device Operation of Organic Permeable Base Transistors," in *Advanced Electronic Materials*, vol. 6, 2000230, 2020.

DOI: 10.1002/aelm.202000230

 Alexander Kloes, Mike Schwarz, Yi Han, Qing-Tai Zhao and Christian Römer "Comparison between WKB and Wavelet Approach for Analytical Calculation of Tunneling Currents in Schottky Barrier Field-Effect Transistors," in 2023 30th International Conference on Mixed Design of Integrated Circuits and System (MIXDES), pp. 31–36, Kraków, Poland, 2023.

DOI: 10.23919/MIXDES58562.2023.10203276

 Mike Schwarz, Ghader Darbandy, Christian Römer, Nadine Dersch and Alexander Kloes "Simulation and Modeling of Silicon Semiconductor Devices and Sensors," in 2023 30th International Conference on Mixed Design of Integrated Circuits and System (MIXDES), pp. 42–46, Kraków, Poland, 2023.

DOI: 10.23919/MIXDES58562.2023.10203247

#### xvi

 Nadine Dersch, Emilio Perez-Bosch Quesada, Eduardo Perez, Christian Wenger, Christian Römer, Mike Schwarz and Alexander Kloes "Efficient Circuit Simulation of a Memristive Crossbar Array With Synaptic Weight Variability," in *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 209, 108760, Nov. 2023.

DOI: 10.1016/j.sse.2023.108760

• Ghader Darbandy, Elahe Rastegar Pashaki, Christian Roemer, Amric Bonil, Juan Wang, Benjamín Iñíguez, Hans Kleemann, Alexander Kloes "High-Frequency  $f_{\rm T}$  and  $f_{\rm max}$  in Organic Transistors: Performance and Perspective," in *Advanced Electronic Materials*, 2024-02.

DOI: 10.1002/aelm.202300715

• Nadine Dersch, Christian Roemer, Eduardo Perez, Christian Wenger, Mike Schwarz, Benjamín Iñíguez and Alexander Kloes "Efficient Simulation of Memristive Crossbar Arrays with Bimodal Stochastic Synaptic Weights," (under review for conference proceedings).

DOI: x/x

# List of Symbols

# Latin Alphabet

$\mathbf{Symbol}$	Description	$\mathbf{Unit}$
a	Coefficient for the tunneling equation	$[eV^{-2}]$
$A^*$	Effective Richardson constant	$[{\rm Acm^{-2}K^{-2}}]$
$A_0$	Amplitude of the wave function	[-]
b	Coefficient for the tunneling equation	$[\rm Vcm^{-1}]$
$B_{\rm PAT}$	Phonon-assisted tunneling reduction parameter	[-]
c	Coefficient for the tunneling equation	$[eV^{-1}]$
$C_1$	Coefficient of the Schwarz Christoffel Transformation	[-]
$C_2$	Coefficient of the Schwarz Christoffel Transformation	[-]
$C_{\rm NW}$	Nanowire circumference	[nm]
$C'_{ m ox}$	Oxide capacitance per gate area	$[{\rm AsV^{-1}cm^{-2}}]$
$C'_{\mathrm{ox},\kappa}$	Replacement oxide capacitance per gate area for the RFET	$[{\rm AsV^{-1}cm^{-2}}]$
$ec{E}$	Electric field	$[\rm Vcm^{-1}]$
$\mathcal{E}_0$	Energy at position $x = 0$	[eV]
$E_{\rm C}$	Conduction band energy	[eV]
$E_{ m f}$	Fermi energy	[J]
$E_{\mathrm{fi}}$	Intrinsic Fermi energy	[eV]
$E_{\mathrm{f,m}}$	Metal's Fermi energy	[eV]
$E_{\rm f,n}$	Quasi-Fermi energy level for electrons	[eV]
$E_{\rm f,p}$	Quasi-Fermi energy level for holes	[eV]
$E_{\rm fs}$	Fermi energy of the source contact	[eV]
$E_{ m g}$	Semiconductor's energy band gap	[eV]

I	List	of	Symbols	

$\vec{E}_{ m img}$	Image-force induced electric field	$[\rm Vcm^{-1}]$
$\mathcal{E}_{ ext{max}}$	Upper energy integration boundary	[J]
$\mathcal{E}_{\min}$	Lower energy integration boundary	[J]
ε	Energy	[eV]
$\mathcal{E}_{ ho}$	Carriers' longitudinal energy component	[eV]
$\mathcal{E}_{ ext{tot}}$	Total carrier energy	[eV]
$\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{ts,fit}}$	Band tail states distribution fitting parameter	[eV]
$\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{ts,min}}$	Lower limit of the band tail distribution integral	[eV]
$E_{\rm V}$	Valence band energy	[eV]
$E_{\rm vac}$	Vacuum energy level	[eV]
$E_{\mathbf{x}}$	x-component of the electric field	$[\rm Vcm^{-1}]$
f	Fermi distribution function or arbitrary function	[-]
$f_{ m ch}$	Semiconductor's Fermi distribution function	[—]
$f_{ m m}$	Metal's Fermi distribution function	[-]
$g_{ m C3D}$	Density of states	$[\mathrm{cm}^{-3}]$
$g_{ m ts}$	Band tail states distribution function	[-]
h	Planck constant	[J s]
$\hbar$	Reduced Planck constant	[Js]
i	Imaginary unit	[-]
$I_{\rm ds}$	Drain-source current	[A]
$I_{\rm ds,inj}$	Drain-source current calculated by the injection model	[A]
$I_{\rm ds,n}$	Electron drain-source current contribution	[A]
$I_{\rm ds,p}$	Hole drain-source current contribution	[A]
$I_{\rm ds,TE,n}$	Electron thermionic emission drain-source current contribution	[A]
$I_{\rm ds,TE,p}$	Hole thermionic emission drain-source current contribution	[A]
$I_{\rm MOSFET}$	Current calculated by the channel MOSFET model	[A]
$J_{\rm FE}$	Field emission current density	$[\rm Acm^{-2}]$
$J_{{ m FE,d,n}}$	Drain-side injection field emission current density for electrons	$[\rm Acm^{-2}]$
$J_{\rm FE,d,p}$	Drain-side injection field emission current density for holes	$[\rm Acm^{-2}]$
$J_{\rm FE,n}$	Field emission current density for electrons	$[\rm Acm^{-2}]$
$J_{\rm FE,n,ts}$	Current density of the band tail states model	$[\rm Acm^{-2}]$
$J_{\rm FE,p}$	Field emission current density for holes	$[\rm Acm^{-2}]$
$J_{\rm FE,s,n}$	Source-side injection field emission current density for electrons	$[\rm Acm^{-2}]$

хx

$J_{\rm FE,s,p}$	Source-side injection field emission current density for holes	$[\mathrm{Acm^{-2}}]$
$J_{\rm TE}$	Thermionic emission current density	$[\rm Acm^{-2}]$
$J_{\mathrm{TE,d,n}}$	Drain-side injection thermionic emission current density for electrons	$[\rm Acm^{-2}]$
$J_{\rm TE,d,p}$	Drain-side injection thermionic emission current density for holes	$[\rm Acm^{-2}]$
$J_{\rm TE,n}$	Thermionic emission current density for electrons	$[\rm A cm^{-2}]$
$J_{\rm TE,p}$	Thermionic emission current density for holes	$[\rm Acm^{-2}]$
$J_{\mathrm{TE,s,n}}$	Source-side injection thermionic emission current density for electrons	$[\rm Acm^{-2}]$
$J_{\rm TE,s,p}$	Source-side injection thermionic emission current density for holes	$[\rm Acm^{-2}]$
$J_{\mathrm{tun}}$	Tunneling current density	$[\rm Acm^{-2}]$
$\vec{k}$	Wave vector	$[m^{-1}]$
k	Wave number	$[m^{-1}]$
$k_{ m b}$	Boltzmann constant	$[\rm JK^{-1}]$
$K_{\rm sat}$	Saturation constant of the cryogenic saturation model	$[V^{2/3}]$
$L_{\rm CG}$	Control gate length	[nm]
$L_{\rm ch}$	Transistor's channel length	[nm]
$L_{\rm ung}$	Gate-to-gate distance of the RFET	[m]
$L_{\rm PG}$	Program gate length	[nm]
m	Carrier / particle mass	[kg]
$m^*$	Effective carrier mass	[kg]
$m_{ m n,tun}$	Electron tunneling mass	[A]
$m_{\rm p,tun}$	Hole tunneling mass	[A]
$m_{ m n}$	Electrons' relative tunneling mass	[-]
$m_{ m p}$	Holes' relative tunneling mass	[-]
Ν	Supply function	[-]
n	Electron concentration	$[\mathrm{cm}^{-3}]$
$N_{\rm A}$	Doping concentration of acceptors	$[\mathrm{cm}^{-3}]$
$N_{\rm C}$	Effective density of states in the conduction band	$[\mathrm{cm}^{-3}]$
$N_{\rm V}$	Effective density of states in the valence band	$[\mathrm{cm}^{-3}]$
$\vec{p}$	Particle's impulse	$[\rm kgms^{-1}]$

List of S	Symbols
-----------	---------

$P_{\rm particle \ in \ V}$	Probability of the particle being located inside ${\cal V}$	[-]
q	Elementary charge	[As]
$Q_{ m d}'$	Drain-related charge densities per gate area	$[{\rm Ascm^{-2}}]$
$Q_{ m s}'$	Source-related charge densities per gate area	$[{\rm Ascm^{-2}}]$
$\vec{r}$	Position vector	[m]
$R_{\rm NW}$	Nanowire radius	[nm]
S	Subthreshold swing	$[\rm mV/dec]$
$s_{\mathrm{n}}$	Electron contribution switching factor of the RFET model	[-]
$s_{ m p}$	Hole contribution switching factor of the RFET model	[-]
t	time	$[\mathbf{s}]$
T	Tunneling probability	[-]
$t_{\rm box}$	Transistor's Substrate thickness	[nm]
$t_{ m ch}$	Transistor's channel thickness	[nm]
$T_{\rm cryo}$	Approximated cryogenic tunneling probability including quantum oscillations	[—]
$T_{ m cryo,0}$	Initial approximated cryogenic tunneling probability	[-]
$t_{\rm eff,FE}$	Effective thickness where the field emission current is flowing	[-]
$t_{\rm eff,TE}$	Effective thickness where the thermionic emission current is flowing	[-]
$T_{\rm NEGF}$	Tunneling probability of the non-equilibrium Green's function	[-]
$t_{ m ox}$	Oxide layer thickness	[nm]
$t'_{ m ox}$	Transformed oxide thickness	[nm]
$T_{\rm rect}$	Tunneling probability through a rectangular barrier	[—]
$T_{\rm ts}$	Tunneling probability of the tail states	[—]
$t_{ ext{tun}}$	Tunneling thickness	[nm]
$T_{\rm WKB}$	Tunneling probability of the Wentzel-Kramers-Brillouin approximation	[—]
u	u-coordinate / real part of the $w$ -plane	[m]
U	Energy barrier	[J]
$u_{\mathrm{a}}$	Integration boundary	[m]
$u_{ m b}$	Integration boundary	[m]
$u_{\mathrm{s},3}$	Normalized surface potential	[-]
v	$V\mbox{-}{\rm coordinate}$ / imaginary part of the $w\mbox{-}{\rm plane}$	[m]

V	Voltage	[V]
$V_{0,\text{limit}}$	Limiting voltage parameter of the empirical accumulation charge function	[V]
$V_{ m b,d}$	Potential bending from the channel to the drain side contact	[V]
$V_{\rm b,s}$	Potential bending from the channel to the source side contact	[V]
$V_{\rm cg}$	Control gate voltage	[V]
$V_{ m d}$	Applied drain potential	[V]
$V_{\rm ds}$	Drain-source voltage	[V]
$V_{ m fb}$	Flatband voltage	[V]
$V_{\rm g}$	Applied gate potential	[V]
$V_{\rm gd}$	Gate-drain voltage	[V]
$ ilde{V}_{ m gd,MOS}$	Averaged gate-drain voltage of the channel MOSFET for RFETs	[V]
$V_{\rm gs}$	Gate-source voltage	[V]
$V_{\rm gs,bound}$	Boundary gate-source voltage of the cryogenic saturation model	[V]
$V_{\rm gs, eff, TFET}$	Effective gate-source voltage of the TFET model	[V]
$\tilde{V}_{\rm gs,MOS}$	Averaged gate-source voltage of the channel MOSFET for RFETs	[V]
$V_{\rm gs,sat}$	saturated gate-source voltage of the cryogenic saturation model	[V]
$V_{\rm gs,eff}$	Effective gate-source voltage	[V]
$V_{\rm gs}'$	Flatband voltage corrected Gate-source voltage	[V]
$V_{ m limit}$	Limiting voltage of the empirical accumulation charge function	[V]
$V_{\rm pg}$	Program gate voltage	[V]
$V_{\rm s}$	Applied source potential	[V]
$V_{\rm T0}$	Threshold voltage of the MOSFET model	[V]
$V_{artheta}$	Thermal voltage	[V]
w	Complex <i>w</i> -plane	[m]
$W_0$	Principal branch of the Lambert W	[-]
$W_{\rm ch}$	Transistor's channel width	[nm]
$w_{ m i}$	Vertex position of vertex $i$ in the $w$ -plane of the Schwarz Christoffel Transformation	[m]
x	Room coordinate in $x$ -direction	[m]
$x_{ m f}$	x-position in the channel where $E_{\rm fs} = E_{\rm C}$	[m]

#### xxiv

y	Room coordinate in <i>y</i> -direction	[m]
z	Room coordinate in z-direction / complex 2D plane	[m]

### Greek Alphabet

Symbol	Description	$\mathbf{Unit}$
α	Accumulation charge blending factor	[-]
$lpha_{ m i}$	Vertex angle of vertex $i$ in the $w$ -plane of the Schwarz Christof- fol Transformation	[-]
0	Pand tail states penetration donth peremeter	[]
$lpha_{ m ts}$	Band tan states penetration depth parameter	[-]
$\gamma_{ m MOS}$	Smoothing parameter of the channel MOSFET model	[-]
$\gamma_{ m n}$	Fitting parameter for the slope of the electron field emission current	[-]
$\gamma_{ m p}$	Fitting parameter for the slope of the hole field emission current	[—]
$\gamma_{ m sat}$	Smoothing parameter of the cryogenic saturation model	[—]
$\gamma_{ m Vg,eff}$	Smoothing parameter of the empirical accumulation charge function	[—]
Δ	Laplace operator	[—]
$\Delta V_{ m bound}$	Boundary voltage fitting parameter of the cryogenic saturation model	[V]
ε	Permittivity	$[A  s  V^{-1}  m^{-1}]$
$\varepsilon_{\mathrm{ox}}$	Oxide permittivity	$[A  s  V^{-1}  m^{-1}]$
$\varepsilon_{ m r,ox}$	Relative oxide permittivity	[-]
$\varepsilon_{ m r,sc}$	Relative semiconductor permittivity	[-]
$\varepsilon_{\rm sc}$	Semiconductor permittivity	$[{\rm AsV^{-1}m^{-1}}]$
$\vartheta$	temperature	[K]
$\kappa_{ m ung}$	Ungated channel factor	[-]
$\lambda$	Natural length	[nm]
$\mu$	Charge carrier mobility	$[\rm cm^2V^{-1}s^{-1}]$
$\mu_{ m n}$	Electron mobility	$[\rm cm^2V^{-1}s^{-1}]$
$\mu_{ m tn}$	Electron tunneling mobility	$[\rm cm^2V^{-1}s^{-1}]$
$\mu_{ m p}$	Hole mobility	$[\rm cm^2V^{-1}s^{-1}]$

$\mu_{ m tp}$	Hole tunneling mobility	$[\rm cm^2V^{-1}s^{-1}]$
ρ	Space charge	$[{\rm Ascm^{-3}}]$
$\Phi$	Potential (in general)	[V]
$arphi_0$	Initial phase for the quantum oscillation model	[-]
$\Phi_{ m 2D}$	Potential calculated by the 2D potential model	[V]
$\Phi_{ m 2D,d}$	Drain-related potential calculated by the 2D potential model	[V]
$\Phi_{\rm 2D,s}$	Source-related potential calculated by the 2D potential model	[V]
$arPsi_{ m bar}$	Potential barrier	[V]
$arPhi_{ m bi}$	Built-in potential	[V]
$\Phi_{ m bks}$	Backside potential of the quasi 2D potential model	[V]
$\varPhi_{\rm B,n}$	Schottky barrier height for electrons	[V]
$arPhi_{ m bnd}$	Boundary potential	[V]
$\Phi_{\mathrm{B,n0}}$	Initial Schottky barrier height for electrons	[V]
$\Phi_{\mathrm{B,p}}$	Schottky barrier height for holes	[V]
$\Phi_{ m B,p0}$	Initial Schottky barrier height for holes	[V]
$arPhi_{ m bs}$	Bulk potential of the quasi 2D potential model	[V]
$\Phi_{ m cen}$	Center potential	[V]
$\varPhi_{\rm cen,p}$	Center potential at position $p$	[V]
$\varphi_{\rm comp}$	Compact potential	[V]
$\Phi_{ m const}$	Constant potential	[V]
$\Phi_{ m const,Drain}$	Constant potential boundary drain	[V]
$\Phi_{ m const,Gate1}$	Constant potential boundary gate 1	[V]
$\Phi_{ m const,Gate2}$	Constant potential boundary gate 2	[V]
$\Phi_{\rm const,Source}$	Constant potential boundary source	[V]
$arPhi_{ m frs}$	Frontside potential of the quasi 2D potential model	[V]
$\Phi_{ m lin,Oxide1}$	Linear potential boundary along the oxide 1	[V]
$\Phi_{ m lin,Oxide2}$	Linear potential boundary along the oxide 1	[V]
$\Phi_{ m m}$	Metal's work function	[V]
$\Phi_{ m q2D}$	Potential calculated by the quasi 2D potential model	[V]
$\Phi_{ m sur}$	Surface potential	[V]
$\Phi_{ m sur,p}$	Surface potential at position $p$	[V]
$\Phi_{ m sur,sat}$	Saturated surface potnential of the cryogenic saturation model	[V]
$\Phi_{ m sur,bound}$	Boundary surface potential of the cryogenic saturation model	[V]

$\chi$	Semiconductor's Electron affinity	[V]
$\Psi$	Wave function	[-]
$\psi_{ m b}$	Wave function inside the energy barrier	[-]
$\psi_{\mathrm{i}}$	Incoming wave	[-]
$\psi_{ m r}$	Reflected wave	[-]
$\psi_{ m t}$	Transmitted wave	[-]
$\psi_{\mathrm{I}}$	Wave function inside region I	[-]
$\psi_{\mathrm{II}}$	Wave function inside region II	[-]
ω	Angular frequency	$[\mathbf{s}^{-1}]$
$\omega_E$	Angular frequency for the quantum oscillation model	$[eV^{-1}]$

# Other

xxvi

$\mathbf{Symbol}$	Description	Unit
$\nabla$	Nabla operator	[-]
$\partial$	Partial differential operator	[—]

# List of Acronyms

Symbol	Description
1D	One-dimensional
2D	Two-dimensional
3D	Three-dimensional
AC	Alternating current
BJT	Bipolar junction transistor
CG	Control gate
CMOS	Complementary metal–oxide–semiconductor
DC	Direct Current
DG	Double gate
DIBL	Drain-induced barrier lowering
$\mathbf{FE}$	Field emission
FEM	Finite element method
FET	Field-effect transistor
GAA	Gate-all-around
IC	Integrated circuit
IP	Intellectual property
MOSFET	Metal–oxide–semiconductor field-effect transistor
NEGF	Non-equilibrium Green's function
NLM	Nonlocal Mesh
PAT	Phonon-assisted tunneling
PG	Program gate / Polarity gate
PhD	Philosophiae Doctor
RFET	Reconfigurable field-effect transistor
SB	Schottky barrier
SBFET	Schottky barrier field-effect transistor

#### xxviii

List of Acronyms

SBL	Schottky barrier lowering
SCE	Short channel effect
SCT	Schwarz Christoffel Transformation
SOI	Silicon-on-insulator
SPICE	Simulation Program with Integrated Circuit Emphasis
TCAD	Technology computer-aided design
TE	Thermionic emission
TFET	Tunnel field-effect transistor
TIG-RFET	Three independent gates reconfigurable field-effect transistor
WKB	Wentzel-Kramers-Brillouin

# CHAPTER 1

### Introduction

In the year 2023 the transistor celebrated its 75. anniversary. An invention in the field of electronics that impacted economy, society, and research. The transistor has probably been one of the most impactful inventions since today, as it is part of nearly every electronic device like computers, smartphones, TVs and much more. The first transistor was a bipolar point-contact transistor invented by *John Bardeen, Walter Brattain*, and *William Shockley* in 1947 at the Bell Telephone Laboratories. This transistor type was improved to the bipolar junction transistor (BJT) in the following year, which quickly became state-of-the-art in the field of electronics. While the BJT technology still has its fields of application, especially in digital circuits it has been mainly replaced by the complementary metal–oxide–semiconductor (CMOS) technology, coming up in the 1960s. This CMOS technology consists of p-type and n-type field-effect transistors (FETs), mostly metal–oxide–semiconductor field-effect transistors (MOSFETs) with symmetric characteristics. In this technology, p- and n-type MOSFETs are integrated into small chips to build up logical functions (e.g. "NOT", "NAND" or "NOR"). While the transistor in general started as a single electronic device, today's electronic hardware components can have billions of FETs integrated in a single chip.

### 1.1 Metal-Oxide-Semiconductor Field-Effect Transistor Technology

The FET technology goes back to Julius Edgar Lilienfeld who patented the first FET in [1]. The main FET technology used for decades in the history of electronics was the MOSFET, which consists of a doped semiconductor (usually silicon) bulk, a metallic gate electrode and an oxide that isolates the semiconductor from the metallic gate. The source and drain contacts are attached to reversely-doped semiconductor regions, which are located at the opposing fringes of the bulk. A schematic MOSFET structure is shown in Fig. 1.1. The doping profile at the source-bulk-drain regions determines the type of MOSFET. An n-p-n doping profile leads to an n-type MOSFET which conducts a positive drain current  $I_{ds}$  in case of positive gate-source
2





**Figure 1.1:** Schematic slice of a MOSFET. The dark gray sections are metallic contacts, and the light gray sections are isolating parts. The bulk (red) consists of a p-type semiconductor in this case, which is attached to the n-type semiconductor regions at the source and drain contacts (blue), making this device an n-type MOSFET. The figure is taken from [2].

 $V_{\rm gs}$  and drain-source  $V_{\rm ds}$  voltages. A p-n-p doping profile leads to a p-type MOSFET which conducts a negative drain current  $I_{\rm ds}$  in case of negative gate-source  $V_{\rm gs}$  and drain-source  $V_{\rm ds}$ voltages [2].

Since the invention of the MOSFET, its further development of shrinking a single device's geometries and its power consumption in order to increase the integration density has been mainly determined by improving fabrication methods [2, 3].

In 1965 Gordon Moore (co-founder of Intel Corporation) predicted a doubling of the number of FETs (or more general 'components') that can be integrated on the same size of chip every two years [4]. As his prediction has shown to be very accurate, this statement - "Moore's Law" - became famous and is still omnipresent in today's technological discussions about FETs. During this era of microelectronics, the main idea was to scale down the MOSFET's geometries (channel length, channel width and oxide thickness), as well as the supply voltage, leading to reduced feature sizes and power consumption.

# 1.2 Transition from Microelectronics to Nanoelectronics

The down-scaling effectiveness of the MOSFET geometries gradually became more inefficient by the time feature sizes approached nanometer scale. While shrinking down geometries further in the scale of nanometers, short channel effects (SCEs) are appearing and getting more dominant. Those SCEs are mainly caused by quantum mechanical effects. Especially, the quantum mechanical tunnel effect (see Sec. 2.3) causes leakage currents in device operation modes at which a device should be switched off, leading to an increased power usage of circuits. Another SCE that can appear in short-channel device's is the so-called drain-induced barrier lowering (DIBL) effect. This effect appears in case the electrostatic coupling of the drain on 1.3 Schottky Junctions and Devices Based on Them

the potential in the center of the transistor's channel cannot be neglected any more. In this case the MOSFET's threshold voltage changes with the drain voltage, leading to a reduced gate control of the device [2, 5, 6].

The field or era of electronics which are impacted by SCE's is called nanoelectronics. In the era of nanoelectronics, the scaling rules used in microelectronics can no longer be used to improve the transistors characteristics. New technologies had to emerge instead. Some technologies, like the already established FinFET technology, shall counter out the SCE's by increasing the electrostatic gate coupling on the transistors channel. Other technologies try to abuse the quantum mechanical effects appearing in the field of nanoelectronics, like the tunnel field-effect transistor (TFET) [2].

The field of nanoelectronics, including the challenge of scaling down device's or coming up with new technologies, still is a global research field and important for future electronic applications.

# 1.3 Schottky Junctions and Devices Based on Them

This work focuses on several types of transistors that are based on Schottky barriers (SBs), named after *Walter Hans Schottky*. SBs are energy / potential barriers for charge carriers that can lead to similar current blocking mechanisms as pn-junctions of MOSFETs. Those SBs form at metal-semiconductor junctions (Schottky junctions). While SBs can potentially lead to unwanted parasitic resistances in semiconductor devices in case they are not considered properly, their mechanisms are particularly abused for example in Schottky diodes [2]. Their formation and physical description are explained in Sec. 2.4.

There are some devices based on SBs that can act as good candidates for replacing MOSFETs in certain fields of application. This device family, which is also the main topic of this work, are transistors based on charge transport over SBs. Unlike in MOSFET application, where a device's current blocking and letting pass mechanisms are determined by doped regions and the resulting pn-junctions and potential barrier in the transistor's channel, in SB devices these mechanisms are mainly given by Schottky junctions between metal and semiconductor regions leading to the formation of SBs [2].

The simplest electronic device abusing the effects of the SB formation is the Schottky diode, which consists of a single metal-semiconductor junction. The Schottky diode works similar to a pn-diode, but compared to pn-diodes, the Schottky diode supports higher operation frequencies and works at higher power [2, 7]. Beside the Schottky diode, which is a metal-semiconductor junction based diode structure, there are several transistor types that are based on SBs. The two most important types for this work are introduced in the following sections. 4

## 1.3.1 Schottky Barrier Field-Effect Transistor

A basic transistor type that is based on SBs is the SBFET (Schottky barrier field-effect transistor or also often referred to as SB-MOSFET). Compared to a regular MOSFET, in this device the source and drain regions consist of metal, while the channel / bulk region is still made of semiconductor but does not necessarily need to be doped. This material combination leads to the formation of SBs at the source-channel and drain-channel interfaces which lead to the current control mechanism, instead of the pn-junctions in regular MOSFETs [2, 6]. A more detailed physical description of SBFETs is given in Chapter 3.

Since SBFETs are usually outperformed by other transistor types, their field of application is more restricted. However, in emerging technologies those kinds of transistors are promising candidates for new fields of application. In several modern technical applications (e.g. quantum computing, superconductor, biomedical applications) a deep cryogenic temperature environment of only a few kelvins is necessary, where the SBFET has been proposed as good candidate for electronic applications in this environment [8–11]. At cryogenic temperatures, the SBFET benefits from a leakage / off-current reduction, due to the reduced thermal energy, which improves the device's subthreshold behavior [9, 11]. Additionally, compared to regular MOSFET application, the SBFET does not rely on doping and is not affected by dopant freeze-out effects.

There are several other devices and applications based on the SBFET technology [7]. For example, there are reported SBFETs rearranged as source-gated transistors, that are based on organic materials reported in [12, 13]. SBFETs or SB devices based on 2D channel materials are shown for example in [14–16]. The principle of ferroelectric SBFETs with a memory effect, possibly used in neuromorphic computing application is demonstrated in [17, 18]. Although these devices and technologies are not directly covered by the modeling approach of this work, the introduced compact model still might be a good basis for further extension.

# 1.3.2 Reconfigurable Field-Effect Transistor

Another field of application, where the SBFET is used as a basis, is the reconfigurable field-effect transistor (RFET), which is also covered by this work. RFETs are usually based on SBFETs and exist in several variations [19]. These transistors have at least one additional gate which is used to change the device's polarity during runtime, so the transistor can switch between p-type and n-type device behavior. Although RFETs have a bigger device footprint due to the additional gate compared to SBFETs, the goal of using RFETs is to increase the functionality of a single device and therefore, reduce the complexity of the electronic circuit [19–22]. In [21, 22] it is shown that RFETs can be used in order to create reconfigurable logic circuits that can change their functionality, in the given example from NAND to NOR logic by using four RFETs. Dependent on the application, the usage of RFETs can potentially reduce the logical effort of circuits and increase their performance [21, 22]. Another discussed use case

#### 1.4 Simulation and Modeling

scenario of RFETs is the hardware security application for protecting intellectual properties (IPs), by using RFETs for logic locking mechanisms [23–25]. A more detailed introduction of the RFET's working principle is given in Chapter 3.

# 1.4 Simulation and Modeling

Modern integrated circuits (ICs) may consist of more than thousands of electronic components (transistors, resistors, capacitors, etc.) which need to work properly, so the IC can fulfill its purpose. Therefore, even before production a proper planning of the IC must be done. In modern days such planning processes cannot be done on test boards anymore, due to the number of devices and the different physical effects in highly integrated circuits. That is why hardware planning and testing is done theoretically and computer-aided with the help of various models that are capable of describing the hardware behavior. There are different variations and levels of such mathematical models. In this work, a compact model for the SBFET devices is mathematically derived, which is a device-level model, because it describes the characteristics of a single device. Such a device model can be used to simulate an entire circuit, by creating a circuit-level model. This can be done by using a circuit simulator, like SPICE (Simulation Program with Integrated Circuit Emphasis), to simulate the entire circuit numerically. There are various electrical properties of devices that can be modeled and simulated. The model that is derived in this work focuses on the direct current (DC) behavior of the investigated transistors, so the steady-state device current dependents on the applied voltages. Additional properties that can be investigate are for example the alternating current (AC) or the noise behavior of such devices [26, 27].

In order to understand the physics behind certain electronic devices and to create compact device level models, simulations on that level can be performed. In this work device-level simulations of SB devices are performed and shown which are done using the technology computer-aided design (TCAD) software TCAD Sentaurus (Synopsys, Inc.). This simulator uses the finite element method (FEM) to solve numerical equation inside electronic devices to calculate relevant variables (e.g. charges, potentials, and currents) [28].

# 1.5 Compact Modeling

The aim of this work is to provide a compact model for SBFETs and RFETs that is physics based and mathematically solvable in closed form. Physics based relates to the origin of the model equations being as close as possible to real device physics. This physics-based approach shall make the compact model scalable with device parameters, like the geometries for example, since a physics-based model is supposed to consider the impact of the device parameters on its characteristics. Additionally, often physics-based models can be also extended or adapted to include other physical effects (e.g. adapting silicon-based models to organic transistors or

1 Introduction

include short channel effects into MOSFET equations), and they fulfill an academia aspiration. In contrast to the physics-based model, there are other model variants like a table model which uses measured or simulated device characteristics as a base, requiring a lot of data for accurate device behavior predictions. There is also the empirical model that uses empirical mathematical equations which match the device's characteristics, but don't have physical parameters or relations. Empirical model often come with several fitting parameters for the model to be fitted to measured data. It shall be mentioned that the presented compact model of this work also uses smoothing functions and fitting parameters at some positions, since several physical equations cannot be solved in closed form.

A closed-form model relates to the model equation being mathematically solvable in closed form. This leads to a set of equations which can successively be used for calculating a bias point of the device. In contrast to the closed-form model is the numerical model (for example TCAD simulations) using basic physical relations, which do not need to be solved analytically or simplified and solves them with numeric methods. These models can be more precise in their results (depending on their configuration) and can be more easily extended with other physical relations. However, since they are using numerical methods for solving, they take a much higher effort for the calculation and therefore, much more time consumption to calculate a single bias point, making them nearly impossible to use for the simulation of bigger circuits. Due to the numerical methods, in some cases it can also happen that the numerical model is not converging and does not lead to a conclusion at all.

# 1.6 Outline of This Work

This document focuses on the physics-based compact modeling of SBFETs and RFETs considering the main DC injection current over the devices' SBs, as well as some second order effects of the devices, which can appear in some circumstances.

For the better understanding of the physical background of the investigated devices and the discussed compact modeling approaches, Chap. 2 briefly summarizes the basic physical effects and models, like the tunnel effect and thermionic emission model. Additionally, some basic models that are used in later chapters are summarized, like the used potential models or a current transport model in MOSFETs.

Chapter 3 explicitly explains the structure, working principle and the characteristics of the SBFETs and RFETs which are under investigation in this work, underpinned by simulation results performed with TCAD Sentaurus. In this chapter there is also a discussion about the device variation and the state-of-the-art in compact modeling of those devices.

The compact modeling approaches are separated into three chapters, each covering a different variation of the model. Chap. 4 explains the derivation of the physics-based compact model, used for the DC injection current of SBFETs in room temperature environment. This

6

#### 1.6 Outline of This Work

chapter also presents the inclusion of additional effects like the SBFET's drain-side SB and the channel resistance of long channel devices. The compact model is validated using TCAD simulation results.

While the first part of the compact modeling approach focuses on SBFETs at room temperature, the second major part of the compact model, described in Chap. 5, explicitly derives an injection current model for SBFETs at deep cryogenic temperatures (for  $\vartheta \approx 0$  K). Here, the changes to the room temperature model are discussed and some second order effects that are appearing at this temperature environment are mentioned and included into the model. The compact model results are validated using measurements which are performed at about 4...6 K.

The last modeling chapter - Chap. 6 - uses the room temperature model for the SBFETs and translates the model for the usage as a RFET compact model. In this chapter, the model usage to describe the characteristics of programmed RFETs is shown. In addition, the inclusion of a second gate and the inclusion of long channel / ungated channel effects are described. This part of the model is also verified using measurements and TCAD simulation results.

Finally, Chap. 7 concludes this work by summarizing the field of application and status of the described compact model and shows some possibilities for future extensions of the model. UNIVERSITAT ROVIRA I VIRGILI COMPACT MODELING OF SCHOTTKY BARRIER AND RECONFIGURABLE FIELD-EFFECT TRANSISTORS Christian Römer

# CHAPTER 2

Physical Effects and Basic Models

The compact modeling approaches shown in this work are all physics-based and rely on basic mathematical and physical models. This chapter aims to introduce the important physical effects, as well as the basic models that are used or strongly related to the compact models of the main modeling chapters.

This chapter starts with the introduction of two potential models in Sec. 2.1, based on either Poisson's or Laplace equation. Section 2.2 covers basic transport mechanisms in field-effect transistors and shows a closed-form compact model for those. Section 2.3 explains the basics of the quantum mechanical tunneling effect and derives some equations to calculate tunnel current densities. Finally, Sec. 2.4 explains the formation and physical effects coming to the fore at SBs.

# 2.1 Potential Model

In the physics of semiconductor, or rather in electronics in general, the physical parameters like voltages V, currents I, charges q, etc. are all related to each other. This relation is often given by differential equations. In contrast to this, for a compact model it is desired to have simple and analytically solvable equations. It is a common practice to divide one mathematical problem into minor parts that are easier manageable. For example, there are many compact modeling approaches for various transistor types that calculate a closed-form potential  $\Phi$  inside of a transistor in a first step (for example [29–32]). This closed-form potential is then used in order to calculate other physical parameters, for example the DC drain current  $I_{ds}$ , without any recursions ( $V_{gs}, V_{ds} \rightarrow \Phi \rightarrow \ldots \rightarrow I_{ds}$ ).

The described compact model of this work is also based on potential models. This section describes the basics of the used potential models, starting with the fundamental Poisson's and Laplace equation in Sec. 2.1.1. There are two potential models that are used in different model extensions and which are introduced in this section, where the first one is a 1D potential model described in Sec. 2.1.2. The second potential model is based on the conformal mapping technique where its working principle is explained in Sec. 2.1.3, followed up by a special conformal mapping method that is called Schwarz Christoffel transformation in Sec. 2.1.4. Finally, a closed-form 2D potential model from [31–33] is introduced in Sec. 2.1.5 and an addition for considering accumulated charges in the channel is presented in Sec. 2.1.6.

## 2.1.1 Poisson's and Laplace Equation

One of the fundamental equations of the electrostatics is the Poisson equation which is given by:

$$\Delta \Phi(\vec{r}) = -\frac{\rho(\vec{r})}{\varepsilon},\tag{2.1}$$

and describes the relation between the electrostatic potential  $\Phi(\vec{r})$  and the space charge  $\rho(\vec{r})$ , both dependent on the position vector  $\vec{r}$ . In a 3D system the position vector can be represented by its three room coordinates  $\vec{r} = (x,y,z)$ . In Eq. (2.1), the parameter  $\varepsilon$  is the material's permittivity and  $\Delta$  is the so-called Laplace operator, which in case of 3D system and applied to an arbitrary function  $f(\vec{r})$ , is defined as:

$$\Delta f(\vec{r}) = \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2} f(x,y,z) + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial y^2} f(x,y,z) + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial z^2} f(x,y,z).$$
(2.2)

In case the Poisson equation is applied to a space charge free room ( $\rho = 0$ ), Eq. (2.1) can be simplified into:

$$\Delta \Phi(\vec{r}) = 0, \tag{2.3}$$

which is called Laplace equation (not to be confused with the Laplace operator).

Additionally, the electric field inside a region is defined as:

$$\vec{E}(\vec{r}) = -\nabla \Phi(\vec{r}) = -\begin{pmatrix} \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \\ \frac{\partial}{\partial y} \\ \frac{\partial}{\partial z} \end{pmatrix} \Phi(x, y, z), \qquad (2.4)$$

where  $\nabla$  is the nabla operator, defined as the derivation of the scalar field  $\Phi$  to all three room coordinates.

All equations, Eq. (2.1), Eq. (2.3), and Eq. (2.4) are essential for calculating the electrostatic Potential or the electric field inside semiconductor devices and are used in upcoming sections.

#### 2.1.2 Closed-Form Analytical 1D Potential

This firstly described potential model is a 1D / quasi 2D potential model which is summarized from the work of [34, 35]. This approach is done for 2D structures, like shown in Fig. 2.1 and uses the Poisson equation Eq. (2.1) for two dimensions. However, it neglects accumulated charge carriers and uses the doping concentration  $N_{\rm A}$  (acceptors in this case) only as space charge, which results in:

$$\Delta \Phi_{q2D}(x,y) = \frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2} \Phi_{q2D}(x,y) + \frac{\partial^2}{\partial y^2} \Phi_{q2D}(x,y) = \frac{qN_A}{\varepsilon_{sc}}.$$
 (2.5)

It uses a parabolic approximation of the potential in the y-direction (bulk-gate direction),



Figure 2.1: Primary transistor structure where the 1D potential model is derived for [34].

given by:

$$\Phi_{q2D}(x,y) \approx c_0(x) + c_1(x) \cdot y + c_2(x) \cdot y^2, \qquad (2.6)$$

where  $c_i$  are functions that are only x dependent. Additional assumptions are made for the boundary conditions in the derivation, given as the front-side (oxide-semiconductor interface) potential  $\Phi_{\rm frs}$  at y = 0:

$$\Phi_{\rm q2D}(x,0) = \Phi_{\rm frs}(x) = c_0(x), \tag{2.7}$$

the electric field at y = 0 which is determined by the gate-source voltage  $V'_{\rm gs} = V_{\rm gs} - V_{\rm fb}$ :

$$\left. \frac{\partial}{\partial y} \Phi_{q2D}(x,y) \right|_{y=0} = \frac{\varepsilon_{\text{ox}}}{\varepsilon_{\text{sc}}} \cdot \frac{\Phi_{\text{frs}}(x) - V_{\text{gs}}'}{t_{\text{ox}}} = c_1(x),$$
(2.8)

and the electric field at the bottom of the bulk:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial y}\Phi_{q2D}(x,y)\Big|_{y=t_{sc}} = \frac{\varepsilon_{ox}}{\varepsilon_{sc}} \cdot \frac{\Phi_{bs} - \Phi_{bks}(x)}{t_{box}} = c_1(x) + 2t_{ch} \cdot c_2(x) \approx 0,$$
(2.9)

with  $\Phi_{\text{bks}}$  as the backside (buried oxide-semiconductor interface) potential,  $\Phi_{\text{bs}}$  as the bulk potential, and  $t_{\text{box}}$  as the oxide layer thickness. As a simplification, the bulk is supposed to be floating so that Eq. (2.9) is set to zero. Using the Eq. (2.7), Eq. (2.8), and Eq. (2.9) with Eq. (2.6) and Eq. (2.5) leads to:

$$\Phi_{\rm q2D}(x) = \Phi_{\rm frs}(x) - V_{\rm gs}' + \frac{qN_{\rm A}}{\varepsilon_{\rm sc}} \cdot \lambda^2, \qquad (2.10)$$

and:

$$\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2} \Phi_{\rm q2D}(x) - \frac{1}{\lambda^2} \cdot \Phi_{\rm q2D}(x) = 0, \qquad (2.11)$$

with:

$$\lambda = \sqrt{\frac{\varepsilon_{\rm sc}}{\varepsilon_{\rm ox}} \cdot t_{\rm ox} t_{\rm ch}}.$$
(2.12)

The parameter  $\lambda$  is called natural length and depends on the device's structure. Equation (2.12) is an expression for a bulk MOSFET.

By using two additional boundary conditions for x = 0 and  $x = L_{ch}$ , as:

$$\Phi_{q2D}(0) = V_{s} = \Phi_{bi} - V'_{gs} + \frac{qN_{A}}{\varepsilon_{sc}} \cdot \lambda^{2}, \qquad (2.13)$$

and:

$$\Phi_{q2D}(L_{ch}) = V_{d} = V_{ds} + \Phi_{bi} - V'_{gs} + \frac{qN_A}{\varepsilon_{sc}} \cdot \lambda^2.$$
(2.14)

The boundary conditions use either the applied source  $V_{\rm s}$  or drain voltage  $V_{\rm d}$ . The device's built-in potential  $\Phi_{\rm bi}$ , used in the equations, is caused by source-channel or drain-channel material junction, and is explained in Sec. 2.4.1 for SBFETs. Using these conditions Eq. (2.13) and Eq. (2.14) with Eq. (2.11), solves to the final equation:

$$\Phi_{q2D}(x) = V'_{gs} + \frac{V_{b,s} \cdot p(L_{ch} - x) + V_{b,d} \cdot p(x)}{p(L_{ch})}, \qquad (2.15)$$

with:

$$p(x') = \exp\left(\frac{x'}{\lambda}\right) - \exp\left(-\frac{x'}{\lambda}\right),$$
 (2.16)

and the source / drain potential bending  $V_{\rm b,s/d} = \Phi_{\rm bi} - V'_{\rm gs} + V_{\rm s/d}$ . Besides the natural length given by Eq. (2.12), there are additional  $\lambda$  for other device structures. For example, [34] presents a solution for the natural length of a gate-all-around (GAA) structure, given as:

$$\lambda = \sqrt{\frac{\varepsilon_{\rm sc}}{2\varepsilon_{\rm ox}} \cdot t_{\rm ox} \cdot 2R_{\rm NW}}.$$
(2.17)

The solution  $\Phi_{q2D}(x)$  of Eq. (2.15) is used in Chapter 5. A more detailed derivation of this potential model can be found in [34].

12

#### 2.1 Potential Model

### 2.1.3 Conformal Mapping

There are various well-known solutions for electrostatic problems which can be applied on simplified or symmetric problems, like a plated capacitor, point charges in a room, or a very long cylindrical cable. However, in most applications the problem that has to be solved is not symmetrical and takes more effort to solve (in case it is analytically solvable at all). Figure 2.2 shows a schematic cross-section of a double gate (DG) transistor with three different potentials at the device's boundaries.



Figure 2.2: DG transistor structure represented in a complex plane, showing the applied bias potentials at the boundaries. The electrostatic potential inside the device is a function of the geometry and all applied bias potentials.

The shown problem is partially symmetric but solving it in a closed-form expression is still challenging. In order to solve a (full) 2D electrostatic potential ( $\Phi_{2D}(x,y)$ ) within such a device, the conformal mapping method can be used [36, 37]. In this method, the axes of a 2D problem (e.g. the transistor from Fig. 2.2) are represented in a complex plane, called the z-plane, with z = x + iy, where *i* is the imaginary unit [36]. The goal of the conformal mapping method is to find another complex 2D plane, the *w*-plane with w = u + iv, at which the mathematical problem is solvable, as well as a transformation method *f*, with f(z) = w [36].

# 2.1.4 Schwarz Christoffel Transformation

A special conformal mapping method has been worked on by *Schwarz* [38] and *Christoffel* [39, 40], which is often referred to as Schwarz Christoffel Transformation (SCT) and summarized in [36]. The SCT is a systematic transformation method which is used to map the inside region of a polygon described in a 2D plane z = x + iy to the upper half of a w = u + iv plane. Therefore, the outer edges of the polygon, traversed counterclockwise, are "opened up" on the *u*-axis of the *z*-plane. An example illustration is shown in Fig. 2.3. The SCT is mathematically



Figure 2.3: Example of a polygon, which is opened to the left side, (a) represented in the complex z-plane and (b) transformed on the u-axis of the complex w-plane. The images are taken from [33].

described by

14

$$z = f(w) = C_1 \cdot \int \prod_{i=1}^n (w - w_i)^{-\frac{\alpha_i}{\pi}} dw + C_2.$$
 (2.18)

In Eq. (2.18), every vertex of the z-plane polygon is represented by one factor, where n is the number of vertices. The coefficient  $w_i$  is the position of the vertices on the w-plane,  $\alpha_i$  is the corresponding counterclockwise angle change. The coefficient  $C_2$  is the offset of the z-plane and in case that the mapped polygon has two parallel edges which start / end at  $\infty$  (see Fig. 2.3),  $C_1$  can be expressed as:

$$C_1 = \frac{z_{\rm k}'' - z_{\rm k}'}{i\pi},\tag{2.19}$$

which is an important special case.

The SCT is used in the 2D potential model described in the upcoming section. An in-depth investigation of the SCT and the conformal mapping method is beyond the scope of this work. The author would kindly ask to refer to [36] for a more extensive view on this topic.

## 2.1.5 Closed-Form Analytical 2D Potential

This section briefly summarizes the closed-form 2D potential from [29, 33, 41, 42] by using the theory from Sec. 2.1.1, Sec. 2.1.3, and Sec. 2.1.4 as basis. A more detailed model derivation can be found in the mentioned references. The potential model presented in this section is derived for 2D DG device structures, as shown in Fig. 2.4(a), although a derivation for other structures (e.g. single gate devices) would be possible as well. It calculates a 2D potential  $\Phi_{2D}(x,y)$  inside the device's channel region (including the gate oxide regions), dependent on the coordinates x and y. The coordinate x is the source-to-drain direction, with x = 0 as source-channel junction and  $x = L_{ch}$  as drain-channel junction and y is the gate-to-gate direction, with y = 0 at one

gate to  $y = t_{\rm ch}$  at the opposing gate. The algorithm for obtaining  $\Phi_{\rm 2D}$  can be divided into four different steps which are explained one by one.

In a first step, the DG device is split up in the middle of the channel (at  $x = L_{ch}/2$ ), which results in two partial devices - the source side and the drain side. This is represented in Fig. 2.4(a). Both partial devices have a fixed starting point on the x-axis and for the calculation they are supposed to have an infinite length in the opposing x direction. This step, which is a good approximation in case of  $L_{ch} \gg t_{ch}$ , leads to a reduction of the calculations complexity when applying the SCT in a later step, because instead of an enclosed polygon with four corners (four-corner problem), the mathematical problem is split up into two polygons with two corners and open in one direction (two-corner problem). The upcoming two steps are solved for each partial device individually.

The second step is the equalization of the oxide's permittivity, which means that the permittivity for the oxide  $\varepsilon_{ox}$  is equalized to the semiconductor's permittivity  $\varepsilon_{sc}$ . This is done by calculating a transformed oxide thickness  $t'_{ox}$  by:

$$t'_{\rm ox} = \frac{\varepsilon_{\rm sc}}{\varepsilon_{\rm ox}} \cdot t_{\rm ox},\tag{2.20}$$

which is illustrated in Fig. 2.4(b). This equalization leads to a uniform distribution of the electric field and therefore, the electrostatic potential inside the device and prevents the necessity of a further device split up into oxide and channel regions.

In the third step, the SCT from Sec. 2.1.4 is applied, which is illustrated in Fig. 2.4(c). In this special case of the two-corner device structure, as shown in Fig. 2.4(c), the SCT Eq. (2.18) and Eq. (2.19) become:

$$z(w) = \frac{\Delta y}{\pi} \cosh^{-1}(w) = \frac{2t'_{\text{ox}} + t_{\text{ch}}}{\pi} \cosh^{-1}(w), \qquad (2.21)$$

where  $\Delta y$  is the distance of the two horizontal edges. Translated to the DG transistor it can be represented by  $\Delta y = 2t'_{\text{ox}} + t_{\text{ch}}$ . By reversing the transformation of Eq. (2.21) as

$$w(z) = f^{-1}(z) = \cosh\left(\frac{\pi(x+iy)}{2t'_{\rm ox} + t_{\rm ch}}\right),$$
(2.22)

an expression for the given two-corner problem for an arbitrary point which is at (x|y) inside the channel  $(t_{\text{ox}} \leq y \leq t_{\text{ox}} + t_{\text{ch}})$  can be stated as:

$$w_{\rm s}(x,y) = \cosh\left(\frac{\pi(x+iy)}{2t'_{\rm ox}+t_{\rm ch}}\right),\tag{2.23}$$

in the corresponding w-plane of the source-side transformation, and:

$$w_{\rm d}(x,y) = \cosh\left(\frac{\pi(L_{\rm ch} - x + iy)}{2t'_{\rm ox} + t_{\rm ch}}\right),\tag{2.24}$$

16





Figure 2.4: Various steps of the 2D potential model. (a): The transistor is split into two partial problems - a source and a drain related case, each represented in the complex z-plane. (b): The oxide thickness is adjusted, so the permittivity of the oxide matches the semiconductor's permittivity. (c): The partial devices are transformed, using the SCT, so the potential solution can be calculated in the complex w-plane.

#### 2.1 Potential Model

for the drain-side transformation. With Eq. (2.22) the positions 1', 1", 2 to 5 shown in Fig. 2.4(c) can be mapped and described by their x and y coordinates, as:

$$u'_{1'} = \cosh\left(\frac{\pi(3L_{\rm ch} + i(2t'_{\rm ox} + t_{\rm ch}))}{2t'_{\rm ox} + t_{\rm ch}}\right),\tag{2.25}$$

$$u_{2}' = \cosh\left(\frac{\pi(0 + i(2t_{\rm ox}' + t_{\rm ch}))}{2t_{\rm ox}' + t_{\rm ch}}\right),\tag{2.26}$$

$$u'_{3} = \cosh\left(\frac{\pi(0 + i(t'_{\text{ox}} + t_{\text{ch}}))}{2t'_{\text{ox}} + t_{\text{ch}}}\right),\tag{2.27}$$

$$u'_{4} = \cosh\left(\frac{\pi(0+it'_{\rm ox})}{2t'_{\rm ox}+t_{\rm ch}}\right),\tag{2.28}$$

$$u_5' = \cosh\left(\frac{\pi(0+i0)}{2t_{\rm ox}' + t_{\rm ch}}\right),\tag{2.29}$$

and:

$$u_{1''}' = \cosh\left(\frac{\pi(3L_{\rm ch} + i0)}{2t_{\rm ox}' + t_{\rm ch}}\right).$$
(2.30)

The term  $3L_{\rm ch}$  in Eq. (2.25) and Eq. (2.30) indicates that the point is far over  $L_{\rm ch}$  and is used instead of  $\infty$ .

The actual potential inside the w-plane is calculated by the Poisson integral:

$$\Phi(u,v) = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{v}{(u-u')^2 + v^2} \cdot \Phi_{\rm bnd}(u') \cdot du', \qquad (2.31)$$

where  $\Phi_{\text{bnd}}(u')$  is the Dirichlet boundary condition along the edge between two  $u'_{\text{i}}$ . These boundary conditions must be defined at the device's edges that are transformed onto the *u*-axis. Two types of boundary conditions are used. For constant boundary conditions,  $\Phi_{\text{bnd}}(u') = \Phi_{\text{const}}$ is used, leading to the Poisson integral:

$$\Phi_{\rm const}(u,v) = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{v}{(u-u')^2 + v^2} \cdot \Phi_{\rm const} \cdot du', \qquad (2.32)$$

which solves to:

$$\Phi_{\rm const}(u,v) = \left[ -\frac{\Phi_{\rm const} \cdot \tan^{-1}\left(\frac{u-u'}{v}\right)}{\pi} \right]_{u_{\rm a}}^{u_{\rm b}}.$$
(2.33)

For linear boundary conditions, using the electric field component  $E_y$ , the Poisson integral

2 Physical Effects and Basic Models

becomes:

$$\Phi_{\rm lin}(u,v) = \frac{1}{\pi} \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{v}{(u-u')^2 + v^2} \cdot E_{\rm y} \frac{\Delta y}{\pi} \cdot \cosh^{-1}(u) \cdot du', \qquad (2.34)$$

which needs to be simplified and solved. For the solution of Eq. (2.34) please refer to [29].

After applying the SCT and set up the equations for the potentials, the actual boundary conditions have to be defined at the device's edges in the next step. At these edges, boundary conditions are used, which are shown in Fig. 2.5. These boundaries are given as:

Gate 1 $(1" \text{ to } 2)$ :	$V_{\rm g} - V_{\rm fb} \ ({\rm constant})$
Oxide 1 (2 to 3):	linear function from Gate 1 to Source/Drain
Source/Drain $(3 \text{ to } 4)$ :	$V_{\rm s/d} + \Phi_{\rm bi}$ (constant)
Oxide 2 (4 to $5$ ):	linear function from Source/Drain to Gate 2
Gate 2 (5 to $1'$ ):	$V_{\rm g} - V_{\rm fb} \ ({\rm constant})$

In case of both gate boundaries, the applied gate voltage  $V_{\rm g}$  minus the gate material induced flatband voltage  $V_{\rm fb}$  is used. The source or drain boundary uses either the applied source  $V_{\rm s}$ or drain voltage  $V_{\rm d}$  plus the device's built-in potential  $\Phi_{\rm bi}$ , which is caused by source-channel or drain-channel material junction. The potential  $\Phi_{\rm bi}$  for SBFETs is explained in Sec. 2.4.1. Finally, for the oxide regions a linear potential drop is expected, which leads to a linear function as boundary condition, connecting the potential of the gates to the potential of the source/drain region.



Figure 2.5: Boundary potentials along the red path c at the device's edges, showing the constant and linear boundaries.

The last step performed in the 2D potential algorithm is superposing the calculated potentials. This is done by using Eq. (2.33) and Eq. (2.34) with the defined boundary conditions. First, the potentials per terminal / partial device are superposed, as:

$$\Phi_{2D,s}(x,y) = \Phi_{\text{const,Gate1}} + \Phi_{\text{const,Source}} + \Phi_{\text{const,Gate2}} + \Phi_{\text{lin,Oxide1}} + \Phi_{\text{lin,Oxide2}}, \qquad (2.35)$$

18

#### 2.1 Potential Model

for the source-related case and:

$$\Phi_{\rm 2D,d}(x,y) = \Phi_{\rm const,Drain} + \Phi_{\rm lin,Oxide1} + \Phi_{\rm lin,Oxide2}, \qquad (2.36)$$

for the drain-related case. Both partial potential solutions are then added together, as

$$\Phi_{2D}(x,y) = \Phi_{2D,s}(x,y) + \Phi_{2D,d}(x,y), \qquad (2.37)$$

for the final 2D potential. This superposition leads to the enclosed device solution and adds the impact of the drain terminal to the source side, as well as the source terminal to the drain side. By using Eq. (2.37) and the coordinates of an arbitrary point inside the device  $(x|y), 0 \le x \le L_{\rm ch}, t_{\rm ox} \le y \le t_{\rm ox} + t_{\rm ch}$ , the potential at this point  $\Phi_{\rm 2D}$  can be determined. A more extensive derivation and discussion about this model can be found in [29].

# 2.1.6 Consideration of Accumulated Charges

At high gate voltage charges will be accumulated inside a transistors channel, which lead to the transistor's charge-carrier transport, but also affect the potential inside the channel. These charges are usually (in case of a transistor using doped regions) referred to as inversion charges, but in case of SBFETs using intrinsic or lightly doped silicon as channel material, are more accurately named as accumulated charges, since the carrier type is not inverting in this case.

Accumulated charges inside the device's channel at the semiconductor-oxide interface lead to a reduction of the surface potential. However, the 2D potential model from Sec. 2.1.5 is based on the Laplace equation, neglecting space charges. Therefore, the accumulated charges need to be considered for a correctly behaving model at all bias voltages. For this, a model addition has been included which is introduced and described in the tunnel field-effect transistor model from [33], following and using approaches from [43–46].

For a proper integration of the accumulation effects into the 2D potential model, an expression for an effective gate-source voltage  $V_{\text{gs,eff,TFET}}$  is obtained, which replaces the actual gate-source voltage when using this model. This voltage  $V_{\text{gs,eff,TFET}}$  must be equal to  $V_{\text{gs}}$  at small biases, but saturate at about  $V_{\text{gs}} > V_{\text{ds}}$ , and is expressed as:

$$V_{\rm gs,eff,TFET}(V_{\rm gs}, V_{\rm ds}) = \frac{k_{\rm b}\vartheta}{q} \cdot u_{\rm s,3}, \qquad (2.38)$$

with the Boltzmann constant  $k_{\rm b}$ , the temperature  $\vartheta$  and the elementary charge q. The coefficient  $u_{\rm s,3}$  is the normalized surface potential, which cannot be obtained analytically, but is calculated using the Newton method on a proposed 1D Poisson equation, performing three iteration steps. The entire method is beyond the scope of this work. For the full derivation and discussion of this method, the author would like to refer to [33].

# 2.2 Charge-Based MOSFET Model

The current flowing through a SBFET is mainly dominated by the carrier injection over the device's SBs. However, in some cases it is necessary to consider the carrier transport inside a device's channel. This section introduces a simple MOSFET model that is needed for the SBFET/RFET model in later chapters.

In literature, there are a lot of different MOSFET compact models. A good overview of various models for undoped DG MOSFETs can be found in [47]. The model that is used in this work is a charge-based MOSFET model, given by:

$$I_{\rm DGMOSFET} = 2\mu \frac{W_{\rm ch}}{L_{\rm ch}} \cdot \left[ V_{\vartheta} \cdot \left( Q'_{\rm s} - Q'_{\rm d} \right) + \frac{{Q'}_{\rm s}^2 - {Q'}_{\rm d}^2}{2 \cdot C'_{\rm ox}} \right],$$
(2.39)

using the device geometries  $W_{\rm ch}$  and  $L_{\rm ch}$ , the carrier mobility  $\mu$  ( $\mu_{\rm n}$  in case of electrons and  $\mu_{\rm p}$  in case of holes), the oxide capacitance per gate area  $C_{\rm ox}$ , and the thermal voltage  $V_{\vartheta} = k_{\rm b}\vartheta/q$  [47, 48]. The charge densities per gate area can be calculated, according to [48], by:

$$Q'_{\rm s} = \frac{S}{\ln(10)} \cdot C'_{\rm ox} \cdot W_0 \left( \exp\left(\frac{V_{\rm gs} - V_{\rm T0}}{S/\ln(10)}\right) \right), \tag{2.40}$$

for the source-related charge density and:

$$Q'_{\rm d} = \frac{S}{\ln(10)} \cdot C'_{\rm ox} \cdot W_0 \left( \exp\left(\frac{V_{\rm gd} - V_{\rm T0}}{S/\ln(10)}\right) \right), \tag{2.41}$$

for the drain-related charge density. The given charge densities are dependent on the corresponding voltages, which are either  $V_{\rm gs}$  as the gate-source voltage or  $V_{\rm gd}$  as the gate-drain voltage. The parameter S and  $V_{\rm T0}$  are used as fitting parameters, which are the subthreshold swing S and the threshold voltage  $V_{\rm T0}$  of the device. The function  $W_0(x)$  is the principal branch of the Lambert W function, which is implicitly defined as:

$$W_0(x) \cdot \exp(W_0(x)) = x, \ W_0(x) \ge -1,$$
 (2.42)

and approximated in this work, by:

$$W_0(x) \approx \ln(1+x) \cdot \left(1 - \frac{\ln(1+\ln(1+x))}{2 + \ln(1+x)}\right),$$
 (2.43)

according to [49]. An extensive mathematical study on the Lambert W function can be found in [49].

The presented model is used in the document's main chapter for modeling the SBFETs' and RFETs' channel resistances.

2.3 Tunnel Effect

# 2.3 Tunnel Effect

One of the most important charge carrier transport mechanisms that is part of the SB devices' working principle is the so-called tunneling effect, which is an effect appearing in quantum mechanics. This section introduces some basics about quantum mechanics, the tunnel effect and discusses basic models for a mathematical description of carrier transport through tunneling. The following sub-sections are summarized from [50, 51] in case it is not noted differently.

### 2.3.1 Wave Function and Schrödinger Equation

In 1926 the physicist *Erwin Schrödinger* published his postulated wave equation [52, 53]. This equation, which got famous under the term of *Schrödinger equation* was a milestone in the field of theoretical quantum mechanics and has proven to be a valid approach for solving problems in the field of quantum mechanics until today. The Schrödinger equation can be represented in various forms. A common form of this equation is:

$$i\hbar\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\Psi(\vec{r},t) = \left(-\frac{\hbar^2}{2m}\Delta + U(\vec{r},t)\right)\Psi(\vec{r},t),$$
(2.44)

which describes a particle's behavior as wave function  $\Psi(\vec{r},t)$  dependent on the 3D position vector  $\vec{r} = (x,y,z)^{\mathrm{T}}$  and the time t. In Eq. (2.44),  $\hbar$  is the reduced Planck constant, mis the particle's mass, and  $\Delta$  is the Laplace operator given as the squared nabla operator  $\Delta = \nabla \cdot \nabla$ , which is  $\nabla = (\partial/\partial x, \partial/\partial y, \partial/\partial z)^{\mathrm{T}}$  in the 3D Cartesian coordinate system.  $U(\vec{r},t)$ is the environmental potential where the particle exists in (e.g. gravitational potential or electrostatic potential) and i is the imaginary unit (with  $i^2 = -1$ ). The wave function can be used to determine the probability of the particle being located at a certain position in a volume V at a certain time t, in case the normalization condition is met, given as:

$$P_{\text{particle in V}} = \int_{V} |\Psi(\vec{r})|^2 \cdot d^3r = 1.$$
 (2.45)

A simple application of the Schrödinger equation is the description of a free particle in a potential free environment  $(U(\vec{r},t)=0)$ . In this case, the common form of the wave function, given as

$$\Psi(\vec{r},t) = A_0 \cdot \exp\left(i(\vec{k}\cdot\vec{r}-\omega t)\right),\tag{2.46}$$

with the wave function's amplitude  $A_0$ , the wave vector  $\vec{k}$ , and the angular frequency  $\omega$ , it can be used to solve Eq. (2.44). Therefore, Eq. (2.46) can be derived as:

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t}\Psi(\vec{r},t) = -A_0 \cdot i\omega \cdot \exp\left(i(\vec{k}\cdot\vec{r}-\omega t)\right),\tag{2.47}$$

22

2 Physical Effects and Basic Models

and

$$\Delta \Psi(\vec{r},t) = -A_0 \cdot |\vec{k}|^2 \cdot \exp\left(i(\vec{k}\cdot\vec{r}-\omega t)\right).$$
(2.48)

Using Eq. (2.47) and Eq. (2.48) in Eq. (2.44) leads to  $|\vec{k}|^2 = 2m \cdot \omega/\hbar$ , which matches the *de* Broglie relations for the particle's impulse  $\vec{p} = \hbar \cdot \vec{k}$  and energy  $\mathcal{E} = \hbar \cdot \omega = |\vec{p}|/(2m)$ .

# 2.3.2 Tunneling Probability

One essential mechanism for the device's discussed in this work is the quantum mechanical tunnel effect, which can only be explained by quantum physics. Since most of the tunneling problems that need to be discussed in this work deal with tunneling in only one direction (for transistors the source-drain direction), it is a legit simplification to describe the problem only in one dimension, so instead of  $\vec{r}$  only x is used. In classical particle physics, it would be only possible for a particle to overcome an energy barrier in case the particles energy  $\mathcal{E}$  was higher that the barrier  $U_0$  or be reflected from the barrier in case of  $\mathcal{E} < U_0$ . By describing particles as waves, the wave theory offers the possibility that an incoming wave  $\psi_i$  partially passes an energy barrier (transmission), leading to a reduced amplitude of the transmitted wave  $\psi_t$ , and a second wave that is the reflected wave  $\psi_r$  in the opposing direction of the incoming wave with the "missing" amplitude. This is demonstrated in Fig. 2.6. Figure 2.6 breaks the



Figure 2.6: Particle as incoming plane wave  $\psi_i$  hitting an energy barrier, which results in a reflected wave  $\psi_r$  and a transmitted wave  $\psi_t$ . The image is taken from [33].

*x*-axis into the two regions I and II with their corresponding wave functions  $\psi_{\rm I} = \psi_{\rm i} + \psi_{\rm r}$  and  $\psi_{\rm II} = \psi_{\rm t}$ . According to the normalization condition of Eq. (2.45), the absolute squared wave function is measure of probability to find the described particle at a certain position. With this dependency, a coefficient can be expressed that describes the probability of a single particle described as wave to tunnel through an arbitrary energy barrier, as

$$T = \frac{|\psi_{\rm t}|^2}{|\psi_{\rm i}|^2}.$$
 (2.49)

2.3 Tunnel Effect

In this case T is called the tunneling probability or transmission probability, which is dependent on the shape and height of the energy barrier and the initial particle's energy.

For a mathematical description, Eq. (2.44) is used again, but in a simplified version. The equation:

$$\left(-\frac{\hbar^2}{2m}\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2} + U(x)\right)\psi(x) = \mathcal{E}\cdot\psi(x),\tag{2.50}$$

is the one-dimensional and time-independent Schrödinger equation, with  $\mathcal{E}$  as the particle's initial energy and  $\psi(x)$  as the time-independent part of the wave function with the relation  $\Psi(x,t) = \psi(x) \cdot \exp(-i\mathcal{E}t/\hbar)$ . This results in the corresponding time-independent wave equation for a free particle (in case of U(x) = 0):

$$\psi(x) = A_0 \cdot \exp\left(ik \cdot x\right),\tag{2.51}$$

where k is the wave number, representing a scalar parameter instead of a vector, given as:

$$k = \sqrt{\frac{2m \cdot \mathcal{E}}{\hbar^2}}.$$
(2.52)

## 2.3.2.1 Tunneling Through Rectangular Barriers

An analytically solvable example of the tunneling probability is a tunneling process through a rectangular energy barrier, as shown in Fig. 2.7. In order to obtain an expression for the



Figure 2.7: Particle as wave with the energy  $\mathcal{E}$  tunneling through a rectangular energy barrier with the height  $U_0$  and the thickness W. The image is taken from [33].

tunneling probability at the rectangular barrier  $T_{\rm rect}$ , Eq. (2.49) is used with the incoming

plane wave given as  $\psi_i(x) = A_i \cdot \exp(ik_1 \cdot x)$ , the reflected wave  $\psi_r(x) = A_r \cdot \exp(-ik_1 \cdot x)$ , and the transmitted wave given as  $\psi_t(x) = A_t \cdot \exp(ik_1 \cdot x)$ , according to Eq. (2.51) and Eq. (2.52). The wave function inside the barrier  $\psi_b$  (between regions I and II) needs to be described by the Schrödinger equation Eq. (2.50), as

$$\left(-\frac{\hbar^2}{2m}\frac{\partial^2}{\partial x^2} + (U_0 - \mathcal{E})\right)\psi_{\rm b}(x) = 0, \qquad (2.53)$$

where  $U_0$  is the constant barrier height. In case of  $\mathcal{E} < U_0$ , the equation:

$$\psi_{\rm b}(x) = C_1 \cdot \exp(k_2 \cdot x) + C_2 \cdot \exp(-k_2 \cdot x),$$
 (2.54)

with:

$$k_2 = \frac{\sqrt{2m \cdot (U_0 - \mathcal{E})}}{\hbar},\tag{2.55}$$

is a solution of Eq. (2.53)

With the discussed partial wave functions in both regions  $\psi_I = \psi_i + \psi_r$  and  $\psi_{II} = \psi_t$ , as well as  $\psi_b$  inside the energy barrier, a total wave function can be expressed, as:

$$\psi(x) = \begin{cases} A_{i} \cdot \exp(ik_{1} \cdot x) + A_{r} \cdot \exp(-ik_{1} \cdot x), & x < x_{1} \\ C_{1} \cdot \exp(k_{2} \cdot x) + C_{2} \cdot \exp(-k_{2} \cdot x), & x_{1} < x < x_{2} \\ A_{t} \cdot \exp(ik_{1} \cdot x), & x > x_{2} \end{cases}$$
(2.56)

In order to find a way to determine the tunneling probability  $T_{\rm rect}$  using Eq. (2.49), as:

$$T_{\rm rect} = \frac{|\psi_{\rm t}|^2}{|\psi_{\rm i}|^2} = \frac{|A_{\rm t} \cdot \exp\left(ik_1 \cdot x\right)|^2}{|A_{\rm i} \cdot \exp\left(ik_1 \cdot x\right)|^2} = \frac{|A_{\rm t}|^2}{|A_{\rm i}|^2},\tag{2.57}$$

the coefficients  $A_i$ ,  $A_r$ ,  $C_1$ ,  $C_2$ ,  $A_t$  of Eq. (2.56) need to be related to each other. This is done by fulfilling the steadiness conditions of  $\psi(x)$  and  $d\psi(x)/dx$  at  $x = x_1$  and  $x = x_2$ .

This calculation is not performed here but can be found in various publications (e.g. [50]). Following [50], Eq. (2.57) solves into:

$$T_{\rm rect} = \frac{1}{1 + \frac{1}{4}\eta^2 \sinh^2(k_2 \cdot W)},$$
(2.58)

with

$$\eta = \frac{k_2}{k_1} - \frac{k_1}{k_2}.\tag{2.59}$$

## 2.3.2.2 Tunneling Through Triangular Barriers

In the previous section, an exact and analytical way of calculating the tunneling probability for a rectangular barrier is shown. This however is only possible due to the simplicity of the barrier's shape. Usually, it is not possible to find a closed-form solution without any approximation for

24

#### 2.3 Tunnel Effect

more complex barrier shapes than the rectangular shape. Figure 2.8 shows an example for a tunneling process through a triangular barrier. A very commonly used approximation to



Figure 2.8: Particle as wave with the energy  $\mathcal{E}$  tunneling through a triangular energy barrier. The image is taken from [33].

calculate the tunneling probability through non-rectangular barriers is the approach by *Kramers* [54], using the work from *Wentzel* [55] and *Brillouin* [56], which is commonly be referred to as Wentzel-Kramers-Brillouin (WKB) approximation. The basic idea of this approximation is to use the solutions Eq. (2.54), Eq. (2.55) from the rectangular barrier in Eq. (2.50) and treat the potential  $U_0$  as it was (almost) constant. In this approach, the wave number inside the tunneling barrier is represented by:

$$k_2(x) = \frac{\sqrt{2m \cdot (\mathcal{E} - U(x))}}{\hbar},$$
(2.60)

and it is estimated that the wave's argument can be described in infinitesimally small phase parts, which lead to the integral:

$$\psi_{\rm b}(x) = \psi_{\rm b}(x_0) \cdot \exp\left(\pm i \int\limits_{x}^{x_0} k_2(x') dx'\right),$$
(2.61)

Since it makes no sense that a wave's wavelength  $\lambda = 2\pi/k$  changes (quickly) along the *x*-axis, the WKB approximation is only valid in case that the potential  $U_x$  and therefore, the wave number k varies very slowly so the condition:

$$\left|\frac{d\lambda}{dx}\right| \ll 1,\tag{2.62}$$

is fulfilled [50]. A mathematical derivation of the WKB approximation is not discussed further in this work but can be found for example in [51].

The tunneling probability of the WKB method can be written as:

$$T_{\rm WKB} = \frac{|\psi_{\rm t}|^2}{|\psi_{\rm i}|^2} = \left| \frac{\exp\left(i\int_{-\infty}^{x_2} k_2(x')dx'\right)}{\exp\left(i\int_{-\infty}^{x_1} k_2(x')dx'\right)} \right|^2 = \left| \exp\left(i\int_{x_1}^{x_2} k_2(x')dx'\right) \right|^2$$
(2.63)
$$= \exp\left(2i\int_{x_1}^{x_2} k_2(x')dx'\right) = \exp\left(-\frac{2}{\hbar}\int_{x_1}^{x_2} \sqrt{2m \cdot (U(x') - \mathcal{E})}dx'\right),$$

In the next step, the WKB approximation is applied on a triangular energy barrier, as shown in Fig. 2.8. This barrier is mathematically described as:

$$U(x) = -\frac{U(x_1) - \mathcal{E}}{x_2 - x_1} \cdot (x - x_2) + \mathcal{E}.$$
 (2.64)

Using Eq. (2.64) in Eq. (2.63) and solving the integral leads to:

$$T_{\text{WKB}}(\mathcal{E}) = \exp\left(-\frac{4}{3\hbar} \cdot \sqrt{2m \cdot (U(x_1) - \mathcal{E})} \cdot (x_2 - x_1)\right)$$
  
=  $\exp\left(-\frac{4}{3\hbar} \cdot \sqrt{2m \cdot (U_0 - \mathcal{E})} \cdot (t_{\text{tun}}(\mathcal{E}))\right),$  (2.65)

valid at  $\mathcal{E} < U_0$ , with the maximum barrier height  $U_0$  at  $x_1$ , and the tunneling thickness at the given particle energy  $t_{tun}(\mathcal{E})$ .

# 2.3.3 Tunneling of Charge Carriers

In the previous sections the tunneling probability was determined for arbitrary particles which are described by wave functions. For electronic devices that rely on the tunnel effect as transport mechanism, like SBFETs, the tunneling particles are electrons or holes, which make up the charge-carrier current. This section shows two basic models that use the tunneling probability of an arbitrary barrier in order to calculate a tunneling current density. Additionally, Sec. 2.3.3.3 qualitatively describes a wave-based numerical method used to calculate the current transmission through energy barriers.

2.3 Tunnel Effect

#### 2.3.3.1 Tsu-Esaki Tunnel Equation

The Tsu-Esaki tunnel model approach [57, 58] can be used to determine a current density given by tunneling charge carriers from a region I to a second region II. For the derivation shown in this section, both [33, 59] are used as references.

The tunneling current density  $J_{tun}$  is described as a balance of charge carriers tunneling from region I to region II  $(J_{I \to II})$  and those tunneling backwards  $(J_{II \to I})$ , as:

$$J_{\rm tun} = J_{\rm I \to II} - J_{\rm II \to I}. \tag{2.66}$$

As shown in [59], the current components can be represented as:

$$J_{\mathrm{I}\to\mathrm{II}} = \frac{4\pi \cdot q \cdot m^*}{h^3} \cdot \int_{\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{min}}}^{\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{max}}} T(\mathcal{E}) \cdot d\mathcal{E} \cdot \int_{0}^{\infty} f_{\mathrm{I}}(\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{tot}}) \left(1 - f_{\mathrm{II}}(\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{tot}})\right) \cdot d\mathcal{E}_{\rho} , \qquad (2.67)$$

and:

$$J_{\mathrm{II}\to\mathrm{I}} = \frac{4\pi \cdot q \cdot m^*}{h^3} \cdot \int_{\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{min}}}^{\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{max}}} T(\mathcal{E}) \cdot d\mathcal{E} \cdot \int_{0}^{\infty} f_{\mathrm{II}}(\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{tot}}) \left(1 - f_{\mathrm{I}}(\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{tot}})\right) \cdot d\mathcal{E}_{\rho} , \qquad (2.68)$$

respectively, with the effective mass of the charge carrier  $m^*$ , the elementary charge q and the Planck constant h. In the given equations,  $\mathcal{E}$  is the transversal energy component (in direction of the tunnel process). The carriers' longitudinal energy  $\mathcal{E}_{\rho}$  is the energy component related to the longitudinal wave-components of the carrier, where the total carrier's energy can be expressed as  $\mathcal{E}_{tot} = \mathcal{E} + \mathcal{E}_{\rho}$ . The inner integral over all longitudinal energies contains the product of the Fermi distribution functions, describing the filled electron states in region I as  $f_{I}(\mathcal{E}_{tot})$  and the free electron states in region II as  $(1 - f_{II}(\mathcal{E}_{tot}))$ . The outer integral contains the tunneling probability  $T(\mathcal{E})$ , which can be calculated for example by using Eq. (2.63). The boundaries  $\mathcal{E}_{min}$  and  $\mathcal{E}_{max}$  are the minimum and maximum energies of the tunneling barriers (e.g. the top and the bottom of a SB).

By using Eq. (2.67) and Eq. (2.68) in Eq. (2.66), it can be expressed as:

$$J_{\rm tun} = \frac{4\pi \cdot q \cdot m^*}{h^3} \cdot \int_{\mathcal{E}_{\rm min}}^{\mathcal{E}_{\rm max}} T(\mathcal{E}) \cdot d\mathcal{E} \cdot \int_{0}^{\infty} (f_{\rm I}(\mathcal{E}_{\rm tot}) - f_{\rm II}(\mathcal{E}_{\rm tot})) \cdot d\mathcal{E}_{\rho} \,.$$
(2.69)

The changed inner integral of Eq. (2.69) is called supply function  $N(\mathcal{E})$ , written as:

$$N(\mathcal{E}) = \int_{0}^{\infty} (f_{\mathrm{I}}(\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{tot}}) - f_{\mathrm{II}}(\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{tot}})) \cdot d\mathcal{E}_{\rho} \,.$$
(2.70)

28

#### 2 Physical Effects and Basic Models

Using the Fermi distribution function:

$$f(\mathcal{E}) = \frac{1}{1 + \exp\left(\frac{\mathcal{E} - E_{\rm f}}{k_{\rm b}\vartheta}\right)},\tag{2.71}$$

the Eq. (2.70) can be solved to:

$$N(\mathcal{E}) = k\vartheta \cdot \ln\left[\frac{1 + \exp\left(-\frac{\mathcal{E} - E_{\rm f,I}}{k_{\rm b}\vartheta}\right)}{1 + \exp\left(-\frac{\mathcal{E} - E_{\rm f,II}}{k_{\rm b}\vartheta}\right)}\right],\tag{2.72}$$

with  $E_{\rm f,I}$  and  $E_{\rm f,II}$  as the Fermi energy levels in the two regions, the Boltzmann constant  $k_{\rm b}$  and the temperature  $\vartheta$ .

With the supply function the Tsu-Esaki tunneling equation can be stated as:

$$J_{\rm tun} = \frac{4\pi \cdot q \cdot m^*}{h^3} \cdot \int_{\mathcal{E}_{\rm min}}^{\mathcal{E}_{\rm max}} T(\mathcal{E}) \cdot N(\mathcal{E}) \cdot d\mathcal{E} \,.$$
(2.73)

For a more detailed derivation of the equation, please refer to [33, 59].

#### 2.3.3.2 Sze-Chang Tunnel Equation

The tunnel current model proposed by Sze and Chang, which is described in [6, 60], is used to describe the tunneling charge carriers through SBs. The model is proposed as:

$$J_{\mathrm{I}\to\mathrm{II}} = \frac{A^{**}\vartheta^2}{k_{\mathrm{b}}\vartheta} \cdot \int_{\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{min}}}^{\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{max}}} f_{\mathrm{I}}(\mathcal{E}) \cdot T(\mathcal{E}) \cdot [1 - f_{\mathrm{II}}(\mathcal{E})] \cdot d\mathcal{E} , \qquad (2.74)$$

where only one tunneling direction (from region I to region II) is considered in the equation. The boundaries  $\mathcal{E}_{\min}$  and  $\mathcal{E}_{\max}$  are the minimum and maximum energies of the tunneling barriers,  $f_{\rm I}(\mathcal{E})$  represent the filled electron states in region I and  $(1 - f_{\rm II}(\mathcal{E}))$  represent the free electron states in region II. The constant  $k_{\rm b}$  is the Boltzmann constant,  $\vartheta$  is the temperature and  $A^{**}$ is, dependent on the used model variation, either the Richardson constant or an expression from the thermionic-emission-diffusion theory by Crowell and Sze [6, 61].

Although, this approach neglects some parts compared to the Tsu-Esaki approach from Sec. 2.3.3.1, for example the backwards current  $J_{II \rightarrow I}$  or the longitudinal energy components, it has been shown in [6, 29, 62] that the approach can be used for a compact model description of the tunneling current at SBs.

2.4 Physical Description of Schottky Barriers

## 2.3.3.3 Non-Equilibrium Green's Function Method

Another method used to describe the transmission of charge carriers through a transistor, also considering tunneling barriers, is the so-called non-equilibrium Green's function (NEGF) Method. This method is a wave-based approach which separates the simulated device into different regions, where the so-called Hamiltonian of any region is represented in a matrix [63]. The resulting system is solved with the Green's function in order obtain a transmission coefficient  $T_{\text{NEGF}}$ , which can be used to calculate the device current [63]. The NEGF method is not used for calculations in this work, but it is used to explain the approach in Sec. 5.3.1, so a more in-depth discussion on the topic is omitted. For more details on the mathematical and physical details of the NEGF method the author would like to refer to [63–65].

# 2.4 Physical Description of Schottky Barriers

In the last section of this chapter, the physics of SBs are discussed. A SB is an energy barrier for charge carriers that forms as a result of a metal to semiconductor junction. This section explains the formation of SBs and the charge carrier injection mechanisms and reviews some of the well-known physical descriptions.

# 2.4.1 Band Diagram Construction

An energy band diagram of this junction for a material combination of nickel silicide (as metal) and silicon (as semiconductor) is shown in Fig. 2.9. In the state of Fig. 2.9(a) both



**Figure 2.9:** Band diagram of a material junction between nickel silicide as metal and silicon as semiconductor. (a) shows the band diagrams of the individual materials without contact. (b) shows band diagram of both materials in contact and in thermal equilibrium.

materials without contact are shown, with the metal's Fermi energy  $E_{\rm f} = E_{\rm f,m}$  at the left

30

side and the semiconductor with its band diagram parameters at the right side.  $E_{\rm f} = E_{\rm fi}$ is the semiconductor's intrinsic Fermi energy,  $E_{\rm C}$  and  $E_{\rm V}$  are the conduction and valence band energies, respectively, and the band gap  $E_{\rm g}$  denotes their distance.  $E_{\rm vac}$  is the vacuum energy level with  $q\Phi_{\rm m} = E_{\rm vac} - E_{\rm f,m}$  as the metal's work function and  $q\chi = E_{\rm vac} - E_{\rm C}$  as the semiconductors electron affinity. As they are contacting each other (shown in Fig. 2.9(b)), the material combination reaches the thermal equilibrium and therefore, the Fermi energy  $E_{\rm f}$ is constant along the entire structure. The steadiness condition of the  $E_{\rm vac}$  leads to a space charge region ( $t_{\rm scr}$ ) close to the metal-semiconductor junction and a band bending inside that region. The band bending results in the shown SB heights for electrons  $q \cdot \Phi_{\rm B,n0}$  and for holes  $q \cdot \Phi_{\rm B,p0}$ , respectively. The SB heights can be calculated by using the material parameters, as:

$$q\Phi_{\mathrm{B},\mathrm{n0}} = q\Phi_{\mathrm{m}} - q\chi,\tag{2.75}$$

for electrons and:

$$q\Phi_{\rm B,p0} = E_{\rm g} - q\Phi_{\rm B,n0},$$
 (2.76)

for holes. The built-in potential  $\Phi_{bi}$  determines the potential change over the space charge region and can be determined by:

$$q\Phi_{\rm bi} = (E_{\rm C} - E_{\rm f}) - q\Phi_{\rm B,n0} \approx \frac{E_{\rm g}}{2} - q\Phi_{\rm B,n0}.$$
 (2.77)

# 2.4.2 Charge Carrier Transport over Schottky Barriers

The existence of a SB inside a device results in a blocking mechanism for charge carriers. Figure 2.10 shows the Schottky junction of Fig. 2.9(b) with a positive applied voltage at the semiconductor region (Fig. 2.10). There are two ways for charge carriers to pass a SB. Charge carriers with a reasonably high thermal energy can overcome the SB, which is shown as purple arrow in Fig. 2.10. This transport mechanism is called thermionic emission (TE). A second way for charge carriers to pass the barrier is by tunneling through it, in case the thickness of the barrier is thin enough. This transport mechanism is called field emission (FE) and is indicated by the green arrow in Fig. 2.10. There is also the possible combination of both mechanisms where carriers with high thermal energy can tunnel through the barrier above the metal's work function (thermionic field emission).

#### 2.4.2.1 Thermionic Emission

The TE theory, which can be found for example in [2, 6, 7], is a state-of-the-art theory used to describe a charge carrier transport over an energy/potential barrier. Due to the thermal energy of a charge carrier and the Fermi statistics, it can overcome an arbitrary potential barrier  $\Phi_{\text{bar}}$ , if the temperature is bigger than zero Kelvin and the barrier height is much bigger than  $k_{\text{b}}\vartheta$ . The amount of the carriers overcoming the barrier is exponentially dropping with the barrier

#### 2.4 Physical Description of Schottky Barriers



Figure 2.10: Biased SB with a positive potential difference from semiconductor to metal region. The injection electron currents from metal into the semiconductor are shown, where  $J_{\text{TE},n}$  is the electron thermionic emission current and  $J_{\text{FE},n}$  is the electron field emission current. The currents from the semiconductor into the metal region are neglected in this figure. Normally, in the space charge region, the Fermi energy would split up into two quasi-Fermi energies for each carrier type. To keep the graphic simple, this has been neglected.

height  $\Phi_{\text{bar}}$ . The shape of the energy does not matter, as long as the barrier width reasonably small, so the carrier's drift-diffusion behavior inside the barrier region can be neglected.

The TE current density for a charge carrier overcoming an energy barrier from one region into another in a device's thermal equilibrium condition can be expressed by:

$$J_{\mathrm{TE},0} = A^* \cdot \vartheta^2 \cdot \exp\left(-\frac{q \cdot \Phi_{\mathrm{bar}}}{k_{\mathrm{b}}\vartheta}\right).$$
(2.78)

In thermal equilibrium it needs to be considered that the TE current density from one region I to second region II over an energy barrier needs to be as big as the reverse current density  $(J_{\text{TE},0} = J_{\text{TE},0,\text{I}\to\text{II}} = J_{\text{TE},0,\text{I}\to\text{I}})$ , in order to prevent a net current flow. The parameter  $A^*$  in Eq. (2.78) is the Richardson constant, given as:

$$A^* = \frac{qm^*k_{\rm b}^2}{2\pi^2 \cdot \hbar^3}.$$
 (2.79)

The coefficients of Eq. (2.78) and Eq. (2.79) are the Boltzmann constant  $k_{\rm b}$ , the temperature  $\vartheta$ , the elementary charge q, the reduced Planck constant  $\hbar$  and the charge carriers' effective mass inside the material  $m^*$ .

As soon as an external voltage V is applied over the energy barrier, the current density increases exponentially with the applied voltage, by:

$$J_{\rm TE} = J_{\rm TE,0} \cdot \exp\left(\frac{q \cdot V}{k_{\rm b}\vartheta} - 1\right).$$
(2.80)

Equation (2.80) is a well-known equation that is used to calculate the current density for

## 32

Schottky diodes, for instance. It can also be used to calculate the TE current for SBFETs, which will be part of the modeling chapters.

## 2.4.2.2 Field Emission

The FE current contribution is the part of the total injection current that is made up by charge-carriers tunneling through the SB. The FE current is shown as green arrow in Fig. 2.10. In contrast to the TE current from Sec. 2.4.2.1, there is no closed-form mathematical expression for the FE current contribution. In order to calculate the FE current contribution, either an approach like those shown in Sec. 2.3.3 can be used and solved numerically (this is part of the work in [62]), or some simplifications and approximations have to be done for being able to solve the equations analytically. The second method is one of the main parts of this work's compact modeling attempts and is discussed in the main modeling chapters 4 to 6.

In some works, there is a distinction between the FE current given as direct tunneling process at the metal's Fermi energy level  $E_{\rm f,m}$  and a mixed thermionic field emission current as a term for tunneling carriers which have a higher thermal energy than  $E_{\rm f,m}$ . This distinction is not made in this work, so every current contribution related to a tunneling process through the SB is called FE current.

# 2.4.3 Image-Force Lowering

Although the effect is not used in the compact model discussed in this work, as an additional effect at SBs, the Schottky barrier lowering (SBL) or image-force lowering effect shall be briefly discussed in this section, according to [6]. In case of the presence of an electric field over a SB, causing electrons to be injected over the SB in the semiconductor, a positive image charge will accumulate at the SB on the metal surface. The force (called image force) between the electron and the image charge causes an additional electric field  $\vec{E}_{img}$  which counteracts the external field. This electric field causes a potential drop  $\Delta \Phi$  over the SB, which leads to a reduced SB height and a change of the SB's curvature. As derived in [6], the SB height reduction can be expressed as:

$$\Delta \Phi = \sqrt{\frac{q \cdot |\vec{E}_{img}|}{4\pi\varepsilon_{\rm sc}}},\tag{2.81}$$

leading to a reduced SB height of:

$$\Phi_{\mathrm{B,n}} = \Phi_{\mathrm{B,n0}} - \Delta \Phi, \qquad (2.82)$$

in case of electrons. This effect works similarly for holes. Since the SBL effect has been neglected in this work,  $\Delta \Phi = 0$  for this work, resulting in  $\Phi_{B,n} = \Phi_{B,n0}$ . For a further analysis and more information of the SBL effect, please refer to [6].

# CHAPTER 3

**Device Working Principles** 

After the fundamentals, presented in the previous chapters, this chapter introduces the covered devices and their working principle in more detail. The given explanations in this chapter are supported by TCAD device simulation results that have been performed on these transistors. The simulations and used parameters are briefly described in Sec. 3.1. After this, the SBFET is discussed in Sec. 3.2. In Sec. 3.3, using the basics of the SBFET, the RFET is introduced and explained. Finally, Sec. 3.4 shortly describes and reviews several compact models for SBFETs or RFETs.

# 3.1 TCAD Simulation Parameters

The explanation in this chapter is supported by a TCAD simulation studies of SBFET / RFET devices. The results of these simulations are shown as figures containing device characteristics or energy band diagrams. For running the simulation with TCAD Sentaurus, the devices use silicon as channel material with an oxide made of SiO<sub>2</sub>, nickel silicide as source and drain metal and titanium as gate electrode material. The performed simulations are calibrated to the results of [66, 67], so some default parameters like metal work functions and tunnel masses haven been slightly adjusted, as shown in Tab. 3.1. In the simulation the device is simulated as cylindrical nanowire and the Nonlocal Mesh (NLM) together with the NLM tunneling model are used at the source and drain side of the device, in order to simulate tunneling charge carriers through the SB [28]. The simulation parameters can be found in Tab. 3.1, which is valid for all shown results in this chapter unless it is noted differently in some sections. If a parameter is not mentioned in the table, it is kept as default (see [28]).

The parameter  $L_{CG/PG}$  refers to the control gate and program gate lengths and is only applicable to the simulated RFETs.

Parameter	Value
$L_{\rm ch} \ [\rm nm]$	220
$R_{\rm NW}$ [nm]	6
$t_{\rm ox}  [{\rm nm}]$	8
$L_{\rm CG/PG}$ [nm]	50
$\mu_{\rm n}  [{\rm cm}^2  {\rm V}^{-1}  {\rm s}^{-1}]$	1417
$\mu_{\rm p}  [{\rm cm}^2  {\rm V}^{-1}  {\rm s}^{-1}]$	471
$\mu_{\rm tn}  [{\rm cm}^2  {\rm V}^{-1}  {\rm s}^{-1}]$	0.05
$\mu_{\rm tp}  [{\rm cm}^2  {\rm V}^{-1}  {\rm s}^{-1}]$	0.05
m <sub>n</sub> [-]	0.252
m <sub>p</sub> [-]	0.202
$E_{\rm g,Si}$ [eV]	1.16964
$\Phi_{\rm m,Ti}$ [V]	4.63
$\Phi_{ m m,NiSi}$ [V]	4.65

 Table 3.1: Parameters used in the TCAD simulations

# 3.2 Schottky Barrier Field-Effect Transistor Working Principle

With the knowledge of SBs, their properties and working principle, discussed in the previous chapter, the SBFET is an electronic device that is relying on the existence on those. In classic MOSFET application, a transistor's (drain) current is controlled by pn-junctions, blocking the current flow in the device's off-state, and a conductive accumulation/inversion channel occurring in the device's on-state. Unlike this MOSFET working principle, the SBFET uses SBs at the source and drain side of the device in order to block the device current in the off-state. By biasing the device's gate electrode, the SBs become thinner due to the band bending and therefore, more conductive. This section explains the structure, working principle and electrical properties of SBFETs.

# 3.2.1 Device Structure

The SBFET consists of a metal-semiconductor-metal material combination in source-drain direction. The metallic source and drain regions connecting to the semiconductor channel lead to a SB at the source-channel and the drain-channel interface. The SBFET's channel is covered by an oxide and the gate electrode, that controls the current flow. The form of how the gate covers the channel is generally not predefined, which means that a SBFET can have a single top gate (as in classic MOSFET application), a double gate structure (which is a more theoretical device), or a structure with a higher gate control, similar to FinFET or gate-all-around nanowire structures. Figure 3.1(a) shows a schematic 2D-cross-sectional structure of a SBFET and Fig. 3.2 shows a 3D example of a SBFET. The compact model for SBFETs, which is introduced in Chap. 4, uses a DG structure device (see Fig. 3.2(a)), while real devices usually are GAA nanowire or similar structures [11, 68].

34

3.2 Schottky Barrier Field-Effect Transistor Working Principle

Figure 3.1(b) shows the band diagram of the simulated SBFET in source-to-drain direction with no bias voltages applied. The given figure shows the most important band diagram related parameters of the device.  $E_{\rm g}$  is the bandgap of the channel's semiconductor material,  $\Phi_{\rm B,n}$  is the SB height for electrons and  $\Phi_{\rm B,p}$  is the SB height for holes. In the shown example of Fig. 3.1(b) the slight initial band bending is caused by the SBs' built-in potential (see Sec. 2.4.1).



**Figure 3.1:** (a) schematic cross-section of a nanowire or double gate SBFET with its geometric parameters, and (b) example band diagram of the SBFET in thermal equilibrium (unbiased).



**Figure 3.2:** Possible schematic 3D shapes of the SBFET showing the different regions. The S/D are the source and drain regions and G is the gate electrode. The brown colored regions are the oxide regions and yellow is the semiconductor channel. (a) shows a DG structure which is extended in the width-direction. This structure is used in the compact model of Chapter 4, but usually not for real devices. (b) shows the source-side section of a gate-all-around nanowire SBFET, which is a more realistic device structure.

# 3.2.2 Working Principle and Characteristics

The I/V-characteristics of a SBFET can be split into three parts. An example transfer curve is shown in Fig. 3.3. The given transfer curve shows such a transistor for  $V_{\rm ds} > 0$  V which means it operates in n-type mode during the device's on-state. Fig. 3.4 shows the source-to-drain band diagram along the channel at the three different states shown in Fig. 3.3. These can be used in order to explain the SBFETs operation states and the characteristics.

- Figure 3.4(a) describes the SBFET's off-state at the given drain voltage. In the off-state the drain current of the device is the lowest and it is supposed to be switched off. For the given material combination with almost equally high SB heights for electrons and holes, this operation mode is given at the gate voltage where the gate-source and the drain-gate potential differences are about equally high, as it can be seen in the figure. In this state electrons can be injected at the source side of the device, as well as holes can be injected at the drain side through TE and FE. However, for the given material combination, the SBs at both sides are thicker compared to the other operation modes which leads to a reduced FE current, since this current contribution depends exponentially on the barrier thickness. Because of this dependency, the device's off-state is also dependent on the applied drain voltage.
- Figure 3.4(b) shows the device's on-state (where the SBFET is supposed to be switched on). In this operation state the conduction band is bent down due to the high gate voltage, so that the source-side SB is very thin and even a direct tunneling can occur. The drain-side hole current contribution is gone in this state; however, the source-side electron FE current is even higher by several decades.
- Figure 3.4(c) shows the ambipolar operation mode of the SBFET. This mode is usually unwanted, because in this state the device's drain current is increasing again, although  $V_{\rm gs}$  is lower than the off-state gate voltage. In the ambipolar state, the drain-side SB has become very small and therefore, an increasing hole FE current is flowing from the drain to the source terminal<sup>1</sup>.

As the previously shown band diagrams (Fig. 3.1(b) and Fig. 3.4) demonstrate, in the example SBFET of this section the SB heights for electrons  $\Phi_{B,n}$  and for holes  $\Phi_{B,p}$  are almost equally high. This device can also be used as a p-type device with  $V_{ds} < 0$  V. This is shown as an example transfer curve in Fig. 3.5. The characteristics in this case are similar to the n-type characteristics but with negative voltages and currents. The absolute current values of p- and n-type operation mode are not exactly similar (even if  $\Phi_{B,p}$  and  $\Phi_{B,n}$  were exactly

<sup>1</sup> It shall be noted here that usually, the transistor's source is the terminal where electrons or holes are injected into the device and the transistor's drain is the terminal where the carriers flow out of the device. While in the ambipolar case this rule does not apply, the author keeps the terminal descriptions the same, because the ambipolar operation mode is an unwanted mode, and in order to avoid the confusion of changing the transistors terminals.

3.2 Schottky Barrier Field-Effect Transistor Working Principle



Figure 3.3: Single transfer curve of the simulated SBFET at the drain voltage  $V_{\rm ds} = 1 \,\rm V$ , showing the total drain current  $I_{\rm ds}$  and its current's components in logarithmic scale.  $I_{\rm ds,TE,n}$  and  $I_{\rm ds,TE,p}$  are the TE current contributions fo electrons and holes, respectively.  $I_{\rm ds,n}$  and  $I_{\rm ds,TE,p}$  are the TE and FE current contributions of electrons and holes, respectively, that determine the on-current or ambipolar currents. (a), (b) and (c) refer to Fig. 3.4 marking the bias conditions at which the band diagrams are captured.

same), because the injected current over the SB not only depends on the SB height, but also on the charge carrier properties (injected electrons or holes), as it is demonstrated in Sec. 2.3.2.2. Figure 3.6 shows the different operation states in the p-type mode which are the off-state (a), the on-state (b), and the ambipolar state (c).

For a better overview of the SBFETs characteristics, Fig. 3.7 shows the device's transfer characteristics for multiple drain voltages, used as p-type (a) or n-type (b) device. The shown characteristics demonstrate the symmetry for the simulated SBFET, which is important for the RFET application explained in Sec. 3.3. Also, clearly visible in the shown characteristics is the device's absolute off-state current increasing and the off-state itself shifting to a higher absolute  $V_{\rm gs}$  with an increasing absolute drain voltage  $V_{\rm ds}$ . This is the case, because the lowest injection currents of the device flow in the state, where the surface potential (and therefore, the gate voltage) is almost exactly between the source and the drain potential, so at  $V_{\rm gs} \approx V_{\rm ds}/2$ , which is shown in the band diagrams of Fig. 3.4(a) and Fig. 3.6(a).

Figure 3.8 shows the output characteristics of the simulated SBFET at the n-type operation mode on-state ( $V_{\rm ds} > 0$  V), where Fig. 3.8(a) focuses on applied gate voltages from 0.7 V to 1.3 V and Fig. 3.8(b) shows the applied gate voltages from 1.4 V to 2.0 V. In the shown characteristics of Fig. 3.8(a) it can be observed that, in case of the lowest gate voltages, the drain current suddenly starts to increase at about  $V_{\rm ds} > 1.5$  V. This is caused by the device reaching the ambipolar operation state at  $V_{\rm ds} \gg V_{\rm gs}$ , which means that holes start to be injected at the drain side and the hole current surpasses the source-side electron current. Another typical


**Figure 3.4:** Band diagrams matching the markings of the simulated transfer curve from Fig. 3.3, showing the current contributions that are injected at the device's SBs.  $J_{\rm FE,s,n}$  and  $J_{\rm TE,s,n}$  are the source-side FE and TE electron current densities.  $J_{\rm FE,d,p}$  and  $J_{\rm TE,d,p}$  are the drain-side FE and TE hole current densities.

(a) shows the device's off-state band diagram. In this state all listed current densities are contributing to the total current, however, their total value is the lowest possible at the given drain voltage.

(b) shows the device's on-state band diagram. In this state, the TE contributions are still present, but the dominating on-current contribution is given by the source-side FE electron current density  $(J_{\rm FE,s,n})$ .

(c) shows the device's ambipolar state band diagram, which is usually an unwanted device state. In this state, the TE contributions are also still present, but the dominating current contribution is given by the drain-side FE hole current density  $(J_{\rm FE,d,p})$ .

3.2 Schottky Barrier Field-Effect Transistor Working Principle



Figure 3.5: Single transfer curve of the simulated SBFET at the drain voltage  $V_{\rm ds} = -1$  V, showing the total drain current  $I_{\rm ds}$  and its current's components on a negative and logarithmic scaled *y*-axis.  $I_{\rm ds,TE,n}$  and  $I_{\rm ds,TE,p}$  are the TE current contributions fo electrons and holes, respectively.  $I_{\rm ds,n}$  and  $I_{\rm ds,p}$  are the TE and FE current contributions of electrons and holes, respectively, that determine the on-current or ambipolar currents. (a), (b) and (c) refer to Fig. 3.6 marking the bias conditions at which the band diagrams are captured.

SBFET effect is the s-shape effect which can be observed in all curves, which describes the behavior of the curve of slowly increasing (in the range of  $0 V < V_{\rm ds} < 0.5 V$ ), before reaching the linear and finally, the saturation region with increasing  $V_{\rm ds}$ . The initial s-shape effect, in case of the simulated device, is likely being caused by the drain-side SB which acts as an additional energy barrier, blocking electrons at low  $V_{\rm ds}$ , but vanishes at higher  $V_{\rm ds}$ .

#### 3.2.2.1 Symmetrical vs. Unsymmetrical Device Characteristics

The characteristics of Fig. 3.7 show a device that is nearly symmetrical for electrons and for holes, which means that the absolute drain current is nearly equally high when reversing the gate and drain voltage (switching between p-type and n-type operation). The symmetric behavior is mainly determined by the semiconductor's doping and the source / drain metal work function  $\Phi_{\rm m}$  but can also be fine-tuned by adjusting the semiconductor's lattice parameters by straining it, as proposed in [66]. The metal work function impact can be observed in the shown band diagrams of this chapter (e.g. Fig. 3.1(b), Fig. 3.4 and Fig. 3.6), where the SB height for electrons  $\Phi_{\rm B,n}$  is almost equally high to the SB height holes  $\Phi_{\rm B,p}$ . Using a device with symmetric characteristics is useful in case that the device is planned to be used as switchable between p-type or n-type operation mode in later application, as for example the RFET.

In case that a SBFET shall be used only for one single operation type (either n-type or p-type operation), it can make sense to use a material combination that pronounces the on-state carrier type and suppresses the ambipolar one. Figure 3.9 shows a simulated example transfer

40



**Figure 3.6:** Band diagrams matching the markings of the simulated transfer curve from Fig. 3.5, showing the current contributions that are injected at the device's SBs.  $J_{\text{FE},s,p}$  and  $J_{\text{TE},s,p}$  are the source-side FE and TE hole current densities.  $J_{\text{FE},d,n}$  and  $J_{\text{TE},d,n}$  are the drain-side FE and TE electron current densities.

(a) shows the device's off-state band diagram. In this state all listed current densities are contributing to the total current, however, their total value is the lowest possible at the given drain voltage.

(b) shows the device's on-state band diagram. In this state, the TE contributions are still present, but the dominating on-current contribution is given by the source-side FE hole current density  $(J_{\text{FE},s,p})$ .

(c) shows the device's ambipolar state band diagram, which is usually an unwanted device state. In this state, the TE contributions are also still present, but the dominating current contribution is given by the drain-side FE electron current density  $(J_{\rm FE,d,n})$ .

3.2 Schottky Barrier Field-Effect Transistor Working Principle



Figure 3.7: Transfer characteristics of the simulated SBFET at the given drain voltages showing the total drain current  $I_{ds}$  in logarithmic scale. (a) shows the p-type operation state with negative drain-voltages and a negative scaled y-axis. (b) shows the n-type operation state with positive drain-voltages.



Figure 3.8: Output characteristics of the simulated SBFET at the given gate voltages showing the total drain current  $I_{\rm ds}$  in linear scale. The characteristics show the n-type operation mode only. (a) shows the lower gate voltages from 0.7 V to 1.3 V. (b) shows the higher gate voltages from 1.4 V to 2.0 V.

3.2 Schottky Barrier Field-Effect Transistor Working Principle



Figure 3.9: Single transfer curve of the simulated SBFET at the drain voltage  $V_{\rm ds} = 2 \,\rm V$ , compared to simulated devices with varying source / drain metal work functions  $\Phi_{\rm m}$ , showing the total drain currents  $I_{\rm ds}$  in logarithmic scale. The red lines are simulations using lower work functions and the green dotted line uses a higher work function. The used metal work functions are presented in the legend. Besides the one from the blue curve, they are chosen for demonstration purposes only, without any relation to real metals.

curve of the already investigated transistor which is used in the previous sections (blue line). This single transfer curve is compared to other simulated curves of the same device, which only uses a different metal work function, as shown in the figure. The used work functions do not necessarily relate to realistic metals, they are just randomly chosen by increasing or reducing the used  $\Phi_{\rm m}$  in 0.5 V steps. All curves are simulated in the n-type operation mode's on-state, using the same drain voltage of  $V_{\rm ds} = 2 \,\mathrm{V}$ . As it can be seen in the simulation, reducing the metal work function  $\Phi_{\rm m}$  (red lines), which leads to a reduced SB height for electrons  $\Phi_{\rm B,n}$  and an increased SB height for holes  $\Phi_{\rm B,p}$ , results in a better conductivity for electrons and a higher suppression of holes. Increasing the metal work function (green line), leads to the opposite effect and makes the on-state of the simulated n-type device worse. However, the green curves material combination, which increases the hole currents, would be preferable for p-type SBFETs.

The compact model presented in this work focuses completely on devices with a symmetric behavior, since it is also made for modeling RFETs. Therefore, the unsymmetrical characteristics that is demonstrated in the examples of Fig. 3.9 will not be discussed further.

#### 3.2.2.2 Channel Length Impact

Usually in SBFET devices, when considering the working principle of current passing and blocking mechanisms, the injection over a transistor's SB is considered, because the SB is supposed to have the highest resistance inside the device. However, it needs to be considered that the SBFET's channel consists of a semiconductor material (in this work it intrinsic or lightly doped silicon) covered up by a gate, which leads to a classic MOSFET-like structure. A MOSFET's current characteristic in the on-state follows the rule  $I_{\rm ds} \sim 1/L_{\rm ch}$ , so in case that a SBFET's channel is long, and the SB is conductive due to the applied gate voltage, the resistance of the internal channel MOSFET can get to the same order of magnitude than the SB's resistance. In this case, the characteristics in the SBFET's on-state is affected by the channel length. This effect needs to be considered, especially for RFETs, since those devices generally have a bigger footprint. For the SBFET's investigated in this work, it has been found that a channel resistance should be considered for devices with  $L_{\rm ch} > 1 \,\mu m$ . Figure 3.10 shows the transfer curve of the simulated 220 nm device at  $V_{\rm ds} = 2 \,\rm V$  (blue curve), compared to longer channel devices. It can be observed that, especially in the on-state the drain current reduction increases with longer channel lengths.



**Figure 3.10:** Single transfer curve of the simulated SBFET at the drain voltage  $V_{\rm ds} = 2 \,\rm V$ , compared to simulated devices with increased channel lengths  $L_{\rm ch}$ , showing the total drain currents  $I_{\rm ds}$  in logarithmic scale. The used channel lengths are shown in the legend.

#### 3.2.2.3 Temperature Dependencies

44

The FE current and especially the TE current of the SBFET are temperature dependent. Both current contributions are expected to increase with an increasing environmental temperature, however, due to the increasing phonon scattering events inside the transistors' channels, the semiconductor's conductivity also supposed to decrease with higher temperatures. Since the TE current in SBFETs is also a leakage current and the subthreshold swing reduces with lower temperatures, the usage of SBFETs at lower temperatures can be advantageous in some applications. In [11] a temperature study has been done by measuring a nanowire SBFET in a range of room temperature ( $\vartheta = 300 \text{ K}$ ) down to deep cryogenic temperatures ( $\vartheta = 5.5 \text{ K}$ ). A measured subthreshold swing reduction from 62 mV/dec. to 4.2 mV/dec. has been reported

3.3 Reconfigurable Field-Effect Transistor Working Principle

[11]. The fact that SBFETs do not necessarily rely on doping and show good characteristics at deep cryogenic temperatures, make them a good candidate for electronic applications in this temperature environment. Both temperature regions (room temperature and deep cryogenic temperature) have been modeled in this work in Chapter 4 and Chapter 5, respectively. A TCAD studies of SBFETs at deep cryogenic temperatures is not done in this work, due to convergence issues of the simulations.

# 3.3 Reconfigurable Field-Effect Transistor Working Principle

The second type of device covered in this work is the RFET. More specific, this work mostly covers the dually gated RFET variation shown in [20]. It shall be noted here, that term RFET is ambiguous, because this term describes a device behavior (of being reconfigurable) and not a clear device structure. Some RFET variations are discussed in this section. In this work, unless specified otherwise, the term RFET refers to the dually gated variant described in Sec. 3.3.1 and that is mainly used in the modeling approach later. The band diagrams and characteristics shown in this section are created by using TCAD. The same device as in Sec. 3.2, but modified to a RFET, is used.

# 3.3.1 Structure of the Dually-Gated Reconfigurable Field-Effect Transistor

The basic idea of the dually gated RFET derives from the SBFET and extends that device in a certain way. Since a SBFET is mainly determined by the carrier injection over the transistor's SBs (if the channel resistance impact can be neglected), it is mandatory that the device's gate electrode covers the SBs themselves, but not necessarily the entire device channel. The (dually gated) RFET uses this SBFET property, by not having a single gate covering the entire channel, but having two gates, where each gate covers one SB. A schematic cross-section of such a RFET is shown in Fig. 3.11. The reconfigurability of the device is given by the property, that each gate can be biased independently, so it is a four-terminal device instead of having the usual three terminals. The source-side (injection-side) gate is called control gate (CG) and the drain-side is the program gate or polarity gate (PG). The device property of having an additional gate, in general, leads to a bigger device's footprint, because of the space requirement of this second gate and the necessity to contact it. However, the main achievement for this device is to increase the complexity of that single transistor, instead of just reducing a device's size.

# 3.3.2 Working Principle and Operations Modes

The two gates of the RFET differ in their purposes. The CG serves as the "regular" gate like for MOSFETs or SBFETs. It is biased in order to control the injection-side SB to steadily



Figure 3.11: Schematic cross-section of a nanowire or double gate RFET with its geometric parameters.

determine the drain current flow. The second gate (PG) at the drain side is usually biased constantly, either positively or negatively. This sets the drain-side SB in a state where it is only passable by either electrons (in case it is biased positively) or holes (in case it is biased negatively), independent of the CG bias.

In Fig. 3.12 and Fig. 3.13, different operation modes of the RFET are shown. Figure 3.12 shows the p-type configuration, where the program gate voltage  $V_{\rm pg}$ , as well as the drain voltage  $V_{\rm ds}$  are smaller than zero volt. In this configuration, the PG's SB is only passable by holes. Figure 3.12(b) shows the device's off-state, caused by a control gate voltage of  $V_{\rm cg} = 0$  V. In this state, neither electrons nor holes can be injected at the source side SB, besides a small leakage current. An increasing negative CG voltage leads to the on-state in p-type mode. This is shown in Fig. 3.12(a), where holes can pass both SBs and flow from source to drain. In the third case, starting from a CG voltage of  $V_{\rm cg} = 0$  V and increasing the voltage would have led to the ambipolar state, if the device was a SBFET. However, due to the RFET's negatively biased PG, shown in Fig. 3.12(c), electrons are blocked by the drain-side SB and an ambipolar current is suppressed. In this state the current is even lower than in the  $V_{\rm pg} = 0$  V state, because in this opposite polarity mode of CG and PG each gate suppresses one type of carrier. The result of the described p-type operation mode is shown as transfer curve in Fig. 3.14(i) with references to the discussed band diagrams shown in the figure.

The n-type configuration of the RFET works similarly and is shown in Fig. 3.13. In this case  $V_{pg}$  and  $V_{ds}$  are bigger than zero volt and only an electron current flow is possible through the device. Figures 3.13(a) and 3.13(b) show the device's off-state, because in these states the CG voltage does not fit to the PG's voltage. By increasing the CG voltage, device switches on, which is shown in Fig. 3.13(c). In this state, electrons can pass both SBs and flow from source to drain. A transfer curve of the n-type characteristics is shown in Fig. 3.14(ii), which also shows the references to the states of Fig. 3.13. The output characteristics of the device in p-type operation mode ( $V_{ds} < 0$  V) is not shown at this point, since it shows similar effects as the n-type characteristics, but with negative voltages and drain current.

46

3.3 Reconfigurable Field-Effect Transistor Working Principle



**Figure 3.12:** Various operations modes of a RFET in p-type operation mode, with  $V_{pg} = V_{ds} = -2V$ . (a) shows the on-state of the transistor with  $V_{cg} = -2V$ . (b) and (c) show the off-state regions of the device with  $V_{cg} = 0V$  and  $V_{cg} = 2V$ , respectively. In these states the source-side injection current is blocked by the CG and the drain-side injection current is blocked by the PG.



Figure 3.13: Various operations modes of a RFET in n-type operation mode, with  $V_{\rm pg} = V_{\rm ds} = 2 \,\rm V$ . (a) and (b) show the off-state regions of the device with  $V_{\rm cg} = -2 \,\rm V$  and  $V_{\rm cg} = 0 \,\rm V$ , respectively. In these states the source-side injection current is blocked by the CG and the drain-side injection current is blocked by the PG. (c) shows the on-state of the transistor with  $V_{\rm cg} = 2 \,\rm V$ 

3.3 Reconfigurable Field-Effect Transistor Working Principle



Figure 3.14: Single transfer curve of the simulated RFETs at the different operation modes, showing the total drain current  $I_{\rm ds}$ , as well as the electron  $(I_{\rm ds,n})$  and hole  $(I_{\rm ds,p})$  current components in logarithmic scale. (i) shows one curve at p-type operation mode, with  $V_{\rm pg} = V_{\rm ds} = -2 \,\rm V$ . The markers (a), (b) and (c) refer to the bias conditions at which the band diagrams of Fig. 3.12 are captured. (ii) shows one curve at n-type operation mode, with  $V_{\rm pg} = V_{\rm ds} = 2 \,\rm V$ . The markers (a), (b) and (c) refer to the bias conditions at which the band diagrams of Fig. 3.13 are captured. (ii) shows one curve at n-type operation mode, with  $V_{\rm pg} = V_{\rm ds} = 2 \,\rm V$ . The markers (a), (b) and (c) refer to the bias conditions at which the band diagrams of Fig. 3.13 are captured.

3 Device Working Principles

The discussed operation modes of the RFET enable a configurability of the device as either p-type or n-type transistor. This is also schematically demonstrated in Fig. 3.15. This reconfigurability can be used, for example, to create at runtime switchable logic circuits, as described in [21, 22].



Figure 3.15: Schematic demonstration of the RFET being substituted to either a p-type transistor in case of  $V_{\rm pg} \ll 0 \,\mathrm{V}$  or n-type transistor in case of  $V_{\rm pg} \gg 0 \,\mathrm{V}$ .

# 3.3.2.1 Device Characteristics

Compared to SBFET's characteristics, the RFET has no ambipolar current. This leads to an improved on/off ratio of the device and a drain voltage independent off-state position on the  $V_{\rm gs}$  (or rather  $V_{\rm cg}$ ) axis. For further demonstration, Fig. 3.16 shows that comparison. The transfer characteristics of the simulated device is shown with a fixed PG voltage (blue lines) and in case that  $V_{\rm pg} = V_{\rm cg}$  (orange lines). That second case leads to a SBFET-like behavior of the RFET, since both gates have the same bias then as it was one single gate. Figure 3.16(a) shows the characteristics for p-type and (b) for n-type operation mode.

Finally, a part of the n-type mode output characteristics is shown in Fig. 3.17. These characteristics correspond to the lower voltage output characteristics of the SBFET, shown in Fig. 3.8(a). The difference in Fig. 3.17 is that the RFET is programmed to the n-type operation mode with  $V_{pg} = 2 V$ , which leads to a suppression of the ambipolar current contributions from Fig. 3.8(a). The characteristics for higher  $V_{cg}$  are not shown, because there is no difference compared to the results of Fig. 3.8(b).

#### 3.3.2.2 Gate-to-Gate Distance

In general, RFETs have a bigger footprint than SBFETs, because they need at least two independent gates covering the transistor's channel. This results in an ungated region between the CG and the PG, which further reduces the electrostatic coupling of the two gates on the device's ungated channel. Figure 3.18 shows the simulation results for the accumulated electrons directly along the semiconductor-oxide interface. The first kink in the results (between

50

3.3 Reconfigurable Field-Effect Transistor Working Principle



Figure 3.16: Transfer characteristics of the simulated RFET at the given drain voltages showing the total drain current  $I_{\rm ds}$  in logarithmic scale. The blue lines show the device in fixed programmed state with a constant  $V_{\rm pg}$ . The orange lines show the device characteristics with  $V_{\rm pg} = V_{\rm cg}$ , similarly used as a SBFET (see Fig. 3.7). (a) shows the p-type operation mode with negative drain-voltages, a negative scaled y-axis and  $V_{\rm pg} = -2 \,\mathrm{V}$  for the blue curves. (b) shows the n-type operation mode with positive drain-voltages and  $V_{\rm pg} = 2 \,\mathrm{V}$  for the blue curves.



Figure 3.17: Output characteristics of the simulated RFET at the given CG voltages and at  $V_{pg} = 2 V$  (n-type operation mode) showing the total drain current  $I_{ds}$  in linear scale.



**Figure 3.18:** Electron density *n* along the simulated RFET's channel-oxide interface at  $V_{ds} = V_{pg} = V_{cg} = 2 V$  (n-type operation mode) in logarithmic scale. The gray labels show the different regions inside the device. The results of the first 20 nm (especially the first kink) are incorrect, which is caused by the TCAD tunneling model, and can be ignored [28].

0 nm and 20 nm) is caused by the simulation specific tunnel generation rate and can be ignored [28]. For a device with one continuous gate, a nearly uniform distribution of the accumulated charges, dropping towards the drain side, would be expected. In case of the simulated RFET, the biggest drop in the carrier concentration is inside the ungated region, which is caused by the worse electrostatic coupling, and which leads to less electrons available for the current transport. This effect needs to be considered in the compact model and is discussed in Sec. 6.1.2.

3.3 Reconfigurable Field-Effect Transistor Working Principle

## 3.3.3 Other RFET Structures and Concepts

There are several possible RFET structures based on the SB injection besides the dually-gated version, which is the mainly used structure in this work. A good overview of the technology and the structures can be found in [19]. Figure 3.19 shows two example RFET variations besides the dually-gated variant.



Figure 3.19: Examples of other RFET variations as schematics, according to [19]. (a) shows a top gate / bottom gate RFET. (b) shows a Three gate RFET.

The first variation is the top gate / bottom gate RFET shown in Fig. 3.19(a). The top of this device is similar to a SBFET, but it comes with an additional bottom gate below the substrate, which is used as PG. This structure is not feasible with GAA nanowire structures but can be manufactured e.g. as silicon-on-insulator (SOI) technology, where the PG is located underneath the substrate [19]. The advantage of this structure is the reduced length demand in the channel length direction of the transistor, since only one gate has to be deposited on top of the device. One disadvantage of the device is the demand for a much higher PG voltage since the electrostatic coupling of the PG to the SBs is worse in this structure.

The second variation, shown in Fig. 3.19(b), is the three-gate RFET. This device has its PG split up into two PGs, each covering one SB of the device, while the CG is located in the middle of the channel. The advantage of this structure is that the two PGs can be biased individually, leading to a three independent gates RFET (TIG-RFET), which further enhances the functionality of the single transistor. For example, the TIG-RFET can change some device parameter (like the threshold voltage or subthreshold swing), by just changing the biased gates. A disadvantage of this device is the increased device footprint, compared to the dually gated RFET, since the three gated variant needs to have all three gates integrated in the device structure side by side.

There are many other RFET concepts discussed in research. In [69–71] various RFET structures based on alternative materials are discussed, like Aluminum-Silicon junctions for the SBs, or germanium / germanium-silicon compound as semiconductor, demonstrating symmetric RFET characteristics. The concept of RFETs based 2D materials (e.g. black phosphorus or molybdenum disulfide) are discussed in [15, 16, 72, 73]. It shall be noted that most of the mentioned technologies are beyond the scope of this modeling work.

# 3.4 State-of-the-Art Compact Models

This section shortly describes and reviews several compact models for SBFETs or RFETs.

The first model presented in this section is a DC compact model developed for DG SBFETs and published in [30, 62, 74]. This model is the basis of the room temperature SBFET / RFET model, which is derived in Chapter 4 and Chapter 6, so its derivation is part of Sec. 4.2.1. It is based on the FE current model approach of Sze, Chang, and Crowell from Sec. 2.3.3.2, as well as the TE model from Sec. 2.4.2.1, and it uses the described 2D potential model, introduced in Sec. 2.1.5.

In [75] a DC compact drain current model is introduced which specifically models the behavior of a RFET with three gate terminals, like those shown in Fig. 3.19(b). As a simplification of the tunneling current calculation, this model uses an effective SB height, similar to suggestions in [6]. In order to obtain the total device current, this model numerically combines the injection current over the SB with the drift-diffusion current controlled by the central gate, which is not efficient for circuit simulation.

A similar model is proposed in [76] where the injection current of a dually-gated RFET is calculated by using an effective SB height and the TE current contribution. This model also uses a numerical approach to combine the injection and the channel current contributions.

The DC model from [77] is made for the three gate RFET. This model specifically focuses on an effect called impact ionization and uses this effect to calculate the RFET's drain current. This model shows the dependency of the device's subthreshold slope to the applied drain-source voltage, caused by the described impact ionization. However, this model uses several empirical parameters to obtain a closed-form equation and it strictly relies on the impact ionization effect.

The work of [78] presents a model which focuses on the potential calculation inside duallygated RFETs and its current calculation is based on the approach from Kane [79]. The model is used for comparison to TCAD results.

In the work of [80] the behavior of logic-gates based on RFETs is investigated, especially regarding their power consumption and time responses. For this investigation, some standard MOSFET equations are fitted to measured data. This procedure allows the investigation of characteristic parameters for various circuit concepts but cannot be used for exact circuit simulation with a continuous voltage range.

# CHAPTER 4

Compact Modeling of Schottky Barrier Field-Effect transistors

This chapter describes the modeling approach of the compact model for SBFETs in detail which has been published in [81–83]. The presented closed-form and physics-based DC compact model is applicable on DG SBFETs and tested at room temperature environment ( $\vartheta \approx 300$  K). It needs the device's geometric and material parameters as model inputs, as well as some fitting parameters and the applied bias conditions. With the described input parameters, the model calculates the device's DC-current by performing the following steps:

- The potential inside of the device's channel is calculated, in order to reconstruct the band diagram in that region. (See Sec. 4.1)
- The current components at the source-side SB are calculated by using the reconstructed potential / band diagram at the SB. The current components consist of the TE-current (charge-carriers overcoming the SB) and FE-current (charge-carriers tunneling through the SB). (See Sec. 4.2)
- By adding both current types and using a balancing model, the total injection current of the device is calculated. (See Sec. 4.3)
- As an addition for devices with a non-negligible channel resistance (long-channel devices) a MOSFET equation is used in order to limit the current and the channel resistance current is combined with the SB injection current. (See Sec. 4.4)

In the upcoming sections 4.1 to 4.4 the modeling approach is explained in detail. Finally, Sec. 4.5 shows and discusses some results of the model, compared to TCAD simulations.

# 4.1 Potential Model Simplification and Band Diagram Reconstruction

Section 2.1 introduces a 2D analytical closed-form potential model based on the nonlinear transformation method by Schwarz and Christoffel and applicable on 2D double gate FET-structures. In a first step, the electrostatic potential in the device's channel region is calculated

4 Compact Modeling of Schottky Barrier Field-Effect transistors

and thereto the band diagram and the electric field close to the junctions. The determination of the potential is split into two steps. First, an adapted version of the 2D analytical closed-form potential model, described in Sec. 2.1.5, is used to calculate the electrostatic potential at some auxiliary points close to the Schottky junctions and in the middle of the channel. This model uses the SCT method to calculate the potential inside a DG FET structure, like the one shown in Fig. 3.1(a) [29, 31]. However, this potential model does not consider accumulated charges in the channel at higher gate-source voltages  $V_{\rm gs}$ .

# 4.1.1 Effective Gate-Source Voltage

In order to increase the accuracy of this calculation even for higher  $V_{\rm gs}$ , an effective gate-source voltage  $V_{\rm gs,eff}$  is calculated, which shall include the effect of accumulated charges in the device's channel. There are two methods that have been proven as useful in different cases, depending on the channel length, or rather depending on the inclusion of the channel resistance model introduced in Sec. 4.4.

# $V_{\rm gs,eff}$ for short channel devices

For the shorter channel devices, the effective gate-source voltage  $V_{\rm gs,eff,TFET}$  is adapted, according to the model from Sec. 2.1.6, which is used in the tunnel field-effect transistor model from [32, 33]. However, compact model comparisons to measurements and TCAD simulations showed that  $V_{\rm gs,eff} = V_{\rm gs,eff,TFET}$  (see Eq. (2.38)) is not fully applicable on the tested SBFET devices for all used bias conditions. Therefore, an empirical equation was included, given by

$$V_{\rm gs,eff} = \left[\alpha \cdot V_{\rm gs,eff,TFET} + (1 - \alpha) \cdot (V_{\rm gs} - V_{\rm fb})\right],\tag{4.1}$$

where  $\alpha$  is a fitting parameter to increase or reduce the effect of the  $V_{\rm gs,eff}$  saturation and  $V_{\rm fb}$  is the flatband voltage which is defined by the gate materials work function and compensates the band bending at  $V_{\rm gs} = 0$  V.

# $V_{\rm gs,eff}$ for long channel devices

In case of longer channel lengths and the inclusion of the channel resistance, it has been found that the  $V_{\rm gs,eff}$ -calculation from Eq. (4.1) does not lead to a sufficient solution. Therefore, a set of empirical equations have been implemented, dependent on the gate-source and drain-source voltage, given as:

$$V_{\text{limit}} = \left[ \exp(V_{\text{ds}} \cdot 1 \,\mathrm{V}^{-1}) - 1 \right] \cdot 1 \,\mathrm{V} + V_{0,\text{limit}},\tag{4.2}$$

56

4.1 Potential Model Simplification and Band Diagram Reconstruction

and:

$$V_{\rm gs,eff} = \frac{V_{\rm limit}}{\gamma_{\rm Vg,eff}} \sqrt{1 + \left(\frac{V_{\rm limit}}{V_{\rm gs}}\right)^{\gamma_{\rm Vg,eff}}}.$$
(4.3)

 $V_{\text{limit}}$  marks a drain-source voltage dependent limiting point towards which the effective gate voltages saturate in case the applied gate voltages are getting high compared to the drain-source voltage. The parameters  $V_{0,\text{limit}}$  and  $\gamma_{\text{Vg,eff}}$  are empirical fitting parameters which are used to control the behavior of the drain current, mainly in the region of  $V_{\text{gs}} > V_{\text{ds}}$ .

#### 4.1.2 Potential Simplification

Using the effective gate-source voltage  $V_{\text{gs,eff}}$  from either Eq. (4.1) or Eq. (4.3) and the applied drain-source voltage  $V_{\text{ds}}$ , the 2D potential can be calculated by Eq. (2.37). The obtained potential  $\Phi_{2D}(x,y)$  can be calculated for each point inside the SBFET's channel, but there are only few regions which are interesting for the injection current calculation.

For the y-coordinate (gate-to-gate direction), there are two values of interest, which are the surface potential and the center potential. The surface potential, given as

$$\Phi_{\rm sur}(x) = \Phi_{\rm 2D}(x, y = 0), \qquad (4.4)$$

is located along the oxide-semiconductor interface of one gate. This potential is especially of interest in the transistor's on-state at high  $V_{\rm gs}$ , since this potential is mostly affected by band bending. The center potential, given as

$$\Phi_{\rm cen}(x) = \Phi_{\rm 2D}(x, y = t_{\rm ch}/2), \qquad (4.5)$$

is located in the middle of the channel and is used mainly for the off-state current. It shall be mentioned that in a DG device structure there is a second surface potential along the second gate's oxide-semiconductor interface at  $y = t_{\rm ch}$ . However, due to the device symmetry this potential is equal to the other surface potential  $\Phi_{\rm sur}(x) = \Phi_{\rm 2D}(x, y = 0) = \Phi_{\rm 2D}(x, y = t_{\rm ch})$ , so this potential does not have to be calculated again.

For the x-coordinate (drain-to-source direction), the interesting regions to calculate the potential are close to the source and drain-side SBs, as well as the center of the device in x-direction. The center in x-direction is estimated to be at least affected by the source and drain potentials and therefore, the potential at this position is mostly determined by  $V_{\rm gs}$ . These potentials can be calculated as surface potential:

$$\Phi_{\rm sur,L/2} = \Phi_{\rm sur}(x = L_{\rm ch}/2), \qquad (4.6)$$

and as center potential:

$$\Phi_{\rm cen,L/2} = \Phi_{\rm cen}(x = L_{\rm ch}/2).$$
 (4.7)

58

4 Compact Modeling of Schottky Barrier Field-Effect transistors

The potentials close to the transistor's SBs are used to describe the form of the SB. For the source-side SB the potential directly at the Schottky junction is used as:

$$\Phi_{\rm cen,S1} = \Phi_{\rm cen}(x=0), \qquad (4.8)$$

and a second auxiliary potential is calculated slightly inside the channel, as:

$$\Phi_{\rm cen,S2} = \Phi_{\rm cen}(x = \Delta x). \tag{4.9}$$

The second point is needed for the upcoming simplification of the potential. For the drain-side SB the potentials are calculated similarly, as:

$$\Phi_{\rm cen,D1} = \Phi_{\rm cen}(x = L_{\rm ch}), \qquad (4.10)$$

and

$$\Phi_{\rm cen,D2} = \Phi_{\rm cen}(x = L_{\rm ch} - \Delta x).$$
(4.11)

With the same procedure the corresponding surface potentials are calculated as:

$$\Phi_{\rm sur,S1} = \Phi_{\rm sur}(x=0), \qquad (4.12)$$

$$\Phi_{\rm sur,S2} = \Phi_{\rm sur}(x = \Delta x), \qquad (4.13)$$

$$\Phi_{\rm sur,D1} = \Phi_{\rm sur}(x = L_{\rm ch}), \qquad (4.14)$$

and:

$$\Phi_{\rm sur,D2} = \Phi_{\rm sur}(x = L_{\rm ch} - \Delta x).$$
(4.15)

With the auxiliary points from Eq. (4.8) to Eq. (4.15), similar to [32], in a second step a compact analytical expression ( $\varphi_{\text{comp}}$ ) for the potential along the channel is introduced:

$$\varphi_{\rm comp}(x) = \frac{k}{x-l} + m.$$
(4.16)

This expression is evaluated at the oxide-channel interface for each Schottky junction (source and drain), where the x-direction is the source-drain direction. The parameters k, l and m are reconstructed by using the auxiliary potentials  $\varphi_{\text{comp}}(0) = \Phi_{\text{sur,S1}}, \varphi_{\text{comp}}(\Delta x) = \Phi_{\text{sur,S2}}$ and  $\varphi_{\text{comp}}(L_{\text{ch}}/2) = \Phi_{\text{sur,L/2}}$ . For the reconstruction, a value of  $\Delta x \approx 10 \text{ nm}$  has shown to be useful. With this expression for the compact potential, it is possible to calculate the electric field in x-direction along the channel by

$$E_{\rm x}(x) = -\frac{d\varphi_{\rm comp}(x)}{dx} = \frac{k}{(x-l)^2}.$$
 (4.17)

and the band diagram by adding or subtracting the band parameters  $\Phi_{B,n}$  or  $\Phi_{B,p}$ . Figure 4.1(b) shows the 2D analytical closed-form potential model as well as the compact potential compared

UNIVERSITAT ROVIRA I VIRGILI COMPACT MODELING OF SCHOTTKY BARRIER AND RECONFIGURABLE FIELD-EFFECT TRANSISTORS Christian Römer





**Figure 4.1:** Electrostatic potential of the device from Sec. 3.3 at  $V_{\rm ds} = V_{\rm pg} = V_{\rm cg} = 2 \,\rm V$ . (a) device structure with the simulated 2D potential along the channel. The 2D potential was simulated using TCAD Sentaurus. (b) potential along the cut line shown in (a) and comparison of the TCAD simulated value (blue) to the result of the 2D analytic closed-form potential model (orange) and the compact potential solution (green) from Eq. (4.16). The dashed box shows a zoom of the potential at the SB. Although, the shown device is a RFET, the potential at the SB of a SBFET looks similarly.

to TCAD Sentaurus simulations at the given bias conditions for the device from Sec. 3.3. The shown transistor is a RFET, but the SBFET's potential directly at the SB looks similarly. This comparison shows that both potential models have a deviation compared to the TCAD simulation between the source-channel junction and the control gate, which is most likely caused by the influence of the accumulated charges in the channel at the given bias condition, due to their empirical consideration. However, the most important part is close to the source-channel junction in order to estimate the SB thickness correctly for the tunneling process. In this region the potentials calculated by the compact model show an acceptable agreement to the TCAD simulation.

60

# 4.2 Injection Current Modeling Approach

Unlike in MOSFET application where the device behavior is dominated by the charge-carrier accumulation in a device's channel, the main current blocking / controlling mechanism in SBFETs is the injection-side SB. In this section, the compact modeling approaches of both injection current sources, FE (Sec. 4.2.1) and TE (Sec. 4.2.2) are introduced. The model derivation in this section is done for the injection of electrons but works similarly for holes.

#### 4.2.1 Field Emission Injection Current

The FE current is given by charge carriers tunneling through the SBs. For this case the bands have to be sufficiently bent so the thickness of the barrier becomes small enough, as it is shown in the left part of Fig. 4.2. In order to find a way to describe the FE current density ( $J_{\text{FE}}$ ) analytically, an approach from [30] is used, which is based on the approach from Sec. 2.3.3.2. In this approach the equation:

$$J_{\rm FE} = \frac{q\mu_{\rm tn}N_{\rm C}}{k_{\rm b}\vartheta} \cdot \int_{\mathcal{E}_{\rm min}}^{\mathcal{E}_{0}} f_{\rm m}(\mathcal{E})[1 - f_{\rm ch}(\mathcal{E})] \times |\vec{E}(\mathcal{E})| \cdot T(\mathcal{E}) \cdot d\mathcal{E} , \qquad (4.18)$$



**Figure 4.2:** Visualization of the tunneling equation components at the source-side SB for tunneling of electrons. The figure shows some important variables of the compact model, as well as the components of Eq. (4.18) as a function of the energy  $\mathcal{E}$ , which are the electric field multiplied with the tunneling probability (green) and the product of the Fermi functions (red).

4.2 Injection Current Modeling Approach

that describes the tunneling process through the SB is used as a calculation basis [30]. In this equation q is the elementary charge,  $N_{\rm C}$  is the effective density of states in the conduction band (for tunneling holes the effective density of states in the valence band  $N_{\rm V}$  is used),  $k_{\rm b}$  is the Boltzmann constant and  $\vartheta$  is the temperature. The tunneling mobility  $\mu_{\rm tn}$  for electrons (or  $\mu_{\rm tp}$  for holes) is used as an adjustable fitting parameter of the model, which is part of Eq. (4.18), because this equation combines tunneling with drift-diffusion effects. The first part of the integral in Eq. (4.18) is the product of the Fermi functions and represents the occupation probability  $f_{\rm m}(\mathcal{E})$  for electrons in the source region at energy  $\mathcal{E}$  and  $[1 - f_{\rm ch}(\mathcal{E})]$  for holes in the channel region [6, 30].

The problem with Eq. (4.18) for a compact model is the integral which contains the product of the Fermi distribution functions in the metal  $f_{\rm m}(\mathcal{E})$  and in the channel  $f_{\rm ch}(\mathcal{E})$ , as well as the tunneling probability  $T(\mathcal{E})$  and the electric field  $|\vec{E}(\mathcal{E})|$ . In Eq. (2.65) a possibility is shown which can be used to calculate the tunneling probability through triangular barriers, which is a good approximation for SBs. However, due to the general form of this equation it cannot be solved analytically in an integral. Therefore, following the proposal of [30], Eq. (4.18) is approximated by a similar approach, as:

$$J_{\rm FE} \approx \frac{q\mu_{\rm tn} N_{\rm C}}{k_{\rm b}\vartheta} \cdot \int_{\mathcal{E}_{\rm min}}^{\mathcal{E}_0} \frac{1}{4} \exp\left(-\frac{a}{\gamma_{\rm n}} (\mathcal{E} - E_{\rm f,n})^2\right) \times b \cdot \exp(-c(\mathcal{E}_0 - \mathcal{E})) \cdot d\mathcal{E} \,.$$

$$(4.19)$$

In the approximation from Eq. (4.19) the first part of the integral is replaced by a Gaussian distribution shaped function  $1/4 \cdot \exp(-a/\gamma_n(\mathcal{E} - E_{f,n})^2)$ , where  $E_{f,n}$  is the quasi Fermi energy level for electrons [30]. It is estimated in this approach that the device is in the on-state and the injection-side SB is highly conductive, leading to almost no change in the quasi Fermi level for electrons  $E_{f,n}$  through the SB. This results in  $f_m(\mathcal{E}) \approx f_{ch}(\mathcal{E})$ , which leads to a maximum of the product  $f_m(\mathcal{E})[1 - f_{ch}(\mathcal{E})]$  at  $\mathcal{E} = E_{f,n}$ . This maximum of 1/4 is represented in Gaussian part of Eq. (4.19). The second part of the integral in Eq. (4.18) is the electric field multiplied with the tunneling probability  $|\vec{E}(\mathcal{E})| \cdot T(\mathcal{E})$ , which is approximated by an exponential function  $b \cdot \exp(-c(\mathcal{E}_0 - \mathcal{E}))$  in Eq. (4.19).

The Fermi energy level  $E_{\rm f,n}$  that is used for the tunneling calculation is equal to the Fermi level of the (source-side) metal  $E_{\rm fs}$ . The x-position where the bent conduction band  $E_{\rm C}$  (or the valence band  $E_{\rm V}$  in case of tunneling holes) reaches the metal's Fermi level is called  $x_{\rm f}$ . This position is estimated to have the highest FE-current contribution per energy level, as shown in Fig. 4.2. The relation between  $E_{\rm f,n}$  and  $x_{\rm f}$  is expressed by using Eq. (4.16), as:

$$E_{\rm f,n} = -q \cdot \varphi_{\rm comp}(x_{\rm f}) + q \cdot \Phi_{\rm B,n} , \qquad (4.20)$$

in case of tunneling of electrons where the conduction band is bent below  $E_{\rm f,n}$ . For tunneling of

holes the valence band is relevant for the tunneling process and  $-q \cdot \Phi_{\rm B,p}$  is used in Eq. (4.20) instead of  $+q \cdot \Phi_{\rm B,n}$ . If the conduction band is not bent below the metal's Fermi level,  $x_{\rm f}$  will be limited to  $L_{\rm ch}/2$ .

The upper boundary of the integrals ( $\mathcal{E}_0$ ) is the highest energy value where tunneling can occur, which is the top of the SB (see also  $\mathcal{E}_0$  in Fig. 4.2). The lower limit of the integrals in Eq. (4.18) and Eq. (4.19) is positioned in the middle of the channel, so it can be expressed as:

$$\mathcal{E}_{\min} = -q \cdot \Phi_{\mathrm{sur},\mathrm{L/2}} + \frac{E_{\mathrm{g}}}{2} \,. \tag{4.21}$$

This lower boundary is the lowest energy value where tunneling charge carriers are theoretically possible. However, due to the increasing tunneling lengths, the tunneling current contributions lower than  $E_{\rm f,n}$  are decreasing rapidly, so that  $\mathcal{E}_{\rm min}$  is a formal minimum.

The parameters a, b and c of Eq. (4.19) are energy independent coefficients, which are reconstructed similar as shown in [30]. For parameter a, the integral over the Fermi function product of Eq. (4.18) and the integral over the Gaussian function of Eq. (4.19) are set equal to achieve a normalization between the two parts. This is given by:

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f_{\rm m}(\mathcal{E})[1 - f_{\rm ch}(\mathcal{E})]d\mathcal{E} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{1}{4} \exp\left(-\frac{a}{\gamma_{\rm n}}(\mathcal{E} - E_{\rm f})^2\right) d\mathcal{E}.$$
(4.22)

The left-hand side of Eq. (4.22) can be solved with the mentioned approximation  $f_{\rm m}(\mathcal{E}) \approx f_{\rm ch}(\mathcal{E})$  as:

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f_{\rm m}(\mathcal{E})[1 - f_{\rm ch}(\mathcal{E})]d\mathcal{E} = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{d\mathcal{E}}{2 + \exp\left(\frac{\mathcal{E} - E_{\rm f,n}}{k_{\rm b}\vartheta}\right) + \exp\left(-\frac{\mathcal{E} - E_{\rm f,n}}{k_{\rm b}\vartheta}\right)},\tag{4.23}$$

with the substitution u, given as:

$$u = \frac{\mathcal{E} - E_{\rm f,n}}{k_{\rm b}\vartheta}, \, \frac{du}{d\mathcal{E}} = \frac{1}{k_{\rm b}\vartheta} \,, \tag{4.24}$$

to:

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} f_{\rm m}(\mathcal{E})[1 - f_{\rm ch}(\mathcal{E})]d\mathcal{E} = k_{\rm b}\vartheta \cdot \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \frac{\exp(u)}{(\exp(u) + 1)^2} du$$
(4.25)

$$= k_{\rm b}\vartheta \cdot \left[-\frac{1}{\exp(u)+1}\right]_{-\infty}^{\infty} = k_{\rm b}\vartheta . \qquad (4.26)$$

The right-hand side of Eq. (4.22) can be solved by a substitution z, which is given as:

$$-\frac{1}{2}z^2 = -\frac{a}{\gamma_{\rm n}}(\mathcal{E} - E_{\rm f,n})^2, \, \frac{dz}{d\mathcal{E}} = \sqrt{2\frac{a}{\gamma_{\rm n}}} \,. \tag{4.27}$$

62

#### 4.2 Injection Current Modeling Approach

The right-hand side of Eq. (4.22) with Eq. (4.27) lead to a standard normal distribution in z-space. This can be solved as:

$$\frac{1}{4}\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \exp\left(-\frac{a}{\gamma_{\rm n}} \left(\mathcal{E} - E_{\rm f,n}\right)^2\right) d\mathcal{E} = \frac{\sqrt{\gamma_{\rm n}}}{4 \cdot \sqrt{2a}} \cdot \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \exp\left(-\frac{1}{2}z^2\right) dz \tag{4.28}$$

$$=\frac{1}{4}\cdot\sqrt{\frac{\gamma_{\rm n}\cdot\pi}{a}}\,.\tag{4.29}$$

Using the results Eq. (4.25) and Eq. (4.28) in Eq. (4.22), leads to the expression:

$$k_{\rm b}\vartheta = \frac{1}{4} \cdot \sqrt{\frac{\gamma_{\rm n} \cdot \pi}{a}} \,, \tag{4.30}$$

so, a can be given, as:

$$a = \gamma_{\rm n} \cdot \frac{\pi}{16 \cdot (k_{\rm b}\vartheta)^2} \,. \tag{4.31}$$

For obtaining the coefficients b and c, the exponential parts of Eq. (4.18) and Eq. (4.19) are set equal at the two different prominent energy levels  $\mathcal{E}_0$  and  $E_{f,n}$ :

$$\left|\vec{E}(\mathcal{E})\right| \cdot T(\mathcal{E}) \bigg|_{\mathcal{E}=\mathcal{E}_{0}, E_{\mathrm{f,n}}} = b \cdot \exp(-c(\mathcal{E}_{0} - \mathcal{E})) \bigg|_{\mathcal{E}=\mathcal{E}_{0}, E_{\mathrm{f,n}}}.$$
(4.32)

For  $\mathcal{E} = \mathcal{E}_0$ , Eq. (4.32) becomes:

$$|\vec{E}(\mathcal{E}_0)| \cdot T(\mathcal{E}_0) = b \cdot \exp(-c \cdot 0) = b.$$
(4.33)

By considering that  $T(\mathcal{E}_0)$  is the tunneling probability directly at the top of the SB at x = 0(see: Fig. 4.2) where the barrier has a thickness of 0,  $T(\mathcal{E}_0)$  must be 1. Therefore, the coefficient b can be expressed as:

$$b = E_{\mathbf{x}}(0) \cdot T(0) = E_{\mathbf{x}}(0) \,. \tag{4.34}$$

For the second auxiliary point  $\mathcal{E} = E_{f,n}$ , Eq. (4.32) becomes:

$$|\vec{E}(E_{\rm f,n})| \cdot T(E_{\rm f,n}) = b \cdot \exp(-c(\mathcal{E}_0 - E_{\rm f,n})), \qquad (4.35)$$

which can be rearranged into the final expression of c, as:

$$c = \ln\left(\frac{1}{b} \cdot E_{\mathbf{x}}(E_{\mathbf{f},\mathbf{n}}) \cdot T(E_{\mathbf{f},\mathbf{n}})\right) \cdot \frac{1}{(E_{\mathbf{f},\mathbf{n}} - \mathcal{E}_0)}.$$
(4.36)

 $E_x(x)$  is the compact electric field in x-direction from Eq. (4.17) and T(x) is the tunneling probability at position x. The fitting parameter  $\gamma_n$  for electrons (or  $\gamma_p$  for holes) is in the range of 0...1 and shall compensate the error for low  $V'_{gs}$  caused by the Gaussian approximation from Eq. (4.19). The tunneling probability T(x = 0) must be 1, because x = 0 is exactly the top of the barrier where the tunneling thickness is zero. The tunneling probability at  $x = x_{\rm f}$ , which is at the peak of the Gaussian distribution (see Fig. 4.2), is calculated by a modified version of the WKB approximation for triangular tunneling barrier shapes from Eq. (2.65), that is given by:

$$T_{\rm WKB}(x_{\rm f}) = \exp\left(-\frac{4}{3} \cdot \frac{\sqrt{2qm^*} \cdot (\Delta \Phi(x_{\rm f}))^{3/2}}{\hbar \cdot |E_{\rm x}(0)|}\right).$$
(4.37)

Here,  $\hbar$  is the reduced Planck's constant and  $m^*$  is either the electron  $(m_n \cdot m_0)$  or the hole  $(m_p \cdot m_0)$  tunneling mass, which are both used as fitting parameters in the compact model. The parameter  $\Delta \Phi$  is the height of the barrier to be tunneled through by charge carriers, which is either given as the potential difference  $\Delta \Phi(x_f) = \varphi_{ch}(x_f) - \varphi_{ch}(0)$ , in case  $\Delta \Phi(x_f)$  is bigger than  $\Phi_{B,n}$ , or it is fixed to  $\Phi_{B,n}$  otherwise. Although, Eq. (4.37) is calculated at the position  $x_f$ , the electric field, that is used is  $|E_x(0)|$ , directly at the Schottky junction. Since the approximated SB has a 1/x curvature and Eq. (4.37) is used for triangular energy barriers, some approximations have to be made. Using the electric field  $|E_x(x_f)|$  would be too small for a correct calculation. There are other possible methods, like an average electric field or an area equivalent method, as proposed in [84]. However, it has proven to be a good approximation to use the electric field  $|E_x(0)|$  in the WKB equation.

Finally, with the equations Eq. (4.31)-Eq. (4.37) the FE current density  $J_{\text{FE}}$  can be calculated. As it is demonstrated in [30], the integral of Eq. (4.19) can be solved to:

$$J_{\rm FE} \approx \frac{q\mu_{\rm tn}N_{\rm C}}{8k_{\rm b}\vartheta} \cdot \frac{b\sqrt{\pi}}{\sqrt{a}} \cdot \exp\left(c(E_{\rm f} - \mathcal{E}_0) + \frac{c^2}{4a}\right) \times \left[j_{\rm erfc}(\mathcal{E}_0) - j_{\rm erfc}(\mathcal{E}_{\rm min})\right],$$
(4.38)

with:

$$j_{\rm erfc}(\mathcal{E}) = \operatorname{erfc}\left(\frac{-2a(\mathcal{E} - E_{\rm f}) + c}{2\sqrt{a}}\right),$$
(4.39)

where  $\operatorname{erfc}(x)$  is the complementary error function. This equation for the FE current density is valid for electrons, tunneling through SBs at the conduction band. The FE current density for holes works similarly, but with the correspondent hole transport parameters.

#### 4.2.2 Thermionic Emission Injection Current

The TE current consists of the charge carriers which overcome the energy barriers, instead of tunneling through them. In case of electrons, it is calculated according to Eq. (2.80) (in reverse direction), by:

$$J_{\rm TE} = A^* \vartheta^2 \cdot \exp\left(-\frac{q\Phi_{\rm bar}}{k_{\rm b}\vartheta}\right) \cdot \left[1 - \exp\left(-\frac{qV_{\rm ds}}{k_{\rm b}\vartheta}\right)\right],\tag{4.40}$$

#### 4.3 Current Balancing Model



Figure 4.3: Energy barriers for the electron TE current at the source-side SB. The blue line shows the device in the on-state. In this state,  $\Phi_{\rm bar}$  is as high as the SB height. The purple line shows the device with negative gate bias. In this state  $\Phi_{\rm bar}$  equals the highest potential in the channel.

where  $A^*$  is the effective Richardson constant (see Eq. (2.79)) and  $\Phi_{\text{bar}}$  is the calculated barrier height that charge carriers have to overcome. The gate voltage in Eq. (4.40) is considered in terms of the parameter  $\Phi_{\text{bar}}$ , as demonstrated in Fig. 4.3. If a SB forms where the charge carriers can tunnel through, the barrier height  $\Phi_{\text{bar}}$  will be given by  $\Phi_{\text{B,n}}$  itself (see  $q \cdot \Phi_{\text{bar}}(V_{\text{gs}} > 0)$  in Fig. 4.3). In case of a reversed electric field at the interface, it is given by the potential barrier in the channel (see  $q \cdot \Phi_{\text{bar}}(V_{\text{gs}} < 0)$  in Fig. 4.3), which corresponds to the potential  $\Phi_{\text{cen,L/2}}$ calculated with Eq. (4.7). For the TE current of holes an equation similar to Eq. (4.40) is defined.

# 4.3 Current Balancing Model

The so far described current components (FE and TE current) are both contributing to the total device current  $(I_{ds})$ . While the previous sections mainly focus on the FE and TE current calculations at the source junction, those currents also appear at the drain junction. In n-type operation mode there is an electron current at the source side and a hole current at the drain side of the device and vice versa for p-type operation mode. While the TE current, given by Eq. (4.40), depends on the drain-source voltage  $V_{ds}$ , the FE current according to Eq. (4.19) is independent of  $V_{ds}$ . This means that even for low  $V_{ds}$  high FE currents would be possible, in case of high gate voltages  $V_{gs}$ . In order to prevent this effect and bring a  $V_{ds}$  dependency into the expression for the FE current, a current balancing model is included at the drain side. In case that the drain potential is bigger than the potential in the middle of the channel (see Fig. 4.4(a)), both FE current contributions are included regularly into the total current. In case that the potential in the channel of the device is bigger than the drain potential, a virtual





**Figure 4.4:** Example band diagrams at different bias conditions to demonstrate the total FE current calculation. (a) device state that allows an electron FE current  $(J_{\text{FE},s,n})$  at the source side and a hole FE current  $(J_{\text{FE},d,p})$  at the drain side. Both currents are contributing to the total FE current  $(J_{\text{FE},\text{tot}})$ . (b) device state with a SB for electrons on both sides. In the compact model, a virtual drain-side FE current  $(J_{\text{FE},d,n})$  is calculated and subtracted from the source-side injection current  $(J_{\text{FE},s,n})$ , to calculate the total FE current  $(J_{\text{FE},\text{tot}})$ .

FE current is calculated which gets subtracted from the source current (see Fig. 4.4(b)). So, if  $V_{\rm ds} = 0$  and a gate voltage was applied, the source FE current and the virtual drain FE current would be equally high and cancel out each other. For the total FE current density of the device this results in:

$$J_{\rm FE,tot} = \begin{cases} J_{\rm FE,s,n} - J_{\rm FE,d,n}, & E_{\rm x}(x = L_{\rm ch}) < 0\\ J_{\rm FE,s,n}, & E_{\rm x}(x = L_{\rm ch}) = 0\\ J_{\rm FE,s,n} + J_{\rm FE,d,p}, & E_{\rm x}(x = L_{\rm ch}) > 0 \end{cases}$$
(4.41)

in the n-type operation mode and the on-state and similarly for other operation modes.  $E_{\rm x}(x = L_{\rm ch})$  is the electric field in x-direction at the drain-channel junction.

The total TE current density is calculated with the TE current contributions from electrons

4.4 Channel Resistance Model Addition

and holes, given by:

$$J_{\rm TE,tot} = J_{\rm TE,n} + J_{\rm TE,p}$$
 (4.42)

Considering both total current densities from Eq. (4.41) and Eq. (4.42) the total drain current of the DG SBFET is calculated by:

$$I_{\rm ds,inj} = W_{\rm ch} \cdot t_{\rm ch} (J_{\rm FE,tot} \cdot t_{\rm eff,FE} + J_{\rm TE,tot} \cdot t_{\rm eff,TE}), \qquad (4.43)$$

where  $W_{ch}$  is the channel width and  $t_{ch}$  is the channel thickness of the DG structure (see Fig. 3.2(a)). The channel width  $W_{ch}$  is needed, because the used potential model from Sec. 4.1 works with a 2D planar structure. Therefore, instead of calculating a nanowire structure, the model calculates the currents inside the planar structure from Fig. 3.2(a), which gets stretched in the third dimension by  $W_{ch}$ . To consider the fact that the FE current is the main on-current where the current flow is mostly located at the channel-oxide interface and the TE current flows mainly in the center of the device, two effective thicknesses ( $t_{eff,FE}$  and  $t_{eff,TE}$ ) are introduced in Eq. (4.43), each in the range of 0...1. Equation (4.43) describes the total SB injection drain current which can be used to describe the SBFET characteristics as long as the channel of the transistor can be neglected.

# 4.4 Channel Resistance Model Addition

The channel resistance is modeled as a second-order effect of SBFETs. As an unwanted effect in those devices, this effect can get significant at higher biases and for devices with longer channel lengths and does not need to be considered for all devices. The approach in this model is to treat the channel of the SBFET as a regular MOSFET, which can accumulate negative charges and show an n-type behavior in case of a positive gate bias, and which can accumulate positive charges and show a p-type behavior in case of a negative gate bias. For the mathematical description of the channel MOSFET, a well-known charge-based model is used, that has been introduced in Sec. 2.2, given by:

$$I_{\rm MOS} = 2\mu_{\rm n} \frac{W_{\rm ch}}{L_{\rm ch}} \cdot \left[ \frac{k_{\rm b}\vartheta}{q} \cdot \left( Q_{\rm s}' - Q_{\rm d}' \right) + \frac{{Q'}_{\rm s}^2 - {Q'}_{\rm d}^2}{2 \cdot C_{\rm ox}'} \right].$$
(4.44)

The coefficients of Eq. (4.44) are the carrier mobility of electrons  $\mu_n$ , the device geometries  $W_{ch}$  and  $L_{ch}$  and the oxide capacity per gate area  $C'_{ox}$ . Both charge densities of Eq. (4.44) are defined as:

$$Q'_{\rm s} = \frac{S}{\ln(10)} \cdot C'_{\rm ox} \cdot W_0 \left( \exp\left(\frac{V_{\rm gs,MOS} - V_{\rm T0}}{S/\ln(10)}\right) \right)$$
(4.45)

and

$$Q'_{\rm d} = \frac{S}{\ln(10)} \cdot C'_{\rm ox} \cdot W_0 \left( \exp\left(\frac{V_{\rm gd,MOS} - V_{\rm T0}}{S/\ln(10)}\right) \right),\tag{4.46}$$

with the gate-drain voltage  $V_{\rm gd,MOS} = V_{\rm gs,MOS} - V_{\rm ds}$  of the channel MOSFET, the coefficients S which is the subthreshold swing and the threshold voltage  $V_{\rm th}$  of the channel MOSFET model that can be used as fitting parameters. The function  $W_0(z)$  used in Eq. (4.45) and Eq. (4.46) is the principal branch of the Lambert W function (See Eq. (2.42)).

The given Eq. (4.44) to Eq. (4.46) are valid for an n-type transistor, or rather in case that the channel of the SBFET is conductive for electrons. Since the injection model from Sec. 4.2 also supports an ambipolar and p-type mode, a p-type behavior also needs to be implemented. In this case, p-type transistor is calculated by using Eq. (4.44), but with the hole mobility  $\mu_{\rm p}$  instead of  $\mu_{\rm n}$  and with reversed voltages in the charge equations ( $V_{\rm gs,MOS} \rightarrow V_{\rm gd,MOS}$  and  $V_{\rm gd,MOS} \rightarrow V_{\rm gs,MOS}$ ). In case of the SBFET, the gate voltage for the channel MOSFET is set to  $V_{\rm gs,MOS} = V_{\rm gs} - V_{\rm fb}$ .

To combine the channel resistance model with the SB injection model, there are multiple options. The most accurate model would be implementing both models independently in a circuit simulator and use them together as a macro model, so the circuit simulator could find the best operating point between both model parts. However, this is not a closed-form compact solution and would require additional computation effort during runtime. Therefore, a compact approach has been chosen which is used to combine both models together. The idea is that the total current of both models is mainly dominated by the model that leads to the lower current. For an on-state n-type SBFET that would result in:

$$I_{\rm ds} = \begin{cases} I_{\rm ds,inj}, & I_{\rm ds,inj} \ll I_{\rm MOS} \\ I_{\rm MOS}, & I_{\rm ds,inj} \gg I_{\rm MOS} \end{cases},$$
(4.47)

which however, is not steady or rather not even defined in a state where  $I_{\rm ds,inj}$  and  $I_{\rm MOS}$  are in the same order of magnitude. To keep the idea of using the smaller current and also have a steady, smooth, and adjustable transition between both models, the equation:

$$I_{\rm ds} = \frac{I_{\rm MOS}}{\gamma_{\rm MOS} \sqrt{1 + \left(\frac{I_{\rm MOS}}{I_{\rm ds,inj}}\right)^{\gamma_{\rm MOS}}}},\tag{4.48}$$

is used. This equation combines both currents of Eq. (4.43) and Eq. (4.44) by emphasizing the lower of the two currents. The parameter  $\gamma_{MOS}$  is a fitting parameter which is used to smooth and fit the transition between both parts of the model.

# 4.5 Model Results

68

In this section, the results of the room temperature SBFET compact model are shown. These results are compared to TCAD simulations, in case of a short channel device in Sec. 4.5.1 and a longer channel device, including the channel resistance model, in Sec. 4.5.2. There are additional results compared to simulations and measurements for the room temperature model

#### 4.5 Model Results

which are RFET results and will be discussed in Chapter 6.

## 4.5.1 Model Results of the Injection Model

In this first result from [81] an ideal test case for the injection SBFET model is used, which provides a 2D DG structure and a very short channel length of  $L_{ch} = 40$  nm. The model results have been obtained by using the injection model only (Eq. (4.43)), while neglecting the channel resistance. For this calculation, the 2D potential model in combination with the effective gate-source voltage according to Eq. (4.1) is used. Figure 4.5 shows the model results compared to the 2D TCAD simulations of a SBFET with an intrinsic silicon channel. The S/D contacts are made of nickel silicide and the gate material is titanium, which leads to a flatband voltage of  $V_{fb} \approx 1$  V. The nickel silicide to silicon material junction leads to almost equally high SBs for electrons and holes and therefore, very symmetric characteristics. The geometry used in the simulation is a DG structure and  $L_{ch}$ ,  $t_{ch}$  and  $t_{ox}$  are in a scale to match the model constraints well. The channel width  $W_{ch}$  of this DG structure is normalized to 1 µm, and the model's fitting parameters have been adapted manually in order to obtain the best agreement with the simulated data.

The distinctive property of the SBFET is the on-state and the ambipolar-state in the transfer characteristics which is clearly visible and covered by the compact model. The results of the model show a good agreement to the simulated current for all simulated bias conditions.

Parameter	TCAD SBFET
$L_{\rm ch} \ [{\rm nm}]$	40
$W_{\rm ch}  [{\rm nm}]$	1000
$t_{\rm ch} \ [{\rm nm}]$	10
$t_{\rm ox}  [{\rm nm}]$	2
$t_{\rm eff,FE}$ [-]	0.2
$t_{\rm eff,TE}$ [-]	0.8
$\varepsilon_{\rm r,ox}$ [-]	3.9
$\varepsilon_{\rm r,SC}$ [-]	11.7
$E_{\rm g}  \left[ {\rm eV} \right]$	1.155
$\Phi_{\mathrm{B,n}}$ [V]	0.660
$\Phi_{\mathrm{B,p}}$ [V]	0.495
$m_{ m n}$ [-]	0.749
$m_{ m p}$ [-]	0.288
$\mu_{\rm tn}  [{\rm cm}^2  {\rm V}^{-1}  {\rm s}^{-1}]$	378
$\mu_{\rm tp}  [{\rm cm}^2  {\rm V}^{-1}  {\rm s}^{-1}]$	20
$\gamma_{ m n}$ [-]	1.0
$\gamma_{ m p}$ [-]	1.0
$\alpha$ [-]	0.6
$V_{\rm fb}$ [V]	+1

Table 4.1: Device parameters of the SBFET under investigation in Fig. 4.5



Figure 4.5: Model results compared to TCAD simulations. The blue dots represent the results of the TCAD simulations, and the red lines are the compact model results. The results are presented in (a) linear and (b) logarithmic scale. The used model parameters can be found in Tab. 4.1.

#### 4.5 Model Results

There are only slight deviations in the ambipolar region for higher drain voltages. The full set structural and model parameters that were used can be found in Tab. 4.1.

#### 4.5.2 Model Results Including Channel Resistance

In this section, the model is applied to a long-channel SBFET device with a channel length of 5 µm which is also simulated with TCAD Sentaurus [83]. This TCAD simulation is performed as a 2D simulation of the device's cross-section combined with the cylindrical mode, in order to simulate a full nanowire gate-all-around structure [28]. The used material parameters of the TCAD simulation are equal to those from Sec. 3.1. The used geometric, material, and fitting parameters used for the compact model can be found in Tab. 4.2. For obtaining these model results the channel resistance model from Sec. 4.4 is used, together with the effective gate-source voltage calculation according to Eq. (4.3). The fitting parameters have been adapted manually to the simulated data. It shall be mentioned that the device geometries  $W_{\rm ch}$ and  $t_{\rm ch}$  have been chosen to approximately fit the circumference and diameter, respectively of the simulated device, which has a nanowire channel radius of  $R_{\rm NW} = 15$  nm. However, these model parameters are still not completely comparable to the nanowire's radius but used to fit the calculated characteristics. Especially, the channel width  $W_{\rm ch}$  is roughly about four times smaller than expected. An explanation for this reduced channel width, could be the different physical behavior between the simulated gate-all-around structure and the modeled 2D double gate structure, as well as the fact that the TCAD simulation uses a high-field saturation mobility model, that reduces the carrier mobility at high electric fields, which is impactful for MOSFETs at higher bias voltages [28]. This second effect using a dynamic mobility is not considered in the current implementation of the compact model, but can lead to the recognized deviation, compensated by the channel width. All other geometric parameters correspond to the simulation. The results are shown in Fig. 4.6, which consist of transfer characteristics in linear and logarithmic scale and Fig. 4.7 which are the corresponding output characteristics. The compact model results show a good agreement to the given TCAD simulations, besides a slight deviation in the output characteristics.

72



Figure 4.6: Device characteristics of the SBFET calculated from the compact model (solid red lines) and compared to TCAD simulations (blue dots). The geometries of the simulated device are  $L_{\rm ch} = 5.0 \,\mu{\rm m}$ ,  $R_{\rm NW} = 15 \,{\rm nm}$  and  $t_{\rm ox} = 6.5 \,{\rm nm}$ . The compact model parameters can be found in Tab. 4.2. (a) shows the transfer characteristics for various positive drain voltages in linear scale and (b) shows similar results in logarithmic scale.

#### 4.5 Model Results



Figure 4.7: Device output characteristics of the SBFET calculated from the compact model (solid red line) and compared to TCAD simulations (blue dots). The geometries of the simulated device are  $L_{\rm ch} = 5.0 \,\mu{\rm m}$ ,  $R_{\rm NW} = 15 \,{\rm nm}$  and  $t_{\rm ox} = 6.5 \,{\rm nm}$ . The compact model parameters can be found in Tab. 4.2.

Table 4.2: Device parameters of the SBFET under investigation in Fig. 4.6 and Fig. 4.7

Parameter	SBFET (TCAD)
$L_{\rm ch}$ [µm]	5.0
$W_{\rm ch}  [{\rm nm}]$	13
$t_{\rm ch}   [{\rm nm}]$	30
$t_{\rm ox}  [{\rm nm}]$	6.5
$t_{\rm eff,FE}$ [-]	0.2
$t_{\rm eff,TE}$ [-]	0.8
$\varepsilon_{\rm r,ox}$ [-]	3.9
$\varepsilon_{\rm r,sc}$ [-]	11.7
$E_{\rm g}  \left[ {\rm eV} \right]$	1.1696
$\Phi_{\mathrm{B,n}}$ [V]	0.5800
$\Phi_{\rm B,p}$ [V]	0.5896
$V_{\text{limit}}$ [V]	1.65
$\gamma_{\rm Vg,eff}$ [-]	2.10
$m_{\rm n}$ [-]	0.26
$m_{\rm p}$ [-]	0.27
$\mu_{\rm tn}  [{\rm cm}^2  {\rm V}^{-1}  {\rm s}^{-1}]$	415.35
$\mu_{\rm tp}  [{\rm cm}^2  {\rm V}^{-1}  {\rm s}^{-1}]$	1352.00
$\gamma_{\rm n}$ [-]	0.20
$\gamma_{ m p}$ [-]	0.20
$V_{\rm T0}$ [V]	1.11
S  [mV/dec.]	150
$\gamma_{\rm MOS}$ [-]	0.5
$\mu_{\rm n}  [{\rm cm}^2  {\rm V}^{-1}  {\rm s}^{-1}]$	1440
$\mu_{\rm p}  \left[ {\rm cm}^2  {\rm V}^{-1}  {\rm s}^{-1} \right]$	450
$V_{\rm fb}$ [V]	0
UNIVERSITAT ROVIRA I VIRGILI COMPACT MODELING OF SCHOTTKY BARRIER AND RECONFIGURABLE FIELD-EFFECT TRANSISTORS Christian Römer

4 Compact Modeling of Schottky Barrier Field-Effect transistors

# CHAPTER 5

Model Additions for Deep Cryogenic Temperatures

This chapter describes the model for SBFETs that is adjusted for a deep-cryogenic temperature environment of  $\vartheta \approx 0$  K. This compact model has been published in [85, 86]. Although the SBFET compact model described in Chapter 4 has a temperature dependency in its equations, it is made for room temperature environment, specifically. This means that the room temperature model is not scalable to the temperature and needs to be re-fitted for different temperatures. It is also not capable of capturing certain physical effects occurring at deep cryogenic temperatures.

For this SBFET compact model at deep cryogenic temperatures, the equations are further developed and solved in this temperature environment. For an easier model derivation, a temperature of  $\vartheta \to 0$  K is estimated. The compact model for deep cryogenic temperatures uses a different approach to obtain the potential inside the transistors channel, compared to the room temperature model. This approach is described in Sec. 5.1. In case of a temperature of  $\vartheta \to 0$  K, there is no TE current expected to be injected at the devices' SBs. Therefore, the main injection current is the FE current which is derived in Sec. 5.2. Section 5.3 describes the inclusion of second order effects that can be observed in measurements at the given temperature environment. Those are quantum oscillations, band tail effect and the channel resistance. In Sec. 5.4 the total drain current equation is given, which includes the FE current and the mentioned second order effects. Finally, Sec. 5.5 shows the model results compared to measurements of SBFETs that are measured at temperatures of about 5 K. The cryogenic SBFET measurements have been provided by Forschungszentrum Jülich GmbH.

## 5.1 Potential Model Adjustments at Absolute Zero

For the cryogenic SBFET model the used potential model has been replaced, by the quasi 2D potential model introduced in Sec. 2.1.2. The replacement has two reasons. First, the quasi 2D model is temperature independent and the doping concentration used in this model can be

5 Model Additions for Deep Cryogenic Temperatures

ignored, since the dopants are supposed to be frozen out. Second, at temperatures of  $\vartheta \to 0 \text{ K}$ , there is no thermal energy and therefore, no TE current expected to be flowing. Without the TE current it is not necessary to calculate the potential in the center *y*-position of the device's channel. In this case, only the surface potential is of interest, which can be calculated with less effort by the quasi 2D potential model.

For a proper usage of the quasi 2D potential model, even at high bias voltages, a saturation model has to be included to counteract the neglect of accumulated charges in the potential model. Section 5.1.1 introduces a potential saturation model that is derived specifically for the case  $\vartheta \to 0$  K which calculates an effective gate-source voltage  $V_{\rm gs,eff}$ . The following Sec. 5.1.2 describes the usage of the basic potential model including the saturation model, and the reconstruction of important band diagram parameters with the potential model.

#### 5.1.1 Saturation at High Gate Voltages

Since the potential model that is used for the cryogenic SBFET model is based on Poisson's equation, but neglects accumulated charges inside the channel, it is working fine for lower gate voltages, but overestimates the device's surface potential at higher gate voltages. In order to work around this problem, appearing at higher gate voltages, a surface potential saturation model applicable for temperatures of  $\vartheta \to 0$  K is introduced which calculates an effective gate voltages  $V_{\rm gs,eff}$ . The given derivation is done for accumulated electrons (positive gate voltages) but works similarly with holes. For the derivation of this model, the standard approach for the calculation of the electron density n inside a 3D semiconductor according to [2, 6] is used, given as:

$$n = \int_{E_{\rm C}}^{\infty} g_{\rm C3D}(\mathcal{E}) \cdot f_{\rm n}(\mathcal{E}) \cdot d\mathcal{E}, \qquad (5.1)$$

where  $g_{\text{C3D}}$  is the semiconductor's density of states and  $f_n$  is the Fermi distribution function, both dependent on the energy level  $\mathcal{E}$ . In a temperature environment that is estimated to be  $\vartheta \to 0$  K, the Fermi distribution function can be simplified to:

$$f_{n}(\mathcal{E}) = \lim_{\vartheta \to 0} \left[ \frac{1}{1 + \exp\left(\frac{\mathcal{E} - E_{f,n}}{k_{b}\vartheta}\right)} \right]$$
$$= \begin{cases} 0, \quad \mathcal{E} > E_{fn} \\ 1, \quad \mathcal{E} < E_{fn} \end{cases},$$
(5.2)

resulting in a piece-wise defined step function with a full occupation of states for energy levels lower than the quasi-Fermi energy level for electrons  $(E_{\rm fn})$  and no occupation for states on

76

#### 5.1 Potential Model Adjustments at Absolute Zero

energy levels higher than  $E_{\rm fn}$ . Using Eq. (5.2) in Eq. (5.1), the integral can be simplified to:

$$n = \int_{E_{\rm C}}^{E_{\rm fn}} g_{\rm C3D}(\mathcal{E}) \cdot 1 \cdot d\mathcal{E} + \int_{E_{\rm fn}}^{\infty} g_{\rm C3D}(\mathcal{E}) \cdot 0 \cdot d\mathcal{E} , \qquad (5.3)$$

with  $g_{C3D}$  as density of states, according to [2, 6], which can be written as:

$$n = v_{\rm n} \cdot \frac{(2m_{\rm n}^*)^{\frac{3}{2}}}{2\pi^2\hbar^3} \cdot \int_{E_{\rm C}}^{E_{\rm fn}} \sqrt{\mathcal{E} - E_{\rm C}} \cdot d\mathcal{E} \,.$$
(5.4)

This integral solves to:

$$n = v_{\rm n} \cdot \frac{(2m_{\rm n}^*)^{\frac{3}{2}}}{2\pi^2 \hbar^3} \cdot \left[\frac{2}{3} \cdot (\mathcal{E} - E_{\rm C})^{\frac{3}{2}}\right]_{E_{\rm C}}^{E_{\rm fn}}, \qquad (5.5)$$

which leads to an expression for the electrons in the conduction band, given as:

$$n = \frac{\sqrt{8}v_{\rm n}m_{\rm me}^{3/2}}{3\pi^2\hbar^3} (E_{\rm fn} - E_{\rm C})^{\frac{3}{2}}.$$
 (5.6)

Equation (5.6) shows the relation of the electron density to the energy difference of  $E_{\rm fn}$  and the conduction band energy  $E_{\rm C}$ . The constants of Eq. (5.6) are the number of equivalent minima in the conduction band  $v_{\rm n}$ , the density-of-state effective mass for electrons  $m_{\rm me}$ , and the reduced Planck's constant  $\hbar$  [2, 6]. Equation (5.6) shows that, in case of  $\vartheta \to 0$  K, the quasi Fermi energy level for electrons  $E_{\rm f,n}$  must be higher than the conduction band energy  $E_{\rm C}$  in order to have existing free electrons that can contribute to the current flow.

The accumulated carriers (or rather the carrier density) at the device's channel surface also depends on the applied gate voltage. At high gate voltages, it is estimated that almost all accumulated carriers are close to the channel surface and the major voltage drop of the flatband voltage corrected gate-source voltage  $V'_{\rm gs} = V_{\rm gs} - V_{\rm fb}$  is at the oxide. This is represented by:

$$V'_{\rm gs} = \frac{q_{\rm sur}}{C'_{\rm ox}} = \frac{n \cdot q \cdot t_{\rm sur}}{C'_{\rm ox}} \,, \tag{5.7}$$

with  $q_{\text{sur}}$  as the accumulated surface charge and  $C'_{\text{ox}}$  as oxide capacitance per gate area. In the second step of Eq. (5.7),  $q_{\text{sur}}$  is replaced by  $n \cdot q \cdot t_{\text{sur}}$ , where  $t_{\text{sur}}$  is an average thickness that contains the accumulated electron concentration n and is estimated to be constant in this approach. Finally, using Eq. (5.6) in Eq. (5.7), leads to:

$$V_{\rm gs}' = \frac{\sqrt{8}qt_{\rm sur}v_{\rm n}m_{\rm me}^{3/2}}{3C_{\rm ox}'\pi^2\hbar^3} \cdot (E_{\rm fn} - E_{\rm C})^{\frac{3}{2}}.$$
(5.8)

This equation describes the dependency between  $V'_{\rm gs}$  and  $(E_{\rm fn} - E_{\rm C})$  in case of saturation of the channel potential. For a simplification and better usage in the algorithm, a constant  $K_{\rm sat}$ 

#### 5 Model Additions for Deep Cryogenic Temperatures

is introduced and defined as:

$$K_{\rm sat} = \frac{\sqrt{8}q t_{\rm sur} v_{\rm n} m_{\rm me}^{3/2}}{3C_{\rm ox}' \pi^2 \hbar^3} \cdot q^{\frac{3}{2}} \,, \tag{5.9}$$

which replaces the constants in Eq. (5.8). In the next step, the energies are represented as potentials, with  $\Phi_{\rm sur,sat} = -q^{-1} \cdot (E_{\rm C} - E_{\rm g}/2)$  as the saturated surface potential and  $\Phi_{\rm fn} = E_{\rm f,n}/q$  as the quasi Fermi potential for electrons, which can only be in range of  $V_{\rm s}$  to  $V_{\rm d}$ . Using both potentials and Eq. (5.9) in Eq. (5.8) leads to the equation:

$$V'_{\rm gs} = K_{\rm sat} \cdot (\Phi_{\rm sur, sat} - \frac{E_{\rm g}}{2q} - \Phi_{\rm fn})^{\frac{3}{2}}.$$
 (5.10)

The energy-to-potential conversion term  $q^{\frac{3}{2}}$  has been included in the constant  $K_{\text{sat}}$ . Equation (5.10) is the key equation for the upcoming calculations.

In order to incorporate the saturated channel potential from Eq. (5.10) into the used potential model with an effective gate-source voltage  $V_{\rm gs,eff}$ , an algorithm is used which is explained in the following steps.

### Establish Boundary Condition

First, a boundary condition at which the saturation process starts, needs to be defined. The idea is to find a boundary surface potential  $\Phi_{sur,bound}$  and a corresponding boundary gate-source voltage  $V_{gs,bound}$ , where  $V'_{gs} > V_{gs,bound}$  leads to a saturation of the surface potential, due to accumulated charges in the channel. As Eq. (5.6) demonstrates, the electron accumulation happens as soon as the quasi-Fermi energy of electrons  $E_{f,n}$  is higher than the conduction band energy  $E_{\rm C}$ . This state is shown in Fig. 5.1(a), which shows the band diagram of a SBFET reconstructed by the potential model of Eq. (2.15) (See Sec. 2.1.2). This condition is shown in Fig. 5.1(a) in the calculated band diagram. In case that the boundary condition is met or surpassed, it is assumed, that the quasi-Fermi energy for electrons drops linearly from source to drain. Therefore, the quasi-Fermi potential in the middle of the channel can be written as:

$$\Phi_{\rm fn,L/2} = \Phi_{\rm fn} \left(\frac{L_{\rm ch}}{2}\right) \approx \frac{V_{\rm d} - V_{\rm s}}{2} \,, \tag{5.11}$$

so the value of  $\Phi_{\text{fn},L/2}$  is exactly in between of the source and drain potentials. A useful condition for switching over to the saturation model is at:

$$\Phi_{\rm sur,bound} = \frac{V_{\rm d} - V_{\rm s}}{2} + \Phi_{\rm B,n} + \Delta V_{\rm bound} \,, \tag{5.12}$$

which represents the boundary potential in the middle of the channel at which the conduction band hits the approximated value of  $\Phi_{\text{fn},L/2}$ , minus an additional voltage  $\Delta V_{\text{bound}}$ , that serves as an adjustable fitting parameter (see Fig. 5.1(a)).

78

5.1 Potential Model Adjustments at Absolute Zero



Figure 5.1: Band diagram of an arbitrary device, demonstrating the surface potential saturation model. The blue line is the conduction band energy, the orange line is the valence band energy, and the red dashed line is the estimated quasi-Fermi energy for electrons in the on-state. (a) shows the saturation condition, given by Eq. (5.12). (b) shows an example of a higher gate bias and the difference between a saturated (solid lines) and an unsaturated (dotted lines) surface potential. The unsaturated case leads to a huge difference between  $E_{\rm fn}$  and  $E_{\rm C}$  and therefore, to an unrealistically high number of accumulated electrons, according to Eq. (5.4).

5 Model Additions for Deep Cryogenic Temperatures

After the boundary potential  $\Phi_{\text{sur,bound}}$  for the given drain voltage has been calculated, the needed gate-source voltage  $V_{\text{gs,bound}}$  for reaching that boundary state can be obtained, using the potential model Eq. (2.15) in reverse, as:

$$V_{\rm gs,bound} = \Phi_{\rm sur,bound} - \left[ \frac{V_{\rm b,s} \cdot p(L_{\rm ch} - x) + V_{\rm b,d} \cdot p(x)}{p(L_{\rm ch})} \right]_{x = \frac{L_{\rm ch}}{2}}, \tag{5.13}$$

with p(x) given as Eq. (2.16).

#### Determine the Saturation Constant

In a second step, it is assumed that for an applied gate-source voltage of  $V'_{\rm gs} > V_{\rm gs,bound}$ , the accumulated charges in the channel can no longer be neglected and therefore, the saturation equation Eq. (5.10) needs to be used in order to describe the dependency between gate-source voltage and surface potential. Using Eq. (5.10) at the saturation boundary, with  $V'_{\rm gs} = V_{\rm gs,bound}$  and  $\Phi_{\rm sur,sat} = \Phi_{\rm sur,bound}$ ,  $K_{\rm sat}$  can be calculated as:

$$K_{\rm sat} = V_{\rm gs,bound} \cdot (\Phi_{\rm sur,bound} - \frac{E_{\rm g}}{2q} - \Phi_{\rm fn,L/2})^{-\frac{3}{2}},$$
 (5.14)

which is estimated to be constant for all  $V'_{gs} > V_{gs,bound}$ .

## Calculate the Saturated Potential and Gate-Source-Voltage

In the previous steps the boundary condition for the saturation and the saturation constant  $K_{\text{sat}}$  have been defined. Now, for gate-source voltages of  $V'_{\text{gs}} > V_{\text{gs,bound}}$  the constant  $K_{\text{sat}}$  and  $\Phi_{\text{fn,L/2}}$  can be used in Eq. (5.10) again, in order to calculate the saturated surface potential  $\Phi_{\text{sur,sat}}$ , as:

$$\Phi_{\rm sur,sat} = \left(\frac{V_{\rm gs}'}{K_{\rm sat}}\right)^{\frac{2}{3}} + \frac{E_{\rm g}}{2q} + \Phi_{\rm fn,L/2} \,. \tag{5.15}$$

Finally, Eq. (5.15) leads to an expression that could be used as saturated surface potential, but only at the position  $x = L_{\rm ch}/2$ . For a completed surface potential, the Laplace function based potential model adjusted in Eq. (5.13) can be used again, but this time to calculate from  $\Phi_{\rm sur,sat}$  the corresponding saturated gate-source voltage  $V_{\rm gs,sat}$ , as:

$$V_{\rm gs,sat} = \Phi_{\rm sur,sat} - \left[\frac{V_{\rm b,s} \cdot p(L_{\rm ch} - x) + V_{\rm b,d} \cdot p(x)}{p(L_{\rm ch})}\right]_{x = \frac{L_{\rm ch}}{2}}.$$
 (5.16)

This voltage, as replacement for  $V'_{\rm gs}$  in the initial potential model of Eq. (2.15), results in the same surface potential  $\Phi_{\rm sur}(L_{\rm ch}/2) = \Phi_{\rm sur,sat}$  as from the saturation model Eq. (5.10), which is necessary for the last step.

80

#### 5.1 Potential Model Adjustments at Absolute Zero

#### Expression for all Bias Regions

In the last step, a distinction needs to be made at which the applied (model input) gate-source voltages  $V'_{\rm gs}$  the saturation model should be used or not. For this case an effective gate-source voltage  $V_{\rm gs,eff}$  is introduced that replaces the actual input voltage  $V'_{\rm gs}$ . The easiest way for this distinction would be conditional, as:

$$V_{\rm gs,eff} = \begin{cases} V_{\rm gs}', & V_{\rm gs}' \le V_{\rm gs,sat} \\ V_{\rm gs,sat}, & V_{\rm gs}' > V_{\rm gs,sat} \end{cases},$$
(5.17)

which would be steady and considers both operation regions. For compact modeling it is preferable to have smooth functions that are differentiable for all input voltages  $V_{\rm gs}$ '. For this smooth transition between the unsaturated and the saturated region, instead of using Eq. (5.17), a smoothing function is defined to calculate the effective gate-source voltage, as

$$V_{\rm gs,eff} = \left(\sqrt[\gamma_{\rm sat}]{V_{\rm gs}^{\prime-\gamma_{\rm sat}} + V_{\rm gs,sat}^{-\gamma_{\rm sat}}}\right)^{-1}, \qquad (5.18)$$

where  $\gamma_{\text{sat}}$  is a fitting parameter to adjust the transition region between the saturated and the unsaturated model. Finally, the resulting effective gate voltage  $V_{\text{gs,eff}}$  from Eq. (5.18) can be used in the initial potential model Eq. (2.15) for calculating the surface potential for the entire gate-source voltage range.

Figure 5.1(b) demonstrates the differences between using  $V_{\rm gs,eff}$  (solid lines), where the surface potential (and therefore, the conduction band) depends on the distance to the quasi Fermi potential  $\Phi_{\rm fn}$ , and using  $V'_{\rm gs}$ , leading to an unbound surface potential (dashed lines) and an overestimated band bending. Even though the modeled band diagram does not show a linear voltage drop along the trace from source to drain as it is to be expected in a real device, the described saturation model prevents an over-bending of the bands. Figure 5.2 shows  $V_{\rm gs,eff}$  calculated by Eq. (5.18) vs the applied  $V'_{\rm gs}$  using the parameters from Fig. 5.11(b).

#### 5.1.2 Basic Potential Model and Band Diagram Reconstruction

As discussed in the previous section, the used potential model for the cryogenic SBFET model is the 1D / quasi 2D potential model from [34], which has been introduced in Sec. 2.1.2. This model is used to calculate and give the dependency between the surface potential  $\Phi_{sur}$  and the *x*-location along the semiconductor-oxide interface, from source (x = 0) to drain ( $x = L_{ch}$ ). Using the effective gate voltage form Eq. (5.18), for a proper saturation at all bias voltages, with Eq. (2.15), it is given as:

$$\Phi_{\rm sur}(x) = V_{\rm gs,eff} + \frac{V_{\rm b,s} \cdot p(L_{\rm ch} - x) + V_{\rm b,d} \cdot p(x)}{p(L_{\rm ch})}, \qquad (5.19)$$



Figure 5.2: Plot that shows  $V_{\rm gs,eff}$  and  $V_{\rm gs,sat}$  vs  $V_{\rm gs}$  calculated by the surface potential saturation model. The shown curves belong to the model verification shown in Fig. 5.11(b).

with

$$p(x') = \exp\left(\frac{x'}{\lambda}\right) - \exp\left(-\frac{x'}{\lambda}\right)$$
 (5.20)

 $V_{\rm b,s}$  and  $V_{\rm b,d}$  are the potential bendings at the source and drain side, respectively, which are calculated using the built-in potential  $\Phi_{\rm bi} = \Phi_{\rm Bn} - E_{\rm g}/(2q)$  as  $V_{\rm b,s/d} = \Phi_{\rm bi} - V_{\rm gs,eff} + V_{\rm s/d}$ , with the channel material's band gap  $E_{\rm g}$ , the SB height for electrons  $\Phi_{\rm Bn}$ , and the source/drain potential  $V_{\rm s/d}$ .

Similarly to the approach of Chapter 4, the potential model is used to reconstruct the band diagram and the SB thickness  $x_{\rm f}$  at  $\mathcal{E} = E_{\rm f,m}$  (shown in Fig. 5.3). Unlike the 2D potential model used in the approach of Chapter 4, the model from Eq. (5.19) is already a closed-form and very simple equation, so there is no need for a further simplification. The band diagram energies can be calculated as:

$$E_{\rm C} = -q \cdot \Phi_{\rm sur}(x) + \frac{E_{\rm g}}{2}, \qquad (5.21)$$

and:

$$E_{\rm V} = -q \cdot \Phi_{\rm sur}(x) - \frac{E_{\rm g}}{2} \,. \tag{5.22}$$

The parameter  $x_{\rm f}$  can be calculated analytically by using Eq. (5.19) and Eq. (5.20) and rearranging the equations for  $x = x_{\rm f}$ , which results in:

$$x_{\rm f} = \lambda \cdot \ln \left[ \frac{\frac{E_{\rm f,m}}{q} \cdot p(L_{\rm ch}) \pm \sqrt{d_{\rm xf}}}{2 \cdot V_{\rm b,d} - 2 \cdot V_{\rm b,s} \cdot \exp\left(-\frac{L_{\rm ch}}{\lambda}\right)} \right], \tag{5.23}$$

with:

$$d_{\rm xf} = \frac{E_{\rm f,m}}{q}^2 \cdot p(L_{\rm ch})^2 - 4 \cdot V_{\rm b,s} \cdot V_{\rm b,d} \cdot p(L_{\rm ch}) - 4 \cdot V_{\rm b,s}^2 - 4 \cdot V_{\rm b,d}^2 \,. \tag{5.24}$$

Equation (5.23) is only solvable in case  $x_{\rm f}$  exists, which means that  $E_{\rm C}$  must be smaller as

5.2 Injection Current for SBFETs at Deep Cryogenic Temperatures

 $E_{\rm f,m}$  due to band bending (see Fig. 5.3).

## 5.2 Injection Current for SBFETs at Deep Cryogenic Temperatures

With the reconstructed band diagram at the SBs, the FE injection currents can be calculated. Although the approach is similar to Chapter 4, there are some changes in the derivation. In this section, the basic approaches for the tunneling equation and tunneling probability are shown (see Sec. 5.2.1), as well as the usage and simplification of the supply function (see Sec. 5.2.2).

## 5.2.1 Tunneling Equation and Tunneling Probability

The expression for the electron (similar for hole) FE current density is derived based on a modified version of the Tsu-Esaki formula, which has been introduced in Sec. 2.3.3.1, as:

$$J_{\rm FE,n} = \frac{q \cdot m^*}{2\pi^2 \hbar^3} \cdot B_{\rm PAT} \cdot \int_{E_{\rm C,min}}^{E_{\rm fs}} T(\mathcal{E}) \cdot N(\mathcal{E}) \cdot d\mathcal{E}, \qquad (5.25)$$



**Figure 5.3:** Band diagram at the source-side Schottky junction (left-hand side). The solid blue line is the conduction band of the channel, and the blue dashed line shows the metal's Fermi energy level. The right-hand side subplot shows the approximated tunneling probability, which is exponentially increasing with the energy, as dashed red line. The green arrow marks the tunneling region. In this energy region electrons are allowed to tunnel through the SB, due to Fermi statistics.

84

where q is the elementary charge,  $m^*$  is the charge carrier's effective tunneling mass  $(m_n \cdot m_0 \text{ for electrons or } m_p \cdot m_0 \text{ for holes})$ , used as fitting parameter, and  $\hbar$  is the reduced Planck's constant.  $T(\mathcal{E})$  and  $N(\mathcal{E})$  denote the tunneling probability and supply function at the energy  $\mathcal{E}$ , respectively. In cryogenic environment it is estimated that the metal source and drain regions have all energy states completely filled which are lower than the metal's Fermi energy level ( $E_{\rm fs}$  for the source and  $E_{\rm fd}$  for the drain) and those states with higher energy levels than the metal's Fermi energy level are completely empty. This leads to the upper integration limit of Eq. (5.25) since there are no electrons available for tunneling at  $\mathcal{E} > E_{\rm fs}$ . The lower integration limit is the minimum energy level carriers can tunnel to, which is estimated to be the lowest conduction band energy value  $E_{\rm C,min}$  in the channel. This is determined by using the value directly in the middle of the device's channel ( $L_{\rm ch}/2$ ). Figure 5.3 illustrates the tunneling process at the source-side SB and shows the integration boundaries.

The tunneling probability in Eq. (5.25) assumes direct tunneling, i.e. tunneling charge carriers will keep their momentum, or rather  $\vec{k}$  wave vector in x direction (coherent tunneling) [6]. Although, tunneling through a SB may require a change in momentum by phonon scattering (phonon-assisted tunneling, PAT) [6]. At room temperature, due to the presence of excited phonons, this effect is usually neglected in compact modeling. However, at deep cryogenic temperatures the phonon scattering events are massively reduced, so tunneling events can almost only occur, if both materials at the tunneling junction (the SB) have overlapping k-spaces [87]. In order to represent this in the compact model, we introduce the fitting parameter  $B_{\rm PAT}$  in Eq. (5.25) with a value between 0 and 1 that is used to describe the reduced tunneling current density.

For the calculation of the tunneling probability, the same approximation is used as in the room temperature model from Sec. 4.2.1. Instead of using the WKB approximation for the tunneling probability  $T_{\rm WKB}$  (from Eq. (2.65)) directly in Eq. (5.25) which would lead to an unsolvable integral, the tunneling probability is approximated by an exponential function, given as:

$$T_{\text{cryo},0}(\mathcal{E}) = \exp\left(-c \cdot (\mathcal{E}_0 - \mathcal{E})\right) \,. \tag{5.26}$$

In this approximation, c is obtained similarly as in Eq. (4.35) by using:

$$c = \frac{\ln \left( T_{\text{WKB}}(x_{\text{f}}) \right)}{\left( E_{\text{fs}} - \mathcal{E}_0 \right)} \,. \tag{5.27}$$

 $T_{\text{WKB}}(x_{\text{f}})$  is the tunneling probability calculated at position  $x_{\text{f}}$  by using the WKB method, as in Eq. (4.37).  $\mathcal{E}_0$  is the conduction band energy  $E_{\text{C}}$  directly at the source-channel Schottky junction, marking the energy barrier height. The parameters  $x_{\text{f}}$ ,  $E_{\text{fs}}$  and  $\mathcal{E}_0$  are indicated in Fig. 5.3. 5.3 Inclusion of Second Order Effects

### 5.2.2 Supply Function Simplification

The supply function of the tunneling process from Eq. (2.72), is given by:

$$N(\mathcal{E}) = \int_{0}^{\infty} (f_{\rm s}(\mathcal{E}_{\rm tot}) - f_{\rm d}(\mathcal{E}_{\rm tot})) \cdot d\mathcal{E}_{\rho} , \qquad (5.28)$$

$$N(\mathcal{E}) = k\vartheta \cdot \ln\left[\frac{1 + \exp\left(-\frac{\mathcal{E} - E_{\rm fs}}{k\vartheta}\right)}{1 + \exp\left(-\frac{\mathcal{E} - E_{\rm fd}}{k\vartheta}\right)}\right],\tag{5.29}$$

with the source and drain side Fermi distribution functions  $f_s$  and  $f_d$ . The carrier's total energy  $\mathcal{E}_{tot} = \mathcal{E} + \mathcal{E}_{\rho}$  is the sum of its longitudinal  $\mathcal{E}$  and transversal  $\mathcal{E}_{\rho}$  energy components [59]. The supply function depends on the temperature, as it can be seen in Eq. (5.28). At the deep cryogenic temperature environment ( $\vartheta \to 0$ ), the equation Eq. (5.29) can be simplified to:

$$\lim_{\vartheta \to 0} N(\mathcal{E}) \approx \lim_{\vartheta \to 0} k\vartheta \cdot \ln \left[ \frac{\exp\left(-\frac{\mathcal{E} - E_{\rm fs}}{k\vartheta}\right)}{1} \right]$$
(5.30)

$$\approx E_{\rm fs} - \mathcal{E} \,,$$
 (5.31)

This simplification can be used in Eq. (5.25), to solve the integral.

## 5.3 Inclusion of Second Order Effects

There are some second order effects that are considered in the cryogenic SBFET model. First, in [8] oscillations in the curves have been found in the measured transfer characteristics. Section 5.3.1 presents an empirical modeling approach for the inclusion of quantum oscillations into the tunneling probability expression.

As a second included effect, it has been shown in [11] that some devices show a subthreshold swing that is shallower as it would be expected at  $\vartheta \approx 0$  K. The worse slope has been attributed to the existence of band tail states inside the semiconductors band gap region, which are notable at deep cryogenic temperatures [11]. Section 5.3.2 shows an approach to include a band tail current by assuming an exponential band tail states distribution into the semiconductor's band gap, that affect the SBFET's subthreshold swing.

Although the potential saturation model has been included and described in Sec. 5.1.1, this model part does not directly limit the current at high biases. As in room temperature environment, it can also happen at cryogenic temperatures that the channel resistance for longer channels at higher bias voltages can no longer be neglected. So, as a last included

5 Model Additions for Deep Cryogenic Temperatures

effect the channel resistance model introduced in Sec. 4.5.2 is included into the model, which is described in Sec. 5.3.3.

### 5.3.1 Empirical Model for Quantum Oscillations

In some measured characteristics of SBFETs at deep cryogenic temperatures, it can be noticed that the measured current is oscillating while increasing the applied voltage. This phenomenon has been reported in [8] and can be seen in some measured characteristics that are presented in Sec. 5.5. Although, it cannot be stated for sure where this effect comes from, a possible answer can be given by the NEGF approach, described in Sec. 2.3.3.3. In [88] it is shown, by using a compact NEGF method from [88, 89], that this wave-based approach leads to local minima and maxima in the density of states along the energy axis at the source-side SB. The simulated local density of states using the compact NEGF approach for a 50 nm SBFET is illustrated in Fig. 5.4(a). The corresponding tunneling probability at the source-side SB is shown in Fig. 5.4(c), where the oscillating tunneling probability is notable. The NEGF approach-based results with the shown local density of states is only valid at temperatures of  $\vartheta \approx 0$  K, since it neglects phonon scattering events inside the device. At higher temperatures the density of states would blur together, making the oscillations in the tunneling probability vanish.

Since the NEGF method is a numerical approach, it cannot be used directly in a closed-form compact model. In order to mimic the behavior of the NEGF-based tunneling probability from Fig. 5.4(c), an empirical approach is chosen using a  $\sin^2$ -function. This term is incorporated into the expression of the tunneling probability from Eq. (5.26), leading to an adjusted tunneling probability  $T_{\rm cryo}$ , which includes the oscillations:

$$T_{\rm cryo}(\mathcal{E}) = T_{\rm cryo,0}(\mathcal{E}) \cdot \sin^2 \left(\omega_E \cdot \mathcal{E} + \varphi_0\right)$$
(5.32)

$$= \exp\left(-c \cdot (\mathcal{E}_0 - \mathcal{E})\right) \cdot \sin^2\left(\omega_E \cdot \mathcal{E} + \varphi_0\right) \,. \tag{5.33}$$

This empirical addition comes with the two fitting parameters  $\omega_E$  and  $\varphi_0$ , used for adjusting the model's oscillation of the tunneling probability. They provide a possibility to change the oscillation's phase shift and frequency (i.e. the spacing between resonances with energy and therefore  $V_{\rm gs}$ ) and allow fitting to the measurement. Both parts of Eq. (5.32) are illustrated in Fig. 5.5.

Combining Eq. (5.25) with Eq. (5.32) for the tunneling probability and Eq. (5.28) for the supply function results in

$$J_{\rm FE,n,0} = \frac{q \cdot m^* \cdot B_{\rm PAT}}{2\pi^2 \hbar^3} \cdot \int_{E_{\rm C,min}}^{E_{\rm fs}} \exp\left(-c \cdot (\mathcal{E}_0 - \mathcal{E})\right) \times \sin^2\left(\omega_E \cdot \mathcal{E} + \varphi_0\right) \cdot (E_{\rm fs} - \mathcal{E}) \cdot d\mathcal{E} , \qquad (5.34)$$

86

#### 5.3 Inclusion of Second Order Effects



Figure 5.4: Compact NEGF simulation results performed on a 50 nm SBFET, which is described in Sec. 5.5.1. The results are taken from [88]. (a) qualitatively shows the calculated local density of states, along the channel (x-axis) and per energy (y-axis). The light blue to yellow regions indicate the presence of states. This figure is simulated at  $V_{\rm ds} = 1$  V and  $V_{\rm gs} = 0.5$  V. (b) and (c) show the calculated tunneling probability per energy for the source-side SB in logarithmic (b) and linear scale (c), calculated at  $\vartheta = 5.4$  K and  $V_{\rm ds} = V_{\rm gs} = 1$  V. The result in (c) shows the most important tunneling region directly below the metal's Fermi energy at 0 eV, where the oscillations show a nearly asymptotic behavior to an exponential function.



**Figure 5.5:** Band diagram at the source-side Schottky junction (left-hand side). The solid blue line is the conduction band of the channel, and the blue dashed line shows the metal's Fermi energy level. The right-hand side subplot shows the tunneling probability from Eq. (5.26), with the exponential part (red line) and the total probability, including the oscillations (green line).

as expression to calculate the electron FE current (the hole FE current works similarly). The integral of Eq. (5.34) can be solved in closed form, to:

$$J_{\rm FE,n,0} = \frac{q \cdot m^* \cdot B_{\rm PAT}}{2\pi^2 \hbar^3} \cdot [j_{\rm cryo}(E_{\rm fs}) - j_{\rm cryo}(E_{\rm C,min})] , \qquad (5.35)$$

with:

$$j_{\rm cryo}(\mathcal{E}) = \frac{\exp(-c(\mathcal{E}_0 - \mathcal{E}))}{2(c^3 + 4c\omega_{\rm E}^2)^2} \cdot \left[2c^2\omega_{\rm E} \cdot (c^2(E_{\rm fs} - \mathcal{E}) + 4\omega_{\rm E}^2 \cdot (E_{\rm fs} - \mathcal{E}) + 2c) \\ \cdot \sin(-2\omega_{\rm E}\mathcal{E} + 2\varphi_0) + (c^2 + 4\omega_{\rm E}^2)^2 \cdot (c(E_{\rm fs} - \mathcal{E}) + 1) - c^2(c^3(E_{\rm fs} - \mathcal{E}) \\ + 4c\omega_{\rm E}^2 \cdot (E_{\rm fs} - \mathcal{E}) + c^2 - 4\omega_{\rm E}^2) \cdot \cos(-2\omega_{\rm E}\mathcal{E} + 2\varphi_0)\right].$$
(5.36)

## 5.3.2 Modeling of Band Tail States

As an addition to the injection current from Eq. (5.34), in this model the band tail effect is added, which is a second order effect and supposed to enable carrier injection even into the band gap region, leading to a worse slope of the devices [11]. To consider the band tail effect in the equations, first, a distribution of the band tail states needs to be introduced. Since the compact model does not use any term of a density of states in its equations, the distribution used in this case is considered as a unit less factor between zero and one, where one means 5.3 Inclusion of Second Order Effects

that a full current density is possible, and zero means that no states are available for charge transport. This band tail states distribution  $g_{ts}$  is assumed to start at one, directly at the conduction band edge  $E_{\rm C}$  and decreases exponentially inside the band gap region. It given by:

$$g_{\rm ts}(\mathcal{E}) = \exp\left(-\frac{E_{\rm C,min} - \mathcal{E}}{\mathcal{E}_{\rm ts,fit}}\right),$$
(5.37)

with  $\mathcal{E} < E_{\text{C,min}}$ . Here,  $\mathcal{E}_{\text{ts,fit}}$  is a fitting parameter for adjusting the argument of the exponential function and therefore, the subthreshold swing of the resulting device transfer characteristics. The band tail current density  $J_{\text{FE,n,ts}}$ , which consists of carriers tunneling into the band tail states, is calculated with the approach of Eq. (5.25), including the tail states distribution Eq. (5.37) and changing the integration boundaries, as:

$$J_{\rm FE,n,ts} = \frac{q \cdot m^*}{2\pi^2 \hbar^3} \cdot B_{\rm PAT} \cdot \int_{\mathcal{E}_{\rm ts,min}}^{E_{\rm C,min}} T(\mathcal{E}) \cdot (E_{\rm fs} - \mathcal{E}) \cdot g_{\rm ts}(\mathcal{E}) \cdot d\mathcal{E} \,.$$
(5.38)

The band tail states distribution, and its boundaries are visualized in Fig. 5.6. The lower integration boundary is given by  $\mathcal{E}_{ts,min} = E_{C,min} - \alpha_{ts} \cdot E_{g}$ , where  $\alpha_{ts}$  is an adjustable fitting parameter in a range of zero to one and limits the tunneling depth inside the band gap.



Figure 5.6: Band diagram at the source-side Schottky junction (left-hand side). The solid blue line is the conduction band of the channel, and the blue dashed line shows the metal's Fermi energy level. The right-hand side subplot shows the band tail states distribution, according to Eq. (5.37), which is used in the model. The tail states distribution is used at energy levels below  $E_{C,\min}$  in the band gap. A constant value of one above  $E_{C,\min}$  indicates, that there are no band tail states, but the full tunneling process happens instead.

5 Model Additions for Deep Cryogenic Temperatures

Equation Eq. (5.38) can be solved with the existing model solutions by incorporating the tail states distribution Eq. (5.37) into the tunneling probability  $T_{\rm cryo}(\mathcal{E})$ , given as:

$$T_{\rm ts}(\mathcal{E}) = T_{\rm cryo}(\mathcal{E}) \cdot g_{\rm ts}(\mathcal{E}) = \exp\left(-c' \cdot (\mathcal{E}'_0 - \mathcal{E})\right), \qquad (5.39)$$

with:

$$T_{\rm ts}(\mathcal{E}) = \exp\left(-c \cdot (\mathcal{E}_0 - \mathcal{E})\right) \cdot \exp\left(-\mathcal{E}_{\rm ts, fit}^{-1} \cdot (E_{\rm C, min} - \mathcal{E})\right)$$
(5.40)

$$= \exp\left(-c \cdot \mathcal{E}_0 + c \cdot \mathcal{E} - \mathcal{E}_{\text{ts,fit}}^{-1} \cdot E_{\text{C,min}} + \mathcal{E}_{\text{ts,fit}}^{-1} \cdot \mathcal{E}\right)$$
(5.41)

$$= \exp\left(-c \cdot \mathcal{E}_0 - \mathcal{E}_{ts, fit}^{-1} \cdot E_{C, min} + (c + \mathcal{E}_{ts, fit}^{-1}) \cdot \mathcal{E}\right)$$
(5.42)

$$= \exp\left(\left(c + \mathcal{E}_{\text{ts,fit}}^{-1}\right) \cdot \left(\frac{c \cdot \mathcal{E}_0 + \mathcal{E}_{\text{ts,fit}}^{-1} \cdot E_{\text{C,min}}}{c + \mathcal{E}_{\text{ts,fit}}^{-1}} - \mathcal{E}\right)\right)$$
(5.43)

$$= \exp\left(-c' \cdot (\mathcal{E}'_0 - \mathcal{E})\right) \,. \tag{5.44}$$

So, the rearranging leads to:

$$c' = c + \frac{1}{\mathcal{E}_{\rm ts,fit}}, \qquad (5.45)$$

and:

$$\mathcal{E}'_{0} = \frac{c \cdot \mathcal{E}_{0} + \frac{E_{\mathrm{C,min}}}{\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{ts,fit}}}}{c + \frac{1}{\mathcal{E}_{\mathrm{ts,fit}}}}.$$
(5.46)

Since Eq. (5.39) has the same shape as the exponential part of Eq. (5.32), it can be used in the closed form solution Eq. (5.35), but with c' instead of c,  $\mathcal{E}'_0$  instead of  $\mathcal{E}_0$  and the adjusted boundaries ( $\mathcal{E}_{ts,min}$  instead of  $E_{C,min}$  and  $E_{C,min}$  instead of  $E_{fs}$ ). With the inclusion of the tail states, the total injection current density can be expressed as

$$J_{\rm FE,n} = J_{\rm FE,n,0} + J_{\rm FE,n,ts} \,. \tag{5.47}$$

The result of the modeled band tail effect on the calculated characteristics can be seen in Fig. 5.11(a) from the results section. In this figure the solid red lines show the results including and the dotted red lines show the results excluding the modeled band tail effect.

## 5.3.3 Inclusion of Channel Resistance

In the SBFET model for room temperature environment, a channel MOSFET addition is added in Sec. 4.4 which leads to a drain current saturation at high bias voltages. For a validation of

**9**0

5.4 Total Current of the Cryogenic SBFET

measured output characteristics, this addition has been used for the cryogenic SBFET model with the adjusted equation from Eq. (4.44), as:

$$I_{\rm MOS} = 2\mu \frac{W_{\rm ch}}{L_{\rm ch}} \cdot \lim_{\vartheta \to 0} \left[ \frac{k_{\rm b}\vartheta}{q} \cdot \left( Q_{\rm s}' - Q_{\rm d}' \right) + \frac{Q_{\rm s}'^2 - Q_{\rm d}'^2}{2 \cdot C_{\rm ox,\,\check{}}'} \right]$$
(5.48)

$$=2\mu \frac{W_{\rm ch}}{L_{\rm ch}} \cdot \frac{{Q'}_{\rm s}^2 - {Q'}_{\rm d}^2}{2 \cdot C'_{\rm ox, *}}, \qquad (5.49)$$

which takes out the diffusion current component from the MOSFET equation. For the charges  $Q'_{\rm s}$  and  $Q'_{\rm d}$ , Eq. (4.45) and Eq. (4.46) are used.

## 5.4 Total Current of the Cryogenic SBFET

In order to calculate the total device current, not only the injection side (source side), but also the drain side is considered. For the calculation of the total current density, the method from Sec. 4.3 has been used which is given by:

$$J_{\rm FE,tot} = \begin{cases} J_{\rm FE,s,n} - J_{\rm FE,d,n}, & E_{\rm x}(x = L_{\rm ch}) < 0\\ J_{\rm FE,s,n} + J_{\rm FE,d,p}, & E_{\rm x}(x = L_{\rm ch}) \ge 0 \end{cases}$$
(5.50)

In this case the injection current density  $J_{\rm FE,s,n}$  is calculated by Eq. (5.47) at the source side and  $J_{\rm FE,d,n/p}$  is the injection current density at the drain side, consisting either of electrons for a permeable SB at the conduction band, or holes for a permeable SB at the valence band.

Finally, with the device geometries the total device's drain current  $I_{ds}$  is determined by:

$$I_{\rm ds} = W_{\rm ch} \cdot t_{\rm ch} \cdot t_{\rm eff, FE} \cdot J_{\rm FE, tot} \,, \tag{5.51}$$

for DG structures, with the channel width  $W_{ch}$  and thickness  $t_{ch}$ . For nanowire structures it is given as:

$$I_{\rm ds} = C_{\rm NW} \cdot R_{\rm NW} \cdot t_{\rm eff, FE} \cdot J_{\rm FE, tot}, \qquad (5.52)$$

using the nanowire's circumference  $C_{\text{NW}}$  and the averaged radius  $R_{\text{NW}}$ . The parameter  $t_{\text{eff,FE}}$  is the effective thickness in which the on-current is supposed to be flowing.

## 5.5 Model Results

The compact model results from the cryogenic SBFET model are compared to measurements, in this section [85]. The results are separated into a model comparison to measurements of ultra-thin body and buried oxide SOI SBFETs from [85] in Sec. 5.5.1 and a comparison to measurements of nanowire SBFETs from [86] in Sec. 5.5.2. TCAD studies on devices at  $\vartheta \approx 0$  K are not presented here, because of convergence problems of the simulations in the given temperature environment.

#### 5 Model Additions for Deep Cryogenic Temperatures

### 5.5.1 Model Results Compared to SOI SBFETs

Figure 5.8 and Fig. 5.9 show the compact model compared to p-type measurements performed on ultra-thin body and buried oxide SOI SBFETs from [8], of which a schematic cross-section is presented in Fig. 5.7. The devices consist of source and drain regions made of nickel silicide and a lightly p-doped silicon channel ( $N_{\rm A} = 1 \times 10^{15} \, {\rm cm}^{-3}$ ) [8]. The channel doping of the devices is neglected in the compact model at deep cryogenic temperatures because the dopants are expected to be frozen out. The gate oxide has a thickness of about  $t_{\rm ox} = 5 \, {\rm nm}$  made of HfO<sub>2</sub>, and the gate material is TiN [8]. All measured devices have a channel width of  $W_{\rm ch} = 800 \, {\rm nm}$ , a channel thickness of  $t_{\rm ch} = 12 \, {\rm nm}$  and vary in their channel length  $L_{\rm ch}$ .

The presented compact model is compared to measurements for devices with a channel length of  $L_{ch} = 30 \text{ nm}$  (transfer characteristics, Fig. 5.8(a)),  $L_{ch} = 70 \text{ nm}$  (transfer characteristics, Fig. 5.8(b)), and  $L_{ch} = 50 \text{ nm}$  (transfer and output characteristic, Fig. 5.9(a), and Fig. 5.9(b)). The used model parameters (geometrical, material, and fitting parameters) are listed in Tab. 5.1. In this first modeling attempt for cryogenic SBFETs, originally presented in [85], the 2D potential model from Sec. 4.1 is used for the model, instead of the simplified potential model from Sec. 5.1. Additionally, the impact of the band tail states has been neglected. The fitting parameters have been adapted manually in order to obtain the best agreement with the measurement data. Since the measured devices have a single-gate structure and the compact model is made for DG devices, the compact model was calculated with twice the channel thickness and the resulting current was halved.

The results of the model for the three devices show a good agreement with the measurements. Only the curvature and slope in the subthreshold region of the characteristics show a slight deviation, where the model's slope is too steep, and the curvature is not exactly fitting to the measured data.

As it can be seen in Tab. 5.1, for the 50 nm device, the model parameter for the oxide thickness was slightly increased, which has the effect to reduce that steepness and fit the model's slope to the measurements, since the band tail effect is not included here. Additionally, the band gap  $(E_g)$  has been increased to provide a better fit between model and measurement



Figure 5.7: Schematic cross-section of the measured devices. The relevant geometrical parameters are shown. Values of the devices under investigation are presented in Tab. 5.1

5.5 Model Results

Parameter	$30\mathrm{nm}$ Dev.	$50\mathrm{nm}$ Dev.	70 nm Dev.
$L_{\rm ch} \ [{\rm nm}]$	36	50	70
$W_{\rm ch}  [{\rm nm}]$	800	800	800
$t_{\rm ch}  [{\rm nm}]$	12	12	12
$t_{\rm ox}  [{\rm nm}]$	5.00	5.65	5.00
$t_{\rm eff,FE}$ [-]	0.2	0.2	0.2
$\varepsilon_{\rm r,ox}$ [-]	22.0	22.0	22.0
$\varepsilon_{\rm r,sc}$ [-]	11.7	11.7	11.7
$E_{\rm g}  \left[ {\rm eV} \right]$	1.1696	1.2281	1.1696
$\Phi_{\mathrm{B,n}}$ [V]	0.5800	0.6090	0.5800
$\Phi_{\mathrm{B,p}} \left[ \mathrm{V} \right]$	0.5896	0.6191	0.5896
$m_{\rm p}$ [-]	0.900	0.810	0.900
$B_{\rm PAT}$ [-]	$1.7 \times 10^{-3}$	$5.0 \times 10^{-4}$	$6.2 \times 10^{-6}$
$V_{\rm fb}$ [V]	-0.20	0.00	-0.47
$\omega_E/(2\pi)  [{\rm eV}^{-1}]$	20	20	20
$\varphi_0$ [-]	0	0	0
$\alpha$ [-]	0.7	0.7	0.7

Table 5.1: Device parameters of the devices under investigation in Fig. 5.8 and Fig. 5.9

in the subthreshold region. An increasing band gap of silicon for cryogenic temperatures has also been reported in [9, 90]. It is also notable that the channel length for the 30 nm device was calculated by the model using 36 nm. A further reduction of the channel length leads to an impact on the used 2D potential model, as the potential profile of the drain-side's SB interacts with the source side. Additionally, the 2D potential model gets more inaccurate, the more the channel length approaches the channel thickness [29, 31, 82].

The resonance effect, caused by the  $\sin^2$ -addition in Eq. (5.26), is mostly pronounced at low drain voltages, as it can be seen in Fig. 5.8(b) at  $V_{\rm ds} = -0.01$  V. The harmonic oscillation of the model does not entirely fit to the measured curves but is still a useful method to include quantum oscillations. However, it can also be observed that in certain cases (for example in the measurement of Fig. 5.9(a),  $V_{\rm ds} = -0.1$  V and  $V_{\rm gs} \approx -2.0$  V) there are oscillations occurring at higher voltages, which are not covered by the model and might be attributed to other phenomena, which have not been included yet into the model.

The output characteristics (Fig. 5.9(b)) in the given bias range also show a good agreement of the compact model compared to the measured curve. However, for this set of measurements only one output curve is available.



**Figure 5.8:** P-type device characteristics of SBFETs with various channel lengths and drain voltages calculated with the compact model (solid red lines) and compared to measurements (dashed blue lines) in linear and logarithmic scale. The devices' back gate voltage is  $V_{\rm bg} = 0$  V in the measurements. It is neglected in the compact model, which in agreement to [8] has a negligible influence on the device current for deep cryogenic temperatures. (a) SBFET transfer characteristics with a channel length of  $L_{\rm ch} = 30$  nm, measured at  $\vartheta = 5.3$  K. (b) SBFET transfer characteristics with a channel length of  $L_{\rm ch} = 70$  nm, measured at  $\vartheta = 5.3$  K.

5.5 Model Results



**Figure 5.9:** P-type device characteristics of SBFETs with various channel lengths and drain voltages calculated with the compact model (solid red lines) and compared to measurements (dashed blue lines) in linear and logarithmic scale. The devices' back gate voltage is  $V_{\rm bg} = 0$  V in the measurements. It is neglected in the compact model, which in agreement to [8] has a negligible influence on the device current for deep cryogenic temperatures. (a) SBFET transfer and (b) output characteristics with a channel length of  $L_{\rm ch} = 50$  nm, measured at  $\vartheta = 5.6$  K.

#### 5.5.2 Model Results Compared to Nanowire SBFETs

In this section the compact model is compared to measurements of nanowire SBFETs [86]. The devices are lightly-doped silicon elliptical-shaped nanowire SBFETs with nickel silicide as source/drain materials and a  $HfO_2/SiO_2$  oxide stack, followed up by a TiN gate [11]. The important device geometries and the used model parameters can be found in Tab. 5.2. The compact model results are obtained by using the potential model from Sec. 5.1 and all of the discussed second order effects form Sec. 5.3. The model's fitting parameters have been adapted manually for a good agreement with the measured data. A schematic slice of a nanowire SBFET is shown in Fig. 5.10. The channel doping of the devices is neglected in the compact model at deep cryogenic temperatures because the dopants are expected to be frozen out.

Fig. 5.11(a) shows the results of a p-type SBFET as transfer characteristics for  $V_{\rm ds} = -0.1$  V and -0.4 V. The total device current is normalized to the approximated nanowire circumference. As it can be seen in the results, the compact model results show a good agreement to the measurements. The subthreshold part of the characteristics is fitted using the band tail model from Sec. 5.3.2. The difference between the model with and without band tail addition is shown in Fig. 5.11(a) (solid vs dotted lines). The oscillations, that are provided by the model and that are especially notable in the linear characteristics, are not entirely in phase with the oscillating measurements. It can be seen that for  $V_{\rm ds} = -0.1$  V and -1.1 V >  $V_{\rm gs} > -0.8$  V the oscillations are in phase, while they are drifting apart for higher (negative) gate voltages. Also, at  $V_{\rm ds} = -0.4$  V the model's oscillations are overpronounced. This shows that the simplified oscillation model cannot capture the effects entirely, yet, but gives a good approximation to measured effects.

Figure 5.11(b) shows the result of the n-type SBFET as transfer and Fig. 5.12 as output characteristics at various bias conditions. Both characteristics also show a good agreement, in general. Since for this case there is not a huge number of oscillations (at least in the transfer curves), the model was fitted so it also barely shows oscillations. In the output characteristics of Fig. 5.12(a) slight deviations are visible for lower  $V_{\rm ds}$ . This could indicate ohmic contact resistances which are not covered by the compact model, yet.



Figure 5.10: Schematic slice of one half of the nanowire SBFET which is used for compact modeling and is similar to the measured devices. The relevant geometric parameters are shown.  $C_{\rm NW}$  corresponds to the nanowire channel's circumference. Values of the devices under investigation are shown in Tab. 5.2.

5.5 Model Results



Figure 5.11: Compact model result (solid red lines) vs measurements (dashed blue lines) of nanowire SBFETs, performed at  $\vartheta = 5.5$  K. The device geometries and model parameters can be found in Tab. 5.2. The shown transfer characteristics are presented in linear and logarithmic scale for the given drain voltages The current is normalized to the nanowire's circumference  $C_{\rm NW}$ . (a) n-type transfer characteristics of the  $L_{\rm ch} = 70$  nm device (from [11]). (b) p-type transfer characteristics of the  $L_{\rm ch} = 100$  nm device



**Figure 5.12:** Compact model result (red solid lines) vs n-type measurement (blue dashed lines) of the  $L_{\rm ch} = 70$  nm n-type nanowire SBFET, performed at  $\vartheta = 5.5$  K. The device geometries and model parameters can be found in Tab. 5.2. The output characteristics are shown for the given gate voltages. The current is normalized to the nanowire's circumference  $C_{\rm NW}$ . (a) presents a lower  $V_{\rm ds}$  section of the characteristics which is calculated by the injection model only. (b) presents the full measured  $V_{\rm ds}$  range using the same  $V_{\rm gs}$  values as in (a). In this result the red dotted lines are calculated using the injection model only. The red solid lines show the results including the channel resistance addition from Sec. 5.3.3.

#### 5.5 Model Results

**99** 

Finally, Fig. 5.12(b) shows the model results of the n-type nanowire measurement with an extended  $V_{ds}$  range up to 1.2 V. In this part the channel resistance model from Sec. 5.3.3 is included (solid red lines) and compared to using the injection model only (dotted red lines). The parameters for the channel resistance model are shown in the lower section of Tab. 5.2. As it can be seen in the results, using only the injection model is not sufficient to capture the entire  $V_{ds}$  range, because it overestimates the current. In contrast to this, the Channel MOSFET addition limits the calculated drain currents very well. Although, it has to be noticed that the electron mobility for the channel needed to be reduced in order to fit the characteristics. This reduction does not fit to the reported intrinsic semiconductor behavior [91], but it has been shown that the mobility for doped silicon close to absolute zero can get massively reduced, due to ionized impurity scattering [92]. So, reasons for the reduced electron mobility could be the ionized impurity scattering or quantum confinement effects, due to the small nanowire's diameter.

Parameter	P-type Dev.	N-type Dev.
$L_{\rm ch} \ [{\rm nm}]$	70	100
$R_{\rm NW}$ [nm]	2.6	2.3
$C_{\rm NW}$ [nm]	16.5	14.1
$t_{\rm ox}  [\rm nm]$	5.5	5.5
$t_{\rm eff, FE}$ [-]	0.2	0.2
$\varepsilon_{\rm r,ox}$ [-]	17.1	17.1
$\varepsilon_{\rm r,sc}$ [-]	11.7	11.7
$E_{\rm g}$ [eV]	1.1696	1.1696
$\Phi_{\rm B,n}$ [V]	0.5800	0.5800
$\Phi_{\mathrm{B,p}}$ [V]	0.5896	0.5896
$\lambda$ [nm]	2.18	2.18
$\Delta V_{\rm bound}$ [V]	0.1	0.1
$\gamma_{\rm sat}$ [-]	10	10
$m_{\rm p/n}$ [-]	0.081	0.081
$B_{\rm PAT}$ [-]	$7.43 \times 10^{-3}$	$3.15 \times 10^{-4}$
$V_{\rm fb}$ [V]	-0.095	0.420
$\omega_{\rm E}/(2\pi) \; [{\rm eV}^{-1}]$	18	20
$\varphi_0$ [-]	0	0
$\mathcal{E}_{ts,fit}$ [meV]	5.0	66.7
$\alpha_{\rm ts}$ [-]	0.50	0.11
$V_{\rm T0}$ [V]	-	0.38
S  [mV/dec.]	-	60
$\gamma_{\rm MOS}$ [-]	-	4
$\mu_{\rm n}  [{\rm cm}^2  {\rm V}^{-1}  {\rm s}^{-1}]$	-	1.26

Table 5.2: Device parameters of the	devices under investigation	n in Fig. 5.11 and Fig. 5.12
-------------------------------------	-----------------------------	------------------------------

UNIVERSITAT ROVIRA I VIRGILI COMPACT MODELING OF SCHOTTKY BARRIER AND RECONFIGURABLE FIELD-EFFECT TRANSISTORS Christian Römer

# CHAPTER 6

Compact Modeling of Reconfigurable Field-Effect Transistors

In this section the adaption of the room temperature compact model, introduced in Chapter 4, to a compact model covering RFETs is explained. The difficulty of modeling RFETs compared to SBFET is the introduction and inclusion of (at least) one additional gate electrode. Additional electrodes lead to an increased complexity of the model equation, since for all possible bias conditions the model needs to output a valid result, while fulfilling the basic rules for compact models.

Another point that needs to be considered is the type of RFET that shall be described by the model. As it is shown in Sec. 3.3.3, there are multiple different structures that are called RFET. All of these devices have a similar goal of using an additional gate as polarity gate, but they vary in the way this goal is achieved and can also vary in their characteristics. This means that a compact model that offers a very detailed physical description of a certain RFET type A, might be very inaccurate on another type B.

This chapter is split into two main sections. The first section (Sec. 6.1) focuses only on compact modeling of the dually-gated RFET variation, while keeping a constant polarity gate voltage [81–83]. The second part (Sec. 6.2) discusses some approaches for other device structures and more than one steady gate.

# 6.1 Compact Model for Fix-Programmed Dually-Gated RFETs

This section describes the adaption of the room temperature compact model to fix-programmed RFETs. The devices covered by this model addition are the dually-gated RFETs, which are introduced in Sec. 3.3.1. The contents and results of this section is published in [81–83].

The first step of the model adaption is to split up the one gate of the SBFET model into two gates of the dually-gated RFET - the source-side and the drain-side gate, and considering the impact on the potential model. This is described in Sec. 6.1.1. 102

In the next step, described in Sec. 6.1.2, the channel resistance addition from Sec. 4.4 is extended for the RFET, in order to consider the channel resistance of the ungated region in the covered devices.

Section 6.1.3 explains the calculation of the final device current, considering either a charge-carrier type suppression by the second gate, or the usage of the RFET as SBFET.

Finally, the model results compared to TCAD simulations and measurements are shown and discussed in Sec. 6.1.4. The RFET measurements have been provided by Technische Universität Dresden and NaMLab gGmbH.

#### 6.1.1 Injection Model Extension for two Independent Gates

The dually-gated RFET variation, as described in Sec. 3.3, has a similar structure to a SBFET, but with the single gate split up into a source-side and a drain-side gate, which leads to an additional input voltage for the compact model. When running a RFET in the on-state, the injection side for the main charge-carrier type (either electrons or holes) is the source side of the device, where the source-side gate is considered to be the CG, with the applied  $V_{\rm cg}$  voltage. The second gate (drain-side gate) with its applied PG voltage  $V_{\rm pg}$  is used to suppress the other carrier type, when programmed to a fixed voltage of  $V_{\rm pg} \gg 0$  for suppressing a hole current and  $V_{\rm pg} \ll 0$  for suppressing an electron current.

For the implementation of both gates, the 2D potential model used in the model, which is introduced in Sec. 2.1.4 and used in Sec. 4.1, is adjusted for the second gate. In the potential model of Sec. 2.1.5, the gate voltage is considered as boundary condition in the source-related potential Eq. (2.35) and the drain related potential Eq. (2.36). In case of the RFET, the source and drain related cases are considered by using the corresponding gate voltage, so  $V_{cg}$  for  $\phi_{2D,s}(x,y)$  and  $V_{pg}$  for  $\phi_{2D,d}(x,y)$ . In the 2D potential model for the SBFET the two calculated potentials are added together in the last step (Eq. (2.37)), which supports potential overlapping in short channel SBFETs. In case of the RFET, it is not expected to have a comparably short channel device, since both gate of the device need to have a certain distance from each other. Therefore, the step from Eq. (2.37) is left out in the RFET model and the next step, which are the auxiliary potentials from Eq. (4.8) to Eq. (4.15) are calculated using Eq. (2.35) for the source side or Eq. (2.36) for the drain side instead.

The current calculation for the RFET model works similar to the SBFET model. It needs to be considered that, due to the potential model adjustments, there is an unsteadiness in the channel potential at  $L_{\rm ch}/2$ , which leads to two solutions for the potentials  $\Phi_{\rm cen,L/2}$  and  $\Phi_{\rm sur,L/2}$  in the middle of the device. This needs to be considered in the TE current calculation, so  $\Phi_{\rm bar}$  of Eq. (4.40) considers the maximum of the source or drain-related case, now.

The current balancing model from Eq. (4.41) is also still used in the RFET model. However, it needs to be mentioned that this model only works properly in the programmed case with

 $V_{\rm ds} \approx V_{\rm pg}$ , or in the SBFET use case with  $V_{\rm cg} = V_{\rm pg}$ . In case of a different polarity of  $V_{\rm cg}$  and  $V_{\rm pg}$ , the addition of Sec. 6.1.3 needs to be considered. The current RFET model state does not fully support a steady variation of the PG.

#### 6.1.2 Modeling of the Ungated Channel Impact

In Sec. 4.4, the channel resistance inclusion into the SBFET model is explained. This unwanted second-order effect is given by a resistance of the device's channel at high voltages and high channel length, so the injection model is not sufficient to describe the transistor's characteristics. For RFETs the channel resistance is supposed to be even more impactful, since they have ungated regions, between the CG and PG, given by the CG-to-PG distance  $L_{ung}$ . Within this ungated region the electrostatic coupling of the channel surface to the gates diminishes drastically, which leads to less accumulated charge carriers that can contribute to the transistor's current flow. This has been investigated in the TCAD simulation shown in Sec. 3.3.2.2. For the modeled RFET, the equations from Sec. 4.4 are adopted, but with some modifications. First, Eq. (4.44) is slightly adjusted, as:

$$I_{\rm MOS} = 2\mu \frac{W_{\rm ch}}{L_{\rm ch}} \cdot \left[ \frac{k_{\rm b}\vartheta}{q} \cdot \left( Q'_{\rm s} - Q'_{\rm d} \right) + \frac{{Q'}_{\rm s}^2 - {Q'}_{\rm d}^2}{2 \cdot C'_{\rm ox,\kappa}} \right], \tag{6.1}$$

where  $C'_{\text{ox}}$  is replaced by  $C'_{\text{ox},\kappa}$ , defined as:

$$C'_{\text{ox},\kappa} = \kappa_{\text{ung}} \cdot \frac{\varepsilon_{\text{ox}}}{t_{\text{ox}}} \,. \tag{6.2}$$

The parameter  $\kappa_{ung}$  is a fitting parameter smaller or equal than one representing the missing gate coverage in RFET devices and therefore, the much higher ungated channel resistance. The reduced gate coupling in the ungated region is illustrated in Fig. 6.1.

In order to obtain an average gate voltage for a dually gated RFET, a replacing gate voltage for the modeled channel MOSFET is calculated by:

$$\tilde{V}_{\rm gs,MOS} = \frac{V_{\rm cg} + V_{\rm pg}}{2}.$$
(6.3)

Both charge densities of Eq. (6.1) are similarly defined as in Eq. (4.45) and Eq. (4.46), but including the average channel MOSFET gate voltage and  $C'_{\text{ox},\kappa}$ , as:

$$Q'_{\rm s} = \frac{S}{\ln(10)} \cdot C'_{\rm ox,\kappa} \cdot W_0 \left( \exp\left(\frac{\tilde{V}_{\rm gs,MOS} - V_{\rm T0}}{S/\ln(10)}\right) \right) , \tag{6.4}$$

and with  $\tilde{V}_{\rm gd,MOS} = \tilde{V}_{\rm gs,MOS} - V_{\rm ds}$ 

$$Q'_{\rm d} = \frac{S}{\ln(10)} \cdot C'_{\rm ox,\kappa} \cdot W_0 \left( \exp\left(\frac{\tilde{V}_{\rm gd,MOS} - V_{\rm T0}}{S/\ln(10)}\right) \right) \,. \tag{6.5}$$

#### 104

6 Compact Modeling of Reconfigurable Field-Effect Transistors

With this channel resistance model adjustments, this second-order effect can be used for the RFET model. For the inclusion of this model addition, Eq. (4.48) is used, as for the SBFET model.



**Figure 6.1:** Electrostatic impact of the RFET's gates on the ungated channel. The left-hand side figure shows the electrostatic coupling of the gates on the ungated channel area, which is reduced due to the distance to the gates. The right-hand side figure is the compact model's used substitution. The reduced  $C'_{\text{ox},\kappa}$  is represented by an increased oxide thickness in the figure.

## 6.1.3 Program Gate Induced Carrier Suppression

One important step of the RFET model that needs to be discussed is the polarity reconfigurability. In order to make the model applicable to RFETs, that have been configured as n-type or p-type, one of the two charge-carrier types need to get suppressed in the FE current calculation, depending on the PG bias. This is done by using the total FE injection current Eq. (4.41), with a modification, as:

$$J_{\rm FE,tot} = \begin{cases} s_{\rm n} \cdot J_{\rm FE,s,n} - s_{\rm n} \cdot J_{\rm FE,d,n}, & E_{\rm x}(x = L_{\rm ch}) < 0\\ s_{\rm n} \cdot J_{\rm FE,s,n}, & E_{\rm x}(x = L_{\rm ch}) = 0\\ s_{\rm n} \cdot J_{\rm FE,s,n} + s_{\rm p} \cdot J_{\rm FE,d,p}, & E_{\rm x}(x = L_{\rm ch}) > 0 \end{cases}$$
(6.6)

The introduced coefficients  $s_n$  and  $s_p$  represent the current programming status of the modeled device and can have the exact values of 0 or 1, where  $s_n$  activates or deactivates the electron current contributions and  $s_p$  activates or deactivates the hole current contributions. The system works similarly for holes as main injection current, in case  $V_{ds} < 0$ .

There are three different operation modes for the current model implementation. In case of  $V_{\rm pg} \gg 0$  the device is supposed to be in n-type operation mode which results in  $s_{\rm n} = 1$ and  $s_{\rm p} = 0$  in the compact model. In case of  $V_{\rm pg} \ll 0$  the device is supposed to be in p-type operation mode which results in  $s_{\rm n} = 0$  and  $s_{\rm p} = 1$  in the compact model. The third valid option is setting  $s_{\rm n} = s_{\rm p} = 1$ , which results in using the RFET as a regular SBFET, as if  $V_{\rm pg} = V_{\rm cg}$ .

#### 6.1.4 Model Results

The model verification is done by a combination of TCAD simulations and measurements [82]. Therefore, the measurement of the device from [66] is used. In order to obtain results for a SBFET including the symmetric device behavior, the TCAD simulation from [67] is used to simulate a device with various bias conditions. Tab. 6.1 shows the geometric, material, and fitting parameters that are used for the compact model. The model results have been obtained by using the injection model only, while neglecting the channel resistance. For this calculation, the 2D potential model in combination with the effective gate-source voltage according to Eq. (4.1) is used. The fitting of the compact model has been done by a manual parameter variation, as in the previous fits. While the real and the simulated structures are gate-all-around nanowire structures, the compact model calculates a double gate structure. Therefore, in the model a channel width  $W_{\rm ch}$  is used which is in the same order of magnitude than the nanowire's diameter. The discrepancy between those two structures is compensated by the model's fitting parameters.

Figure 6.2 shows the device transfer characteristics with the actual measurement, the corresponding TCAD fit and the model fit, in linear and logarithmic scale. Figure 6.2(a) shows the p-configured version with a program gate voltage of  $V_{\rm pg} = -2$  V and a drain voltage of  $V_{\rm ds} = -2$  V. Figure 6.2(b) shows the n-configured version with a program gate voltage of  $V_{\rm pg} = 2$  V and a drain voltage of  $V_{\rm ds} = 2$  V. The model shows a good agreement compared to the TCAD simulation results. There are slight deviations in the p-type characteristics, because of the unsteadiness in the measured curve. Figure 6.3 to Fig. 6.4 depict various TCAD simulation scenarios compared to the model. They show the same transfer characteristics as Fig. 6.2, but with additional drain voltages. Figure 6.5 shows the results of the RFET used as SBFET model results. In these two simulations the PG was not fixed but biased similarly to the CG ( $V_{\rm pg} = V_{\rm cg}$ ), which leads to a device behavior like a SBFET. Figure 6.6 shows one simulated output characteristics per operation mode (with a fixed PG voltage). Although the model shows some deviations in the curvature, which may be attributed to the neglected effect of current control by the channel conductivity, the overall behavior is well captured by the compact model.



Figure 6.2: Transfer characteristics of a RFET device calculated from the compact model (solid red lines) compared to TCAD simulations (blue dots) and measurements (green crosses) from [66] in linear (left axis) and logarithmic (right axis) scale. (a) p-type operation mode  $(V_{\rm ds} = V_{\rm pg} = -2 \text{ V})$ . (b) n-type operation mode  $(V_{\rm ds} = V_{\rm pg} = 2 \text{ V})$ . The used model parameters can be found in Tab. 6.1.



Figure 6.3: Transfer characteristics calculated from the compact model (solid red lines) compared to TCAD simulations (blue dots). (a) p-type operation mode with  $V_{pg} = -2 V$  in linear and (b) logarithmic scale. The used model parameters can be found in Tab. 6.1.



Figure 6.4: Transfer characteristics calculated from the compact model (solid red lines) compared to TCAD simulations (blue dots). (a) n-type operation mode with  $V_{pg} = 2 V$  in linear and (b) logarithmic scale. The used model parameters can be found in Tab. 6.1.





Figure 6.5: Transfer characteristics calculated from the compact model (solid red lines) compared to TCAD simulations (blue dots). (a) transfer characteristics for various negative drain voltages and (b) transfer characteristics for various positive drain voltages, while the device is used in SBFET mode ( $V_{cg} = V_{pg}$ ), in logarithmic scale. The used model parameters can be found in Tab. 6.1.


Figure 6.6: Output characteristics calculated from the compact model (solid red lines) compared to TCAD simulations (blue dots). (a) p-type operation mode for various CG voltages with  $V_{pg} = -2 V$ . (b) n-type operation mode for various CG voltages with  $V_{pg} = 2 V$ . The used model parameters can be found in Tab. 6.1.

6.1 Compact Model for Fix-Programmed Dually-Gated RFETs

Parameter	Value
$L_{\rm ch} \ [\rm nm]$	220
$W_{\rm ch}  [{\rm nm}]$	12
$t_{\rm ch}  [{\rm nm}]$	12
$t_{\rm ox}  [\rm nm]$	8
$t_{\rm eff,FE}$ [-]	0.2
$t_{\rm eff,TE}$ [-]	0.8
$\varepsilon_{\rm r,ox}$ [-]	3.9
$\varepsilon_{\rm r,sc}$ [-]	11.7
$E_{\rm g}  \left[ {\rm eV} \right]$	1.1696
$\Phi_{\mathrm{B,n}}$ [V]	0.5800
$\Phi_{\mathrm{B,p}}$ [V]	0.5896
<i>m</i> <sub>n</sub> [-]	0.10
$m_{\rm p}$ [-]	0.09
$\mu_{\rm tn}  [{\rm cm}^2  {\rm V}^{-1}  {\rm s}^{-1}]$	59.78
$\mu_{\rm tp}  [{\rm cm}^2  {\rm V}^{-1}  {\rm s}^{-1}]$	43.59
$\gamma_{\rm n}$ [-]	0.2
$\gamma_{\rm P}$ [-]	0.2
$\alpha$ [-]	0.5
$V_{\rm fb}$ [V]	0

Table 6.1: Device parameters of the device under investigation in Fig. 6.2 to Fig. 6.6

The second model calculation (from [83]) is done on measurements of the RFET device from [93]. The used model parameters can be found in Tab. 6.2. The geometric parameters are selected to match the measured device as good as possible, so the values of  $W_{\rm ch}$  and  $t_{\rm ch}$ are chosen to approximately fit the nanowire's elliptical base area [93]. The length of the device's channel is estimated to be about  $L_{\rm ch,nw} \approx 2.1 \,\mu{\rm m}$ , while the ungated channel of this device can be estimated to be about  $L_{\rm ung,nw} \approx 0.7 \,\mu m$ . For obtaining the model results, the channel resistance model from Sec. 6.1.2 is used, together with the effective gate-source voltage calculation according to Eq. (4.3). The results of this model comparison, shown in Fig. 6.7 and Fig. 6.8, contain calculated vs. measured transfer and output characteristics, while all of the presented cases show the device programmed in p-mode, using negative gate and drain voltages. In addition, Fig. 6.7(b) shows the compact model results obtained by just using the injection model (brown dotted lines), which shall demonstrate the necessity of the channel resistance model of Sec. 4.4 and Sec. 6.1.2. The results show a good agreement between measurements and the compact model. However, there are slight deviations in the subthreshold slope and the curve traces of the output characteristics. While observing the deviations in the output characteristics it is notable that the measurements have a stronger s-shape behavior, which could be attributed to non-idealities at the device's Schottky junctions and its simplification in the model. E.g. the Schottky barrier lowering is neglected.



Figure 6.7: Device characteristics calculated from the compact model (solid red lines) and compared to measurements from [93] (green crosses). The geometries of the measured device are  $L_{\rm ch} \approx 2.1 \,\mu{\rm m}$ ,  $L_{\rm ung} \approx 0.7 \,\mu{\rm m}$ ,  $R_{\rm NW} = 3.5$  to 16 nm (elliptical shape) and  $t_{\rm ox} \approx 6.5$  nm. The compact model parameters can be found in Tab. 6.2. (a) shows the transfer characteristics for various negative drain voltages in linear scale and (b) shows the same results in logarithmic scale. Additionally, (b) shows the results from using the injection model only (brown dotted lines). During the transfer characteristics measurement, the PG was fixed to  $V_{\rm pg} = -2.8$  V.

6.1 Compact Model for Fix-Programmed Dually-Gated RFETs





**Figure 6.8:** Output characteristics calculated from the compact model (solid red lines) and compared to measurements from [93] (green crosses) for various negative gate voltages. During these measurements the gate voltages are given as  $V_{\rm gs} = V_{\rm cg} = V_{\rm pg}$ . The geometries of the measured device are  $L_{\rm ch} \approx 2.1 \,\mu\text{m}$ ,  $L_{\rm ung} \approx 0.7 \,\mu\text{m}$ ,  $R_{\rm NW} = 3.5$  to 16 nm (elliptical shape) and  $t_{\rm ox} \approx 6.5$  nm. The compact model parameters can be found in Tab. 6.2.

 Table 6.2: Device parameters of the device under investigation in Fig. 6.7 and Fig. 6.8

 Parameter
 RFET (Meas.)

Parameter	RFET (Meas.)
$L_{\rm ch}$ [µm]	2.1
$W_{\rm ch}$ [nm]	16
$t_{\rm ch}   [{\rm nm}]$	3.5
$t_{\rm ox}  [{\rm nm}]$	6.5
$t_{\rm eff,FE}$ [-]	0.2
$t_{\rm eff,TE}$ [-]	0.8
$\varepsilon_{\rm r,ox}$ [-]	3.9
$\varepsilon_{\rm r,sc}$ [-]	11.7
$E_{\rm g}  \left[ {\rm eV} \right]$	1.1696
$\Phi_{\mathrm{B,n}}$ [V]	0.5800
$\Phi_{\mathrm{B,p}}$ [V]	0.5896
$V_{\text{limit}}$ [V]	1.50
$\gamma_{\rm Vg,eff}$ [-]	2.75
$m_{\rm n}$ [-]	0.26
$m_{ m p}$ [-]	0.27
$\mu_{\rm tn}  [{\rm cm}^2  {\rm V}^{-1}  {\rm s}^{-1}]$	100.0
$\mu_{\rm tp}  [{\rm cm}^2  {\rm V}^{-1}  {\rm s}^{-1}]$	870.0
$\gamma_{ m n}$ [-]	0.20
$\gamma_{ m p}$ [-]	0.23
$\kappa_{\rm ung}$ [-]	0.13
$V_{\rm T0}$ [V]	0.38
S  [mV/dec.]	60
$\gamma_{ m MOS}$ [-]	2.0
$\mu_{\rm n}  [{\rm cm}^2  {\rm V}^{-1}  {\rm s}^{-1}]$	1440
$\mu_{\rm p}  \left[ {\rm cm}^2  {\rm V}^{-1}  {\rm s}^{-1} \right]$	450
$V_{\rm fb}$ [V]	0

6.2 Approaches for Further Investigation

## 6.2 Approaches for Further Investigation

The RFET model which has been discussed in the previous sections is based on the SBFET injection model, while using a charge carrier suppression which depends on the PG voltage. In case of a transistor characterization with a fixed programming state and a main carrier injection over the source-side SB, the given compact model is sufficient. In case that a steady adjustment of the PG is needed for circuit simulation or the investigated device's CG has a different working principle (e.g. the TIG-RFET), further adjustments have to be done on the model.

In the following sections, some approaches are discussed for handling RFET structures which are not covered by the compact model, so far. The discussed methods have not been implemented or verified, yet.

### 6.2.1 Empirical Approach for two Steady Gates

The PG of the RFET is meant to be used for switching between the operation modes of the device and, in case the device is programmed, it is usually at  $V_{\rm pg} \approx V_{\rm ds}$ . Cases at which the PG voltage differs from this rule would be during switching processes.

In Eq. (6.6) it is shown how the RFET compact model suppresses charge carriers in a digital way, by setting the coefficients  $s_n$  or  $s_p$  to either 1 or 0. An empiric way of including a steady suppression dependent on the CG's and PG's bias voltages would be an expression inspired by the TE current (Eq. (4.40)), given as:

$$s_{\rm n} = \exp\left(-\frac{q \cdot \left(\Phi_{\rm sur,L/2,s} - \Phi_{\rm sur,L/2,d}\right)}{k_{\rm b}\vartheta}\right),\tag{6.7}$$

with  $\Phi_{\text{sur},\text{L}/2,\text{s}} \geq \Phi_{\text{sur},\text{L}/2,\text{d}}$ , or with  $s_n = 1$  for  $\Phi_{\text{sur},\text{L}/2,\text{s}} < \Phi_{\text{sur},\text{L}/2,\text{d}}$ . This equation uses the potential barrier (in this case for electrons) between the two gates, to vary the factor  $s_n$  between 0 and 1. The two potentials  $\Phi_{\text{sur},\text{L}/2,\text{s}}$  and  $\Phi_{\text{sur},\text{L}/2,\text{d}}$  are the same potentials as Eq. (4.6), but calculated with the source- and drain-related potential model, as described in Sec. 6.1.1. A similar equation to Eq. (6.7), with reversed potentials, would be needed to calculate  $s_p$  for the hole suppression. The expression could be also extended with a fitting parameter in the exponent to adjust the rate of carrier suppression.

However, testing and fitting such an empirical approach would require several new simulation or measurement results, demonstrating the impact of a PG sweep, with various fixed drain and CG voltages, in order to have a proper verification. The approach from Eq. (6.7) would be only valid for the dually-gated RFET, since in other RFET structures the potential distribution is different. 116

### 6.2.2 Macro Model Approach

Another approach for simulating RFETs, also covering more complex RFET structures, is by using a macro model. This could be done by combining the closed-form injection-based SBFET / RFET compact model of this work with other circuit elements that can mimic certain parts of the RFET (e.g. a second gate). Such a macro model could be used in a circuit simulator (e.g. SPICE) to be solved. However, the usage of a macro model comes with the disadvantage that it needs much more calculation effort, since it is solved numerically. In addition, it is likely harder to adjust the model's fitting parameters since each part of the model has its own parameters and needs separate adjustments.

Figure 6.9 shows some suggestions to construct a DC macro model for TIG-RFETs (see Fig. 3.19(b)) using the injection model. The first step (Fig. 6.9(a)) shows a simple version of a macro model, using the injection SBFET model for the source-side and drain-side gates. The MOSFET model which represents the CG in the middle of the channel must be a model which can be used for intrinsic semiconductors and uses accumulation of charge-carriers as conduction mechanism. This macro model would be able to calculate the RFET current through all three gates and, in case one gate is switched off, the corresponding part of the model would block the total current. However, this first suggestion has a design flaw since it does not distinguish the flowing charge-carrier type. If for example, the source-side injection model calculates an electron current and the CG transistor is negatively biased and calculated a hole current, the macro model will still conduct a total current, because after each model part the carrier type information is dropped, which is important for a real RFET. Therefore, the model of Fig. 6.9(a) can only be used for one carrier type (one operation mode).

An extension of the simple model is shown in Fig. 6.9(b). In this macro model the injection SBFET model parts have separate outputs for the electron and hole currents, which would require minor adjustments to the compact model. Additionally, the CG in the device's center is represented by two transistors, now. One transistor is p-type only and is located inside the hole injection connection and the other transistor is an n-type transistor in the n-type connection. With this macro model, there is a clear distinction between the carrier types inside the model and a total current can only flow in case that all model parts are conductive for the same type of charge carrier. The downside is, compared to the first suggestion, the complexity of the circuit and therefore the calculation effort has increased.

A further step of this model, which can be used to describe more complex RFET structures (for example the multi CG RFET, investigated in [71]), is shown in Fig. 6.9(c). This approach shall demonstrate that the macro model could also be used to model more than just one central gate, by adding one p- and n-type transistor combination per additional gate, for the cost of an increased circuit complexity.

It shall be mentioned that this macro modeling approach is not only a way of just being

#### 6.2 Approaches for Further Investigation



(a)



(b)



(c)

**Figure 6.9:** Macro model circuits for modeling TIG-RFETs by using a combination of the SBFET injection model and one or more FETs (T) as components. (a) shows a simplified approach with one channel FET. (b) uses two FETs (one p-type and one n-type) for the CG, with one FET for each carrier type. (c) is the extension of (b) for multiple CGs, using two FETs (one p-type and one n-type) per CG.

## 118

able to simulate the given RFET structures. It could also help improving the understanding of the different device operation modes and also lead to some simplifications of the model. For example, it could be possible, by some adjustments of the CG voltages and device parameters to translate the structure from Fig. 6.9(c) to Fig. 6.9(b). Additionally, by characterizing the central gates, it could also be possible to find a way of extracting a compact expression for certain device structures, which could be finally included into the channel MOSFET addition of the compact model, in order to translate the macro model back into a compact model.

# CHAPTER 7

# Conclusion

In this work the derivation of a physics-based and closed-form DC compact model is presented which is applicable on several transistor types working on the principle of SB injection. More detailed, the model has been derived for SBFETs at room temperature and extended for SBFETs at deep cryogenic temperatures ( $\vartheta \approx 0$  K), as well as for fix-programmed RFETs at room temperature. All three model parts are supplemented by the inclusion of second order effects coming to the fore in their operation environment. The verification of the compact model has been done on TCAD simulations and measurements, and all of the discussed model parts generally show a good agreement to the simulated and measured data, while only using a small number of fitting parameters.

The room temperature SBFET calculates the DC drain current of a SBFET by using expressions for the TE and FE current contribution. While the TE current, which acts as off-state or leakage current, already has some closed-form expressions from literature, the FE current expression is approximated in order to obtain a closed-form current equation. This approximation of the on-state FE current is done by a simplified tunneling equation using the WKB approach in order to calculate tunneling charge carriers through the transistor's SBs. This model is also extended by including channel resistance effects for long-channel devices, by using a charge-based MOSFET model for limiting the SBFET's total drain current.

The room temperature SBFET model is modified in a second step for the usage at deep cryogenic temperatures, and thereto the compact model is derived estimating a temperature of about  $\vartheta \approx 0$  K. In this state the TE current is supposed to be non-existent. The FE current contribution, which is supposed to be the only injection current in this operation environment, is re-calculated using a simplified expression for the Fermi distribution function. This model variation also empirically includes second order effects that have been experimentally observed at these temperatures. The included effects are quantum oscillations which are oscillations of the drain current in the device characteristics, the band tail effect that flattens the SBFET's subthreshold swing, and the channel resistance model similar to the one from the room temperature approach.

The model variant for RFETs is also an extension of the SBFET room temperature model. In this part, the additional PG of the RFET is considered by suppressing one type of charge carrier, which negates the ambipolar device behavior. This part of the model is also extended by the channel resistance model as second order effect with the additional impact of the ungated transistor part. Although, the RFET model is specifically derived for fix-programmed dually-gated RFETs, there are suggestions made in this work how a steady PG and other RFET structures can be supported.

In this work, the functionality of the compact model and all of its extensions has been demonstrated. The model in its current state is implemented in MATLAB (MathWorks, Inc.) for programming and testing at a single device level. For a proper usage of the model in a circuit simulator, as a last step it needs to be translated to Verilog-A and tested in this environment, which has yet to be done. In addition to the transition into a SPICE environment, a studies and guidance for the model's fitting parameters has to be done. The fitting process in this work is performed by a manual variation of the parameters. Some of the model's fitting parameters are more dominant in certain voltage regions of the characteristics, and some parameters have overlapping effects on the model outputs. The different parameters need to be documented with their impact on the characteristics and reasonable limitations, in order to provide a functional compact model operation state and a good starting point for model fits.

Moreover, for the compact model there are additional effects that may be considered as future investigations. Although, there are several cases mentioned throughout the document which have been neglected in the model derivation, because they have not been relevant in the specific cases. Some other effects are included empirically. A few points shall be mentioned at this point which could be interesting to further investigate in the future, depending on the model's use case:

• The compact model in all of its extends has been derived and tested for nickel silicide to (almost intrinsic) silicon SBs, specifically. This junction leads to the symmetric device characteristics for electron and hole currents. However, the model has not been tested and verified on SBFETs with unsymmetrical characteristics (see Sec. 3.2.2.1) or other semiconductor materials like germanium, yet. The model supports several material parameter adjustments, like changing the semiconductors bandgap  $E_{\rm g}$ , the source / drain metal work function by adjusting the SB heights  $\Phi_{\rm B,n}$  and  $\Phi_{\rm B,p}$ , or the gate's work function by adjusting the flatband voltage  $V_{\rm fb}$ . In the current implementation state, only semiconductor materials with the Fermi energy in the middle of the bandgap are supported, because some equations like the built-in potential are calculated by estimating that  $E_{\rm C} - E_{\rm f} \approx E_{\rm f} - E_{\rm V} \approx E_{\rm g}/2$ . This means that doped silicon cannot be used as channel material at the moment. In order to add the support for other (doped) semiconductor materials into the model, some of the equations need to replace the  $E_{\rm g}/2$ -expression by

120

accurate values for  $E_{\rm C} - E_{\rm f}$  and  $E_{\rm f} - E_{\rm V}$ , respectively.

- The SBL effect, introduced in Sec. 2.4.3, has been neglected in this work. Although, this effect is supposed to impact the FE current, its impact on the TE current is higher, since the TE current is directly exponentially affected by the SB height, while the FE current has a stronger dependency on the SB thickness. In the model and simulation results, it can be observed that the TE current contribution can mostly be neglected (in case of SBFETs) or only describe the off-current (in case of programmed RFETs). By extending the model towards material combination with lower SB heights, the TE current might be more impactful again. In this case, adding the SBL effect at least in the TE equations might lead to improved results.
- The quantum confinement effects have been neglected so far, which is also debatable in the results of Sec. 5.5.2, since the nanowire diameters are smaller than 10 nm. Even though the model results show a good agreement to the measurements, the quantum confinement effects in this case might be just covered by other fitting parameters.
- Especially, in case of the deep cryogenic SBFET modeling, there is the need of additional studies and model fits. This would be useful for a better characterization of the included second order effects, as the quantum oscillation and the channel MOSFET addition at  $\vartheta \rightarrow 0 \,\mathrm{K}$ . The model for quantum oscillations is inspired by the local density of states calculated with the compact NEGF approach, although the measured characteristics seems to include more oscillation effects. Those might be also caused by resonant tunneling effects inside the device or through the SB, which has not been clarified, yet, and also needs some additional experimental studies.

There are also possibilities for longer term investigations of using this work's compact model for other device's or extend the model for other use cases. Some possibilities shall be briefly discussed:

- The currently implemented compact model is for the DC current calculation only. For a fully operational compact model that can be used to simulate the switching behavior of circuits comprising SBFETs or RFETs, it is mandatory to also have a valid AC model describing the device behavior. For this case, modeling approaches like shown in [94, 95] could be used.
- The temperature dependency of the model is restricted to room temperature and deep cryogenic temperatures. Although, the room temperature SBFET model uses the temperature in its equations, due to the approximations done for the derivation, the temperature dependency is not supposed to be varied steadily and work for all temperatures. It might be helpful to have a single compact model that is able to describe the transistors' behavior for all temperatures, by just varying that single parameter. This, however, would need a more extensive temperature studies of the devices (with TCAD simulations and measurements) and the derivation of the equations including temperature dependencies,

which also means a unification of the used potential model and the injection equations.

- In terms of the model adaption towards different types of RFETs, in Sec. 6.2 there are already some suggestions on how to include a steady PG or a central gate into the model. Modeling specific types of RFETs close to the device's physics comes with the disadvantage that the resulting compact model would be more specialized towards that certain technology, and less open or flexible towards other type of RFETs. The currently implemented version of the RFET model, using the carrier type suppression, is applicable to all SB injection based RFETs. More specific modeling approaches might be just valid for a certain type of technology, so a further specialization of the model should be done on demand for it.
- Similarly, the model for SBFETs could be potentially adapted to other SB-based technologies. As example, the ferroelectric SBFET could be modeled by replacing the constant oxide permittivity  $\varepsilon_{r,ox}$  by a voltage and time-dependent expression, or it might be used for source-gated transistors by replacing the potential model.

# Bibliography

- [1] Lilienfeld, "Method and apparatus for controlling electric currents," Jan. 1930.
- [2] A. Klös, Nanoelektronik. Hanser Fachbuchverlag, 2018.
- [3] M. T. Bohr and I. A. Young, "CMOS scaling trends and beyond," *IEEE Micro*, vol. 37, pp. 20–29, Nov. 2017.
- [4] G. E. Moore *et al.*, "Cramming more components onto integrated circuits," 1965.
- [5] F. Thuselt, Physik der Halbleiterbauelemente Einführendes Lehrbuch für Ingenieure und Physiker. Springer Spektrum, 2018.
- [6] S. M. Sze, *Physics of Semiconductor Devices*. Wiley-Blackwell, 2006.
- [7] M. Schwarz, T. D. Vethaak, V. Derycke, A. Francheteau, B. Iniguez, S. Kataria, A. Kloes, F. Lefloch, M. C. Lemme, J. P. Snyder, W. M. Weber, and L. E. Calvet, "The Schottky barrier transistor in emerging electronic devices," *Nanotechnology*, Apr. 2023.
- [8] Y. Han, J. Sun, F. Xi, J.-H. Bae, D. Grützmacher, and Q.-T. Zhao, "Cryogenic characteristics of UTBB SOI Schottky-barrier MOSFETs," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 194, p. 108351, Aug. 2022.
- [9] M. Schwarz, L. E. Calvet, J. P. Snyder, T. Krauss, U. Schwalke, and A. Kloes, "On the physical behavior of cryogenic IV and III–V Schottky barrier MOSFET devices," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 64, pp. 3808–3815, Sept. 2017.
- [10] W. E. Purches, A. Rossi, R. Zhao, S. Kafanov, T. L. Duty, A. S. Dzurak, S. Rogge, and G. C. Tettamanzi, "A planar Al-Si Schottky barrier metal–oxide–semiconductor field effect transistor operated at cryogenic temperatures," *Applied Physics Letters*, vol. 107, p. 063503, Aug. 2015.
- [11] Y. Han, J. Sun, B. Richstein, F. Allibert, I. Radu, J.-H. Bae, D. Grutzmacher, J. Knoch, and Q.-T. Zhao, "Steep switching Si nanowire p-FETs with dopant segregated silicide source/drain at cryogenic temperature," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, pp. 1–1, 2022.
- [12] E. Bestelink, P. Sihapitak, U. Zschieschang, L. Askew, J. M. Shannon, J. P. Bermundo, Y. Uraoka, H. Klauk, and R. A. Sporea, "High gain complementary inverters based

on comparably-sized IGZO and DNTT source-gated transistors," *Journal of Materials Chemistry C*, vol. 11, no. 34, pp. 11688–11696, 2023.

- [13] Y. Hemmi, Y. Ikeda, R. A. Sporea, Y. Takeda, S. Tokito, and H. Matsui, "N-type printed organic source-gated transistors with high intrinsic gain," *Nanomaterials*, vol. 12, p. 4441, Dec. 2022.
- [14] A. Prakash, H. Ilatikhameneh, P. Wu, and J. Appenzeller, "Understanding contact gating in Schottky barrier transistors from 2D channels," *Scientific Reports*, vol. 7, Oct. 2017.
- [15] P. Wu and J. Appenzeller, "Reconfigurable black phosphorus vertical tunneling fieldeffect transistor with record high ON-currents," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 40, pp. 981–984, June 2019.
- [16] W. Fei, J. Trommer, M. C. Lemme, T. Mikolajick, and A. Heinzig, "Emerging reconfigurable electronic devices based on two-dimensional materials: A review," *InfoMat*, Aug. 2022.
- [17] F. Xi, A. Grenmyr, J. Zhang, Y. Han, J. H. Bae, D. Grützmacher, and Q.-T. Zhao, "Heterosynaptic plasticity and neuromorphic boolean logic enabled by ferroelectric polarization modulated Schottky diodes," *Advanced Electronic Materials*, vol. 9, Dec. 2022.
- [18] Q.-T. Zhao, F. Xi, Y. Han, A. Grenmyr, J. H. Bae, and D. Gruetzmacher, "Ferroelectric devices for neuromorphic computing," *ECS Meeting Abstracts*, vol. MA2022-02, pp. 1183– 1183, Oct. 2022.
- [19] T. Mikolajick, G. Galderisi, S. Rai, M. Simon, R. Böckle, M. Sistani, C. Cakirlar, N. Bhattacharjee, T. Mauersberger, A. Heinzig, A. Kumar, W. Weber, and J. Trommer, "Reconfigurable field effect transistors: A technology enablers perspective," *Solid-State Electronics*, p. 108381, May 2022.
- [20] A. Heinzig, S. Slesazeck, F. Kreupl, T. Mikolajick, and W. M. Weber, "Reconfigurable silicon nanowire transistors," *Nano Letters*, vol. 12, pp. 119–124, Dec. 2011.
- [21] J. Trommer, A. Heinzig, T. Baldauf, S. Slesazeck, T. Mikolajick, and W. M. Weber, "Functionality-enhanced logic gate design enabled by symmetrical reconfigurable silicon nanowire transistors," *IEEE Transactions on Nanotechnology*, vol. 14, pp. 689–698, July 2015.
- [22] S. Rai, J. Trommer, M. Raitza, T. Mikolajick, W. M. Weber, and A. Kumar, "Designing efficient circuits based on runtime-reconfigurable field-effect transistors," *IEEE Transactions* on Very Large Scale Integration (VLSI) Systems, vol. 27, pp. 560–572, Mar. 2019.
- [23] J. Trommer, N. Bhattacharjee, T. Mikolajick, S. Huhn, M. Merten, M. Djeridane, M. Hassan, R. Drechsler, S. Rai, N. Kavand, A. Darjani, A. Kumar, V. Sessi, M. Drescher, S. Kolodinski, and M. Wiatr, "Design enablement flow for circuits with inherent obfuscation based on reconfigurable transistors," in 2023 Design, Automation and Test in Europe Conference and Exhibition (DATE), IEEE, Apr. 2023.

- [25] S. Rai, S. Srinivasa, P. Cadareanu, X. Yin, X. S. Hu, P.-E. Gaillardon, V. Narayanan, and A. Kumar, "Emerging reconfigurable nanotechnologies," in *Proceedings of the International Conference on Computer-Aided Design*, ACM, Nov. 2018.
- [26] H. C. de Graaff and F. M. Klaassen, Compact Transistor Modelling for Circuit Design. Springer Vienna, 1990.
- [27] N. Arora, MOSFET Modeling for VLSI Simulation. World Scientific Publishing Company, 2007.
- [28] Synopsys Inc., TCAD Sentaurus Device User Guide. 2018. Version O-2018.06.
- [29] M. Schwarz, T. Holtij, A. Kloes, and B. Iniguez, "Analytical compact modeling framework for the 2D electrostatics in lightly doped double-gate MOSFETs," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 69, pp. 72–84, Mar. 2012.
- [30] M. Schwarz, T. Holtij, A. Kloes, and B. Iñíguez, "Compact modeling solutions for shortchannel SOI schottky barrier MOSFETs," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 82, pp. 86–98, Apr. 2013.
- [31] M. Graef, T. Holtij, F. Hain, A. Kloes, and B. Iniguez, "Improved analytical potential modeling in double-gate tunnel-FETs," in 2014 Proceedings of the 21st International Conference Mixed Design of Integrated Circuits and Systems (MIXDES), IEEE, June 2014.
- [32] F. Horst, A. Farokhnejad, Q.-T. Zhao, B. Iniguez, and A. Kloes, "2-D physics-based compact DC modeling of double-gate tunnel-FETs," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 66, pp. 132–138, Jan. 2019.
- [33] F. Horst, Compact DC Modeling of Tunnel-FETs. Phd thesis, Universitat Rovira i Virgili, 2019.
- [34] R.-H. Yan, A. Ourmazd, and K. Lee, "Scaling the Si MOSFET: from bulk to SOI to bulk," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 39, pp. 1704–1710, July 1992.
- [35] K. Young, "Short-channel effect in fully depleted SOI MOSFETs," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 36, no. 2, pp. 399–402, 1989.
- [36] E. Weber, ELECTROMAGNETIC FIELDS Theory and Applications Volume I Mapping of Fields, vol. 3rd and Revised Edition. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 1950.
- [37] M. Schwarz, T. Holtij, A. Kloes, and B. Iñíguez, "2D analytical calculation of the electric field in lightly doped Schottky barrier double-gate MOSFETs and estimation of the tunneling/thermionic current," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 63, pp. 119–129, Sept. 2011.
- [38] H. A. Schwarz, "Ueber einige abbildungsaufgaben.," Journal f
  ür die reine und angewandte Mathematik (Crelles Journal), vol. 1869, pp. 105–120, Jan. 1869.

- [39] E. B. Christoffel, "Ueber die abbildung einer einblättrigen, einfach zusamenhängenden, ebenen fläche auf einem kreise.," Nachrichten von der Königl. Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften und der Georg-Augusts-Universität zu Göttingen, vol. 1870, pp. 283–298, 1870.
- [40] E. B. Christoffel, "Ueber die abbildung einer n-blättrigen, einfach zusammenhängenden, ebenen fläche auf einem kreise.," Nachrichten von der Königl. Gesellschaft der Wissenschaften und der Georg-Augusts-Universität zu Göttingen, vol. 1870, pp. 359–369, 1870.
- [41] M. Schwarz, M. Weidemann, A. Kloes, and B. Iñíguez, "2D analytical calculation of the electrostatic potential in lightly doped Schottky barrier double-gate MOSFET," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 54, pp. 1372–1380, Nov. 2010.
- [42] M. Graef, F. Hosenfeld, F. Horst, A. Farokhnejad, F. Hain, B. Iñíguez, and A. Kloes, "Advanced analytical modeling of double-gate tunnel-FETs – a performance evaluation," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 141, pp. 31–39, Mar. 2018.
- [43] Y. Taur, "An analytical solution to a double-gate MOSFET with undoped body," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 21, pp. 245–247, May 2000.
- [44] C. Wu, R. Huang, Q. Huang, C. Wang, J. Wang, and Y. Wang, "An analytical surface potential model accounting for the dual-modulation effects in tunnel FETs," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 61, pp. 2690–2696, Aug. 2014.
- [45] L. Zhang and M. Chan, "SPICE modeling of double-gate tunnel-FETs including channel transports," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 61, pp. 300–307, Feb. 2014.
- [46] A. Kloes, M. Schwarz, and T. Holtij, "MOS<sup>3</sup>: A new physics-based explicit compact model for lightly doped short-channel triple-gate SOI MOSFETs," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 59, pp. 349–358, Feb. 2012.
- [47] A. Ortiz-Conde, F. J. Garcia-Sanchez, J. Muci, S. Malobabic, and J. J. Liou, "A review of core compact models for undoped double-gate SOI MOSFETs," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 54, pp. 131–140, Jan. 2007.
- [48] F. Hain, M. Graef, B. Iñíguez, and A. Kloes, "Charge based, continuous compact model for the channel current in organic thin-film transistors for all regions of operation," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 133, pp. 17–24, July 2017.
- [49] R. M. Corless, G. H. Gonnet, D. E. G. Hare, D. J. Jeffrey, and D. E. Knuth, "On the LambertW function," Advances in Computational Mathematics, vol. 5, pp. 329–359, Dec. 1996.
- [50] H. Lüth, Quantenphysik in der Nanowelt Schrödingers Katze bei den Zwergen. Springer Spektrum, 2014.
- [51] A. Messiah and J. Streubel, *Quantenmechanik Band 1*. De Gruyter, Jan. 1991.
- [52] E. Schrödinger, "An undulatory theory of the mechanics of atoms and molecules," Physical

Review, vol. 28, pp. 1049–1070, Dec. 1926.

- [53] E. Schrödinger, "Quantisierung als eigenwertproblem," Annalen der physik, vol. 385, no. 13, pp. 437–490, 1926.
- [54] H. A. Kramers, "Wellenmechanik und halbzahlige quantisierung," Zeitschrift für Physik, vol. 39, no. 10-11, pp. 828–840, 1926.
- [55] G. Wentzel, "Eine verallgemeinerung der quantenbedingungen für die zwecke der wellenmechanik," Zeitschrift für Physik, vol. 38, no. 6-7, pp. 518–529, 1926.
- [56] L. Brillouin, "Schrodinger's wave mechanics; a general solution method by successive approximation," CR Acad. Sci., Paris, vol. 183, pp. 24–26, 1926.
- [57] R. Tsu and L. Esaki, "Tunneling in a finite superlattice," Applied Physics Letters, vol. 22, pp. 562–564, June 1973.
- [58] L. Esaki, "New phenomenon in narrow germanium p-n junctions," *Physical Review*, vol. 109, pp. 603–604, Jan. 1958.
- [59] A. Gehring, Simulation of tunneling in semiconductor devices. Phd thesis, Technische Universität Wien, 2003.
- [60] C. Chang and S. Sze, "Carrier transport across metal-semiconductor barriers," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 13, pp. 727–740, June 1970.
- [61] C. Crowell and V. Rideout, "Normalized thermionic-field (T-F) emission in metalsemiconductor (Schottky) barriers," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 12, pp. 89–105, Feb. 1969.
- [62] M. Schwarz, Two-Dimensional Analytical Predictive Modeling of Schottky Barrier SOI and Multi-Gate MOSFETs. Phd thesis, Universitat Rovira i Virgili, 2012.
- [63] L. Zhang and M. Chan, Tunneling Field Effect Transistor Technology. Springer, 2016.
- [64] H. S. Pal, T. Low, and M. S. Lundstrom, "NEGF analysis of InGaAs Schottky barrier double gate MOSFETs," in 2008 IEEE International Electron Devices Meeting, IEEE, Dec. 2008.
- [65] F. Hosenfeld, NEGF Based Analytical Modeling of Advanced MOSFETs. Phd thesis, Universitat Rovira i Virgili, 2017.
- [66] A. Heinzig, T. Mikolajick, J. Trommer, D. Grimm, and W. M. Weber, "Dually active silicon nanowire transistors and circuits with equal electron and hole transport," *Nano Letters*, vol. 13, pp. 4176–4181, Aug. 2013.
- [67] G. Darbandy, M. Claus, and M. Schroter, "High-performance reconfigurable Si nanowire field-effect transistor based on simplified device design," *IEEE Transactions on Nanotechnology*, vol. 15, pp. 289–294, Mar. 2016.
- [68] S. Pregl, A. Heinzig, L. Baraban, G. Cuniberti, T. Mikolajick, and W. M. Weber, "Printable

parallel arrays of Si nanowire Schottky-barrier-FETs with tunable polarity for complementary logic," *IEEE Transactions on Nanotechnology*, vol. 15, pp. 549–556, May 2016.

- [69] A. Fuchsberger, L. Wind, D. Nazzari, L. Kühberger, D. Popp, J. Aberl, E. P. Navarrete, M. Brehm, L. Vogl, P. Schweizer, S. Lellig, X. Maeder, M. Sistani, and W. M. Weber, "A runtime reconfigurable ge field-effect transistor with symmetric on-states," *IEEE Journal* of the Electron Devices Society, pp. 1–1, 2024.
- [70] A. Fuchsberger, L. Wind, M. Sistani, R. Behrle, D. Nazzari, J. Aberl, E. P. Navarrete, L. Vukŭsić, M. Brehm, P. Schweizer, L. Vogl, X. Maeder, and W. M. Weber, "Reconfigurable field-effect transistor technology via heterogeneous integration of SiGe with crystalline Al contacts," *Advanced Electronic Materials*, Apr. 2023.
- [71] R. Böckle, M. Sistani, M. Bažíková, L. Wind, Z. Sadre-Momtaz, M. I. den Hertog, C. G. E. Murphey, J. F. Cahoon, and W. M. Weber, "Reconfigurable complementary and combinational logic based on monolithic and single-crystalline Al-Si heterostructures," *Advanced Electronic Materials*, p. 2200567, Aug. 2022.
- [72] P. Wu and J. Appenzeller, "Toward CMOS like devices from two-dimensional channel materials," APL Materials, vol. 7, p. 100701, Oct. 2019.
- [73] P. Wu, D. Reis, X. S. Hu, and J. Appenzeller, "Two-dimensional transistors with reconfigurable polarities for secure circuits," *Nature Electronics*, vol. 4, pp. 45–53, Dec. 2020.
- [74] M. Schwarz, T. Holtij, A. Kloes, and B. Iniguez, "Explicit model for tunneling and thermionic current in Schottky barrier double-gate MOSFETs," in 2012 13th International Conference on Ultimate Integration on Silicon (ULIS), IEEE, Mar. 2012.
- [75] J. Zhang, P.-E. Gaillardon, and G. D. Micheli, "A surface potential and current model for polarity-controllable silicon nanowire FETs," in 2015 45th European Solid State Device Research Conference (ESSDERC), IEEE, Sept. 2015.
- [76] A. Bhattacharjee and S. Dasgupta, "A compact physics-based surface potential and drain current model for an S/D spacer-based DG-RFET," *IEEE Transactions on Electron Devices*, vol. 65, pp. 448–455, Feb. 2018.
- [77] M. Hasan, P.-E. Gaillardon, and B. Sensale-Rodriguez, "A continuous compact DC model for dual-independent-gate FinFETs," *IEEE Journal of the Electron Devices Society*, vol. 5, pp. 23–31, Jan. 2017.
- [78] W. Ni, Z. Dong, B. Huang, Y. Zhang, and Z. Chen, "A physic-based explicit compact model for reconfigurable field-effect transistor," *IEEE Access*, vol. 9, pp. 46709–46716, 2021.
- [79] E. O. Kane, "Theory of tunneling," Journal of Applied Physics, vol. 32, pp. 83–91, Jan. 1961.

## 128

- [80] M. Raitza, S. Marcker, J. Trommer, A. Heinzig, S. Kluppelholz, C. Baier, and A. Kumar, "Quantitative characterization of reconfigurable transistor logic gates," *IEEE Access*, vol. 8, pp. 112598–112614, 2020.
- [81] C. Roemer, G. Darbandy, M. Schwarz, J. Trommer, A. Heinzig, T. Mikolajick, W. M. Weber, B. Iniguez, and A. Kloes, "Uniform DC compact model for Schottky barrier and reconfigurable field-effect transistors," in 2021 IEEE Latin America Electron Devices Conference (LAEDC), IEEE, Apr. 2021.
- [82] C. Roemer, G. Darbandy, M. Schwarz, J. Trommer, A. Heinzig, T. Mikolajick, W. M. Weber, B. Iniguez, and A. Kloes, "Physics-based DC compact modeling of Schottky barrier and reconfigurable field-effect transistors," *IEEE Journal of the Electron Devices Society*, vol. 10, pp. 416–423, 2022.
- [83] C. Roemer, G. Darbandy, M. Schwarz, J. Trommer, M. Simon, A. Heinzig, T. Mikolajick, W. M. Weber, B. Iniguez, and A. Kloes, "Compact modeling of channel-resistance effects in reconfigurable field-effect transistors," in 2022 29th International Conference on Mixed Design of Integrated Circuits and System (MIXDES), IEEE, June 2022.
- [84] F. Horst, A. Farokhnejad, G. Darbandy, B. Iniguez, and A. Kloes, "Area equivalent WKB compact modeling approach for tunneling probability in hetero-junction TFETs including ambipolar behavior," *International Journal of Microelectronics and Computer Science*, Vol. 9, No. 2, Dec. 2018.
- [85] C. Roemer, N. Dersch, G. Darbandy, M. Schwarz, Y. Han, Q.-T. Zhao, B. Iñíguez, and A. Kloes, "Compact modeling of Schottky barrier field-effect transistors at deep cryogenic temperatures," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 207, p. 108686, June 2023.
- [86] C. Roemer, N. Dersch, G. Darbandy, M. Schwarz, Y. Han, Q.-T. Zhao, B. Iñíguez, and A. Kloes, "Physics-based compact current model for Schottky barrier transistors at deep cryogenic temperatures including band tail effects and quantum oscillations," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 212, p. 108846, Feb. 2024.
- [87] R. B. Floyd and D. G. Walmsley, "Tunnelling conductance of clean and doped Al-I-Pb junctions," *Journal of Physics C: Solid State Physics*, vol. 11, pp. 4601–4614, Nov. 1978.
- [88] A. Kloes, M. Schwarz, Y. Han, Q.-T. Zhao, and C. Roemer, "Comparison between WKB and wavelet approach for analytical calculation of tunneling currents in Schottky barrier field-effect transistors," in 2023 30th International Conference on Mixed Design of Integrated Circuits and System (MIXDES), IEEE, June 2023.
- [89] F. Hosenfeld, F. Horst, A. Kloes, B. Iniguez, and F. Lime, "Non-iterative NEGF based model for band-to-band tunneling current in DG TFETs," in 2017 MIXDES - 24th International Conference "Mixed Design of Integrated Circuits and Systems, IEEE, June 2017.
- [90] Y. Varshni, "Temperature dependence of the energy gap in semiconductors," Physica,

vol. 34, pp. 149-154, Jan. 1967.

- [91] J. Singh, Semiconductor devices. McGraw-Hill, 1994.
- [92] Y. Agrahari and A. K. Dutta, "An empirical model for bulk electron mobility in si at cryogenic temperatures," *Silicon*, vol. 15, pp. 563–570, July 2022.
- [93] M. Simon, B. Liang, D. Fischer, M. Knaut, A. Tahn, T. Mikolajick, and W. M. Weber, "Top-down fabricated reconfigurable FET with two symmetric and high-current on-states," *IEEE Electron Device Letters*, vol. 41, pp. 1110–1113, July 2020.
- [94] A. Farokhnejad, M. Schwarz, F. Horst, B. Iñíguez, F. Lime, and A. Kloes, "Analytical modeling of capacitances in tunnel-FETs including the effect of Schottky barrier contacts," *Solid-State Electronics*, vol. 159, pp. 191–196, Sept. 2019.
- [95] A. Farokhnejad, Compact Modeling of Intrinsic Capacitances in Double-Gate Tunnel-FETs. Phd thesis, Universitat Rovira i Virgili, 2020.





UNIVERSITAT ROVIRA i VIRGILI